
LEEDS CITY REGION ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP 
BOARD

MEETING TO BE HELD AT 2.00 PM ON THURSDAY, 22 NOVEMBER 
2018 IN COMMITTEE ROOM A, WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50 

WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS

A G E N D A

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2.2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
3.

In accordance with the requirements of the LEP Board Members’ Code of 
Conduct, members have an obligation to review their register of interests 
before each meeting and to declare any interests. 

If an interest has not been entered onto the LEP’s register, then members 
must disclose the interest at any meeting at which they are present and where 
they have a disclosable interest in any matter being considered and where the 
matter is not a sensitive interest.

3. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

4. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 20 SEPTEMBER 2018
(Pages 1 - 8)

5. PANEL AND COMMITTEE UPDATES

(a)  BUSINESS COMMUNICATIONS GROUP 
(Led by: Joanna Robinson)
(Pages 9 - 16)

(b)  GREEN ECONOMY PANEL 
(Led by: Simon Pringle)
(Pages 17 - 22)

(c)  PLACE PANEL 
(Led by: Cllr Tim Swift)
(Pages 23 - 28)



(d)  GROWTH DEAL (INVESTMENT COMMITTEE) UPDATE 
(Led by: Cllr P Box)
(Pages 29 - 38)

(e)  EMPLOYMENT & SKILLS PANEL AND BUSINESS 
INNOVATION & GROWTH PANEL 
Verbal reports
(Led by: Rashik Parmar and Andrew Wright)

For Decision

6.6. LOCAL INCLUSIVE INDUSTRIAL STRATEGY
(Led by: Roger Marsh, Author: Jo Barham)
(Pages 39 - 50)

7.7. ENERGY STRATEGY & DELIVERY PLAN
(Led by: Simon Pringle, Authors: Jacqui Warren & Noel Collings)
(Pages 51 - 74)

8.8. GREEN AND BLUE INFRASTRUCTURE & DELIVERY PLAN
(Led by: Simon Pringle, Authors: Jacqui Warren & Noel Collings)
(Pages 75 - 86)

9.9. DIGITAL FRAMEWORK
(Led by: Rashik Parmar & Adam Beaumont, Author: Sarah Bowes)
(Pages 87 - 96)

10.10. CULTURE, SPORT & MAJOR EVENTS
(Led by: Nicola Greenan, Author: Jon Skinner)
(Pages 97 - 102)

11.11. TRADE & INVESTMENT
(Led by: Andrew Wright, Author: David Shepherd)
(Pages 103 - 114)

For Discussion

12.12. STRENGTHENED LOCAL ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIPS
(Led by: Ben Still, Author: Jon Skinner)
(Pages 115 - 138)

13.13. PREPARING FOR BREXIT
(Led by: Patrick Bowes, Author: James Hopton)
(Pages 139 - 156)

14.14. GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE LEEDS CITY 
REGION ENTERPRISE ZONE PROGRAMME
(Led by: Roger Marsh, Author: Kate Thompson)
(Pages 157 - 164)



For Information

15.15. LEP AND COMBINED AUTHORITY BUSINESS PLANNING & 
BUDGET 2019/20
(Led by: Cllr S Hinchcliffe,  Author: Angela Taylor)
(Pages 165 - 168)

16.16. DATE OF NEXT MEETING
The next meeting will be held on 23 January 2019.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE 
LEEDS CITY REGION ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP BOARD

HELD ON THURSDAY, 20 SEPTEMBER 2018 AT COMMITTEE ROOM A, 
WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50 WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS

Present:
Roger Marsh OBE (Chair) Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership
Councillor Tim Swift MBE (Deputy Chair) Calderdale Council
Professor Adam Beaumont Aql
Ian Cherry Nexus Vehicle Management
Nicola Greenan East Street Arts
Amir Hussain Yeme Architects
Rashik Parmar MBE IBM Academy of Technology
Joanna Robinson Mansfield Pollard
Andrew Wright Reliance Precision
Councillor Judith Blake CBE Leeds City Council
Councillor Richard Cooper Harrogate Borough Council
Councillor Susan Hinchcliffe Bradford Council
Councillor Andrew Lee (Substitute) North Yorkshire County Council
Councillor David Sheard (Substitute) Kirklees Council
Councillor Andrew Waller City of York Council

In attendance:
Tom Riordan Leeds City Council
Ben Still West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Angela Taylor West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Sue Cooke West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Melanie Corcoran West Yorkshire Combined Authority
David Shepherd West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Patrick Bowes West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Ruth Chaplin West Yorkshire Combined Authority

25.  Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Bob Cryan and Councillors Peter 
Box, Carl Les and Shabir Pandor.

26.  Declarations of Interest

In accordance with the requirements of the LEP Board Members’ Code of 
Conduct, Members were reminded of their obligation to review their individual 
register of interests before each LEP Board meeting and to declare any 
interests.

1

Agenda Item 4



27.  Exclusion of the Press and Public

Resolved:  That in accordance with paragraph 3 of Part 1 Section B of the 
Access to Information Annex to the LEP Board Procedure Rules, the public be 
excluded from the meeting during consideration of Appendix 1 to Agenda Item 
10 on the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the press and 
public were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information 
and for the reasons set out in the report that in all the circumstances of the 
case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information.

28.  Minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2018

Resolved:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2018 be 
approved and signed by the Chair.

29.  Panel and Committee Updates

The Panel, Group and Committee Chairs were thanked for their updates which 
were presented to the Board for information and, in discussing and noting the 
reports, the following comments were made:

Members were advised that at a recent meeting, the Business 
Communications Group had supported the role of the LEP and for a merged 
geography covering West and North Yorkshire.  It was considered that the 
meeting, which had been attended by the LEP Chair, had been positive and 
the Group had welcomed the engagement and discussion.  The Board 
recognised the value of the Group’s contributions and views and it was 
suggested that opportunities for further engagement with small businesses 
through the Group should be considered.  

In respect of the Business Innovation and Growth Panel update, Andrew 
Wright thanked those who had contributed to the digital consultation which had 
recently closed. He highlighted the launch of the productivity pilot, ring-fencing 
part of the Business Growth Programme (BGP) funds to focus on increased 
quality rather than quantity of jobs, measured by productivity improvement. 
The research on international trade from Leeds City Region had shown the 
pre-eminence of pharmaceuticals and med-tech exports as major strengths to 
build on. 

Members commented on the success of the Business Growth Programme in 
securing investment leverage of 1:10 and the contribution of the Northern 
Powerhouse Investment Fund in contributing £11.5m of its funds to businesses 
in our region in its first 18 months. Members also suggested tapping more fully 
into the business networks of companies with strong reach into SMEs to 
promote uptake of technological innovation. The issue of uninsured businesses 
in York and Leeds affected following the Boxing Days floods was highlighted, 
with a request for the LEP to help address this issue as it affects businesses 
across the City Region.   

2



The Board noted the Growth Deal summary dashboard for quarter 4 of 
2017/18 which was attached at Appendix 3 to the Investment Committee 
update which had been submitted to CLoG by the July deadline.  It was 
reported that due to the schedule of meetings it had not been possible to bring 
it to the LEP Board for endorsement prior to submission and it had therefore 
been signed off, as required, by the Combined Authority’s Section 73 officer 
and LEP Chair.  

Resolved:  That the updates be noted.

30.  Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships

The Board considered a report of the Managing Director on the proposed 
geographical footprint of the LEP, the position on leadership, capacity, 
accountability and performance in order to respond to the issues raised in the 
Government’s ‘Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships’ document.

A review of LEPs was announced in the Industrial Strategy White Paper in 
November 2017 and its findings published in July 2018.  Engagement had 
been carried out with local authorities, business groups and others and the 
Chair thanked Councillor Blake who had been involved in that process.  A 
summary of the review’s recommendations was attached at Appendix 1 to the 
submitted report.

Members discussed the review and the Leeds City Region LEP’s proposed 
response to the recommendations with particular emphasis on the 
Government’s questions in respect of the geographic footprint of LEPs. It was 
reported that the views of businesses via the Business Communications 
Group, advisory panels and through a public engagement exercise had been 
sought and discussions had been held with partners including the 
Confederation of British Industry (CBI). 

The Board was advised that several LEPs may put forward proposals to retain 
their current footprint. In this respect, Councillor Lee advised the Board that 
this had been discussed in York, North Yorkshire and East Riding and, 
recognising the current successful ways of working, they were going to 
propose that they retained their status quo (ie. with overlaps).

After debate the Board supported the recommendations and agreed that to 
retain the status quo was not an option at the present time.  The Chair advised 
the Board that Bob Cryan had sent his apologies for the meeting but was fully 
supportive of the proposal for a wider geography as he believed it has the best 
interests of the region at heart.

It was considered important to put forward a strong proposal that complies with 
the Government’s requirements as a preferred option and to continue 
discussions with North Yorkshire regarding their concerns for the wider 
geography.  It was however recognised that the Leeds City Region LEP did 
work well within its current geography and it was suggested that a caveat be 

3



included in the response to Government indicating a willingness to reconsider 
the geographical footprint if retaining the status quo become an option in the 
future.  

The following recommendations were agreed unanimously, although North 
Yorkshire wished to note their preference towards a status quo option.

Resolved:

(i) That the ‘Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships’, the culmination
of Government’s LEP Review and its links with activity on local industrial 
strategies and the emerging UK Shared Prosperity Fund be noted.

(ii) That the City Region’s position on matters of leadership, capacity, 
accountability and performance as set out in Appendix 2 of the 
submitted report be endorsed.

(iii) That the LEP Board agrees its preferred option on geography, as set 
out in paragraph 2.10 of the submitted report, but with a caveat that the 
Leeds City Region LEP would wish to review the position if the rules in 
respect of overlapping geography change and delegates authority to the 
LEP Chair to respond to the Government by 28 September 2018.

(iv) That the LEP Board delegates authority to the LEP Chair to respond to 
Government, including on the full implementation plan for a new LEP by 
31 October 2018. 

31.  Growing Places Fund Reinvestment

The Board considered a report of the Interim Director of Policy and Strategy 
which sought agreement to the future use of receipts from the Growing Places 
Fund (GPF) in order to drive improved productivity and inclusive growth in the 
City Region.

Members discussed and noted the details of the Growing Places Fund, 
including its role and purpose, performance, context and principles which were 
outlined in the submitted report. It was recognised that economic and social 
conditions and priorities have changed since the GPF was launched in 
2011/12 and the City Region has put in place a broader policy framework to 
deliver inclusive growth.  Other public grant and loan funding streams have 
also become available including the Revolving Investment Fund, European 
Structural and Regeneration Funds and Growth Deal and an overview which 
provided a fuller account of public loans and grants for business was attached 
at Appendix 1.  

The future use of the funds was discussed and the proposals and guiding 
principles outlined in the report were considered.  It was agreed to pursue 
returnable investment and a further report setting out how this will be delivered 
would be brought to a future meeting.

4



Resolved:

(i) That the performance and position of the Growing Places Fund be
noted.

(ii) That the LEP Board agree to use the receipts from the Growing Places 
Fund to support significant ongoing returnable investment and grant 
funding for inclusive growth projects as detailed in paragraph 2.17 of the 
submitted report.

(iii) That a further report be prepared for a future meeting.

32.  Skills System Review

The Board considered a report of the Executive Head of Economic Services 
which provided an update on plans to undertake a review of the education and 
skills system.

It was recognised that the Leeds City Region faces a skills deficit and in order 
to respond to the challenge it was proposed to undertake a review of the 
education and skills system. It was proposed that the primary focus of the 
review would be on the vocational and education and skills system but also 
considering the way the system interacts with other key policy areas.  
Members discussed the brief for the review which was attached at Appendix 1 
and outlined the roles of the Combined Authority, LEP Board and the 
Employment and Skills Panel in respect of input, challenge and sign-off of 
review outputs.  

The Board welcomed the review and considered that degree level 
apprenticeships were important and should be included.  It was reported that 
Councillor Blake was involved with two national skills teams and would be 
happy to provide input into the review.

It was proposed that the findings of the review be used to inform the national 
policy debate and to develop thinking around the powers and responsibilities 
that can best be exercised at local level in a reformed skills system.  It was 
anticipated that the period of the review should be undertaken over a minimum 
of one year, culminating in a conference style event.  

Resolved:  That the proposals for a review of the education and skills system 
be noted.

33.  Regional Entrepreneurship Acceleration Program - Links to the Industrial 
Strategy

The Board considered a report of the Interim Director of Policy and Strategy 
which:

 Provided an update on the outcome of the application by the University 
of Leeds into the Massachusetts Institute of Technology - Regional 

5



Entrepreneurship Acceleration Program (MIT REAP).
 Confirmed the participation of the LEP in the Leeds City Region 

delegation to support the development of the City Region’s Local 
Inclusive Industrial Strategy (LIIS).

It was reported that the University of Leeds had been successful in their 
application and Members welcomed the two year programme which will 
commence in October 2018. It was noted that participation in the programme 
by the Leeds City Region LEP will provide an opportunity to access 
international best practice and learning to support the development of the 
Local Inclusive Industrial Strategy.  It was acknowledged that the LEP’s 
international work was increasing and a report on the aspirations for wider 
inward investment would be prepared for a future meeting.  It was noted that 
an update on trade and investment (including inward investment) was included 
in the Business Innovation and Growth Panel report on a regular basis.

Resolved:  

(i) That the LEP Board supports participation in the programme. 

(ii) That the LEP Board be provided with regular reports on the potential
application of thought leadership insights, gained from both MIT and 
other global delegations, to the Leeds City Region and in particular the 
development of the Local Inclusive Industrial Strategy.

34.  Channel 4

The Board considered a report of the Executive Head of Economic Services 
which provided an update on a significant inward investment opportunity and 
sought support for the proposal to attract Channel 4’s national HQ to Leeds 
City Region.

It was noted that following a strong collaborative bid and site visit, Leeds had 
been shortlisted by Channel 4, alongside Birmingham and Manchester, for the 
location of their new National HQ.  Negotiations were now at an advanced 
stage to clarify and confirm the details within the proposals made by Leeds 
City Region partners and Members endorsed the summary which was 
provided in the exempt appendix. 

The Board thanked all involved in the preparation of the bid and it was 
anticipated that an announcement would be made by Channel 4 in October 
2018.

Resolved:  That the Leeds City Region bid to attract the Channel 4 National 
HQ including the proposed support set out in the exempt Appendix 1 be 
endorsed.

35.  Northern Powerhouse (NP) 11

6



The Board considered a report of the Interim Director of Policy and Strategy 
which provided an update on the emerging priorities of the Northern 
Powerhouse (NP) 11 and the outcomes of the first meeting of the body held on 
4 September 2018.

It was noted that NP11 had been established to support Government’s 
ambitions for the Northern Powerhouse, providing ‘one voice’ representing 
each of the Northern regions with Roger Marsh appointed as the Chair.  NP11 
will focus on a small number of areas where joint activity across the North can 
improve economic performance, working with and advising the Government on 
issues such as how to increase productivity and overcome regional disparities.  
The Group will meet monthly and the three main priority areas for activity 
would be supply chains, energy and growth hubs and Members noted the 
details of the proposed project activity together with opportunities for joint 
working on innovation and place which were set out in the submitted report.
  
Resolved:  That the LEP Board notes the remit of the NP11 and progress 
made to date and supports the Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership’s 
engagement.

36.  Economic Reporting

The Board considered a report of the Interim Director of Policy and Strategy 
which provided an update on the latest economic and business intelligence.

The report and appendices covered the main local, national and international 
economic developments and included a dedicated commentary on the health 
of the Leeds City Region and wider economy as the UK moves towards its 
formal exit from the European Union.

It was acknowledged that in light of a complex and changing environment, 
there is a need for regular and more detailed intelligence on how businesses 
and people were being affected.  Members were advised that in order to 
support wider policy work such as on inclusive growth corridors, the 
organisation’s primary survey work was being updated and expanded and 
details were outlined in the submitted report.

Resolved:

(i) That the analysis presented in the economic update and dashboard be 
noted.

(ii) That the planned approach to surveys to ensure timely and relevant
intelligence be noted.

37.  Strategic Partnership with Digital Catapult

The Board considered a report of the Interim Director of Policy and Strategy on 
the opportunity to enter into a strategic partnership with Digital Catapult (DC).

7



It was noted that until March 2018 the Leeds City Region LEP had taken a 
place on the Partnership Board of DigiCat Yorks.  This was a Yorkshire 
consortium established as one of 4 nodes across the country who worked 
alongside the Digital Catapult based in Kings Cross, London (DC Central). 

Members were advised that there was now a timely opportunity to reconsider 
the relationship that the LEP has with DC Central, particularly in respect of the 
emerging Digital Framework. The benefits of signing a Memorandum of 
Understanding with Digital Catapult were considered and it was reported that 
this had also been discussed with the original Partnership Board in Digital 
Health Enterprise Zone (DHEZ) and partners were content that a more 
strategic relationship be developed.  

Resolved:  That the LEP Board supports the principle of a joint MoU with 
Digital Catapult and sign off be delegated to the LEP Chair.

38.  Any Other Business

The Board was provided with a verbal update on the work being carried out by 
the Arts & Culture Major Events Steering Group on culture, tourism and sport 
which was being led by Mary Weastell, Chief Executive of York City Council.  It 
was agreed that a report would be prepared for the next meeting.

The next meeting of the LEP Board will be held at 2 pm on Thursday 22 
November 2018.

8



Report to: Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP Board)

Date:  22 November 2018

Subject:  Business Communications Group (BCG) update 

Director: Alan Reiss, Director of Policy, Strategy and Communications

Author(s): Racheal Johnson

1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To provide LEP Board members with an update on the meeting of the 
Business Communications Group (BCG), held on 19 September 2018.

1.2 To update the Board on key communications and marketing activities 
delivered by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s Communications and 
Marketing team in support of the LEP Board’s objectives in August and 
September.

2. Information

BCG meeting

2.1 It was announced that Peter O’Brien from Yorkshire Universities would be 
joining the group representing all of the higher education institutions across 
the region.

2.2 Andrew Logan from Gordons LLP provided an update about the new General 
Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the key points for both businesses 
and membership organisations. 

2.3 The main agenda item was an update on the LEP Review and development of 
a Local Inclusive Industrial Strategy for the City Region. Several BCG 
members had attended a meeting earlier in the month to seek views from 
business on options to change the LEP’s geography in response to a national 
Government review of local enterprise partnership governance. It was reported 
that, on the basis of economic analysis and feedback from the business 
community, the recommendation being taken to the LEP Board was to expand 
the existing LEP geography by merging existing elements of the Leeds City 
Region and York and North Yorkshire local enterprise partnerships. This was 
broadly supported by BCG members, though it was noted that certain issues – 
for example representation of rural businesses and the impact on the 

9

Agenda Item 5a



development of the Local Inclusive Industrial Strategy – would need to be 
looked at further as proposals developed. 

2.4 BCG members provided feedback on the key issues being raised by the 
businesses they represent – in summary:

 Concern about the lack of a Brexit deal and the uncertainty this is 
causing is causing some businesses to delay decisions/ activity relating 
to investment, expansion and recruitment.

 In addition, concerns were expressed about some of the underlying 
weaknesses in the UK economy, such as connectivity, skills and the 
availability of finance, and the fact that the ongoing Brexit discussions 
are limiting Government action to tackle these.

 High street banks are actively lending, though there is a perception 
among some businesses that commercial finance remains difficult to 
access.

 There was discussion about what measures can be taken to ensure 
economic growth in certain parts of the region benefits others.

2.5 The Chair of the BCG, Joanna Robinson, reminded members that the BCG is 
an important conduit of information between business and the LEP Board. 
Members were encouraged to bring forward any issues the businesses they 
represent are experiencing so that the LEP Board can consider appropriate 
action. Members were also asked to continue sharing information about 
support available from the LEP with their businesses, and to make businesses 
aware of opportunities to take part in consultation and engagement on key 
policy issues – for example the LEP Review and development of the Local 
Inclusive Industrial Strategy.

2.6 The next BCG meeting will take place on 12 December.

Communications and marketing update

2.7 The communications and marketing dashboards for August and September 
are enclosed at Appendix 1and 2. This dashboard summarises performance 
against key communications and marketing indicators, in line with the LEP’s 
overall strategic priorities.

3. Financial Implications

3.1 None.

4. Legal Implications

4.1 None.

5. Staffing Implications

5.1 None.

10



6. External Consultees

6.1 None.

7. Recommendations

7.1 That LEP Board members note the contents of this report.

7.2 That members offer comments on the business challenges and issues raised 
by BCG members in section 2.4 and appropriate responses.

8. Background Documents

8.1 None.

9. Appendices

9.1 Appendix 1: Communications and Marketing dashboard (August)
Appendix 2: Communications and Marketing dashboard (September)

11



This page is intentionally left blank



Communications Dashboard 2018-2019 August 2018

Media Coverage

Web Stats - All  CA websites

Social Media - All CA accounts

Partnerships

More news coming soon

5,000

4,500

4,000

3,500

3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

0

2,000,000

1,800,000

1,600,000

1,400,000

1,200,000

-

9,000,000

8,000,000

7,000,000

6,000,000

5,000,000

4,000,000

3,000,000

2,000,000

1,000,000

-

4,000,000

3,500,000

3,000,000

2,500,000

2,000,000

1,500,000

1,000,000

500,000

-

St
or

ie
s

AVE by month Stories covered by month

Web visitors

Unique visitors

Engagement

New users

Reach

Avg. dwell time

New followers

Key

Key

Key

Key

Combined Authority Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnerhsip MCard Metro CityConnectCA LEP

LEP

LEP

LEP

LEP

MC

MC

MC

CCM

Marketing Campaigns

PR Highlights

IncomeCityConnect

Consultation and Engagement

Project Activity
Consultation / 
engagement period

Responses
Yourvoice 
page visits

White Rose Rail Station
Online and public drop-in sessions in partnership with 
Leeds CC

2 July - 3 August
799 (emails, letters, 
Q&A and surveys)

2,800

Thorpe Park Rail Station
Online and public drop-in sessions in partnership with 
Leeds CC

2 July - 3 August
1094 (emails, letters, 
Q&A and surveys)

3,800

Digital Framework
Online using a range of methods – polls, survey, 
question of the week, blogs etc.

9 July – 16 September 102 surveys 1,300

A629 Phase 1b Calder and 
Hebble junction 

Online hosting on yourvoice. Calderdale Council 
organised a public drop-in session

24 August – 14 September
69 (online surveys 
and Q&A)*

760

LEP Review Online hosting on yourvoice using guestbook tool 8 August – 18 September
7 (guestbook posts) 
plus some feedback 
from boards

170

Calderdale CIP
Online and public drop-in sessions in partnership with 
Calderdale Council

13 August – 28 September Still live Still live

Campaign
Campaign 
OTS*

Social media 
reach* 

Media coverage 
reach* 

Metrics Results

#4Sparks
April to August

36,676,959 259,345 36,410,714 n/a n/a

Campaign
Campaign 
OTS*

Social media 
reach* 

Media coverage 
reach* 

Metrics Results

#futuregoals
April to August

58,717 53,289 0 TBC TBC

Campaign
Campaign 
OTS*

Social media 
reach* 

Media coverage 
reach* 

Metrics Results

MCard 19-25
June - July

5,895,120 1,040,515 2,894,539
Increase sales 5% & 
Increase revenue 2%    

35% 
increase 

Campaign
Campaign 
OTS*

Social media 
reach* 

Media coverage 
reach* 

Metrics Results

My Day
July – August

38,214,137 2,466,350 54,600
Increase sales 
2% (+7692)

Sales +2411 July 
and August

Campaign
Campaign 
OTS*

Social media 
reach* 

Media coverage 
reach* 

Metrics Results

#discoverdigital
From August

118,695 260,000 124,678
Website visits 
5000 in first 
2 months

633 visits in first 
month

Campaign
Campaign 
OTS*

Social media 
reach* 

Media coverage 
reach* 

Metrics Results

AGE
From August

504,855 348,000 152,405
Recruit 375 
apprentices

TBC

Target Billed Committed 
year to date

Consultation and 
engagement

£100,000 £6,759 £90,328

Market research £25,000 £0 £1,556

Design £25,000 £559 £4,178

To date Target
Businesses engaged   59 150

Schools engaged 5            24

Interventions delivered 2,462 10,202

Cycle infrastructure users
To date 
TBC

Target 
TBC

• Co-ordinated #OneYorks social media 
messages across channels of 18 partner 
One Yorkshire authorities.

• Extensive coverage of CA stance on rail 
disruption including FT/Channel 5/Mirror

• National coverage of CA messaging on 
HS2 phase two hybrid bill including Times/
Press Association

• National coverage of CA response to 
proposed review of rail franchising (The i)

• Look North coverage of Urban Traffic 
Management project

Public Affairs
• Channel 4 briefing quoted extensively in 

Westminster Hall debate

• Briefings to MPs on rail disruption / HS2 / 
TRU

Apr May Jun Jul Aug

Apr

Apr

May

May

Jun

Jun

Jul

Jul

Aug

Aug

160

150

140

130

120

110

100

90

*OTS includes total possible reach of all advertising and media. From 1/04/18 to 31/08/18 unless stated.

Campaign totals 81,468,483
Campaign OTS

4,472,499
Social media

39,636,936
Media reach

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

-

*charging structure agreed June, bulk of income expected to be generated in Q3 & Q4
Cycle infrastructure users – To date TBC – Target TBC  April to August 2018

13

A
genda Item

 5a
A

ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Communications Dashboard 2018-2019 September 2018

Media Coverage

Web Stats - All  CA websites

Social Media - All CA accounts

Partnerships

More news coming soon

New users

Unique visitors

Engagement

Web visitors

Reach

Avg. dwell time

New followers

Key

Key

Key

Combined Authority Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnerhsip MCard Metro CityConnectCA LEP

LEP

LEP

LEP

LEP

MC

MC

MC

MC

CCM

Marketing Campaigns

Narrative

IncomeCityConnect

Consultation and Engagement

Project Activity
Consultation / engagement 
period

Responses
Yourvoice page 
visits up to 30/9/18

Digital Framework
Online using a range of methods – polls, survey, 
question of the week, blogs etc.

9 July – 16 September 102 surveys 1,400

A629 Phase 1b Calder and 
Hebble junction 

Online hosting on yourvoice. Calderdale 
Council organised a public drop-in session

24 August – 14 September
69 (online 
surveys and 
Q&A)*

813

LEP Review Online hosting on yourvoice using guestbook tool 8 August – 18 September

7 (guestbook 
posts) plus 
some feedback 
from boards

182

Calderdale CIP
Online and public drop-in sessions in 
partnership with Calderdale Council

13 August – 28 September * 
extended to 26 October for 
bus drivers only

Still live
2,900
(Still live)

Sowerby Bridge 
Masterplan

Online engagement and public exhibition 21 September – 2 November Still live
420 
(Still live)

Target
Billed 
year to date

Committed 
year to date

Consultation and 
engagement

£100,000 £6,759 £95,693.50

Market research £25,000 £0 £1,556

Design £25,000 £559 £4,178

To date Target
Businesses engaged   75 150

Schools engaged 9            24

Interventions delivered 3,688 10,202

Cycle infrastructure users
To date 
TBC

Target 
TBC

• Low numbers of late ‘16/early ‘17 shows 
former LEP numbers and early days of 
joint team

• Significant early spike as more 
comprehensive monitoring covering 
CA and LEP introduced and then 
refined – catch-all searches for HS2 
modified for relevance hence dip in 
summer 17

• On a comparable basis – Sep 17 – Sep 
18 clear signs of progress.

• Looking ahead – will continue to refine 
monitoring to provide clearest possible 
picture of impact

• Coverage in FT, Times, The I, Sky 
News, Channel 5 among recent 
successes 

160

150

140

130

120

110

100

90

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

-

12,000,000

10,000,000

8,000,000

6,000,000

4,000,000

2,000,000

-

4,500,000

4,000,000

3,500,000

3,000,000

2,500,000

2,000,000

1,500,000

1,000,000

-

*OTS includes total possible reach of all advertising and media. From 1/04/18 to 31/08/18 unless stated.

Campaign totals 81,700,308
Campaign OTS

2,796,367
Social media reach

77,463,137 160,847
Media coverage Web visits

*charging structure agreed June, bulk of income expected to be generated in Q3 & Q4
Cycle infrastructure users – To date TBC – Target TBC  April to August 2018

2,500,000

2,000,000

1,500,000 

1,000,000

500,000

-

N
O

V
 16

D
EC

 16

JA
N

 17
 

FE
B 

17

M
A

R 
17

A
PR

 17

M
AY

17

JU
N

 17

JU
L 

17

A
U

G
 17

SE
P 

17

O
C

T 
17

N
O

V
 17

D
IC

 17

JA
N

 18
 

FE
B 

18

M
A

R 
18

A
PR

 18

M
AY

18

JU
N

 18

JU
L 

18

A
U

G
 18

SE
P 

18

AVE Nov 16 - Sep 18

Campaign 
OTS

Social media 
reach

Media  
coverage

Web 
visits

Metrics Results

"#4Sparks (Channel 4) 
April to Sept"

36,410,714 259,345 36,676,059 1,733 n/a n/a

"#Futuregoals (young 
people) 
April to Aug"

58,717 53,289 0 0 1m reach new campaign 
started 4/10/18

"#Earnthat (adult skills) 
From Sept"

547,187 164,538 382,649 1,899 500,000 
reach, 10,000 
web visits

Campaign reach 
achieved

"#DiscoverDigital 
(digital skills) 
From Aug"

5000 web 
visits in first  2 
months

"U16s 
July to Sept"

34,463,018 140,000 34,323,018 24,792 Increase sales 
10%

tbc

"#MyDay (day saver) 
July to Dec"

4,325,552 1,138,680 3,186,872 56,826 Increase sales 
2% (+7692)

Sales +2411 July 
& August

"#Imeverything  
(Mcard 19-25) 
June to Sept"

5,895,120 1,040,515 2,894,539 75,597 Increase sales 
5% & revenue 
2%

"8% 
29%"

MAY

MAY

JUN

JUN

JUL

JUL

AUG

AUG

SEP

SEP

APR

APR

15

A
genda Item

 5a
A

ppendix 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP Board)

Date:  22 November 2018

Subject:  Green Economy Panel Major Projects Update

Director(s): Alan Reiss, Director of Policy, Strategy and Communications

Author(s): Jacqui Warren

1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To provide a report on the work of the Green Economy Panel (GEP).

2 Information

Energy Accelerator

2.1 The Energy Accelerator (Accelerator) is a key initiative under priority three of 
the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) which aims to create a zero carbon energy 
economy by 2036. It is a new innovative programme. The Energy Accelerator 
is a new team of expert advisors that will support the development of low 
carbon projects. It will potentially offer free support to the commercial and 
public sector in the following areas:

 Energy efficiency and renewable energy (new and retrofitted)
 District heat networks 
 Street lighting

2.2 The Accelerator’s team of expert advisors have been procured by the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority (Combined Authority). This team is summarised 
below. 

17

Agenda Item 5b



          

2.3 In addition to the expert advisors, the Combined Authority now has a part-time 
programme manager in place to manage the whole programme and the 
advisors above. A project manager has been recruited and will start in 
December and interviews for a programme assistant are also currently taking 
place. 

2.4 A new internal programme board will also be established, led by the 
Combined Authority’s new Director for Policy, Strategy and Communication. 

2.5 The Accelerator will begin to be operational from November 2018.  

Better Homes Yorkshire

2.6 This is a City Region wide programme delivering energy efficiency and heating 
improvements across the City Region’s homes. The projects within the 
programme are progressing well and to date over 800 homes have received 
measures during 2018/19. This brings the total number of homes improved 
through the programme to 3,900 to date.    

Warm Homes Fund bid Round 2a

2.7 Building on the success of the first Warm Homes programme the GEP 
received a report on 24 July 2018 outlining a new round of Warm Homes 
funding. The GEP endorsed the Combined Authority applying for Round 2a 
funding. Approval to bid was approved by Combined Authority on 11 October 
2018. 

2.8 The proposal includes plans to install over 1000 first-time, full central heating 
systems to households in fuel poverty. Properties will be mixed tenure; both 
social and private rented, and owner occupied households. Funds will support 
the installation of a full gas central heating system and a gas mains 
connection where necessary. 

2.9 The scheme is intended to run from 2019 to February 2021, and will be 
delivered by the Better Homes Yorkshire Partnership. A funding bid has was 
submitted and Combined Authority expect a decision by the end of November 
2018.

18

https://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=145&MId=708


Resource Efficiency Fund

2.10    The Resource Efficiency Fund (REF) offers free expert advice and business 
support to small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) to help them to 
implement energy and water efficiency and waste reduction measures. 

2.11   Table 1 summarises the most up to date key progress indicators for the 
Resource Efficiency Fund. 

Table 1: Progress as at 31 August 2018

Last 
Update Current

Revised 
Programme 
Target

Total Business Contacts 379 447 501

Assessments Commissioned        198 234 321

Businesses Supported 133 148 303

Businesses receiving non-financial 
support 126 127 200

Businesses receiving information, 
diagnostic and brokerage support 45 45 75

Grants Completed 67 84 133

2.12    Overall, businesses supported are at 89 percent of target to the end of 
September, and are expected to meet target this quarter.

2.13    There have been 107 grant approvals to date, with three subsequently 
withdrawing.

District Heat Network (DHN) Programme

2.14 The DHN Programme continues to support 11 active schemes in the Leeds 
City Region. These innovative schemes aim to produce heat (and or use 
waste heat) to create localised heat networks that heat homes and 
businesses. They can also help reduce carbon emissions and create fair 
priced energy locally.

2.15 The Castleford Spatial Priority Area district heat network has been completed.

2.16 A number of the district heat projects in the City Region are being investigated 
for inclusion in the Energy Accelerator project.  

2.17 The Leeds PIPES scheme is on-site and is on track to complete by end of 
June 2019 as planned. The Combined Authority have established monthly 
monitoring of financial and project progress with the project team at Leeds City 
Council, spend of Growth Deal grant award of £4 million is expected in 
2019/20 as planned. 

19



Green and Blue Infrastructure (GBI) Strategy and Delivery Plan and Energy 
Strategy and Delivery Plan

2.18 See agenda items 7 and 8. 

North East, Yorkshire and Humber Energy Hub  

2.19 Work continues to establish the new North East, Yorkshire and Humber 
(NEYH) Energy Hub (Hub).  

2.20 The Energy Hub will:
 Provide much needed capacity to LEPs and local authorities to undertake 

the initial stages of development for priority local and regional energy 
projects and programmes (e.g. feasibility studies and business cases), up 
to a point where investment can be secured.

 Take a collaborative and coordinated approach across multiple LEP areas.  

2.21 A new part time officer is in post to support Hub projects within the Leeds City 
Region.  The City Region’s draft Energy Strategy and Delivery Plan are 
currently being reviewed to identify initial potential projects to be developed 
through the Hub.  

2.22 The Hub will provide an additional support service to the City Region, 
complementing the existing Resource Efficiency Fund and Energy 
Accelerator. The Hub will also support the 11 LEP Chairs that have formed the 
new Northern Powerhouse 11 (NP11) group. This group of LEP Chairs have 
identified Energy as a prime sector to prioritise further work on.  Table 2 
summarises the current bodies and strategies focussing on energy across the 
City Region, neighbour LEPs and pan – Northern geographies. All are aligned 
and covering differing scales of projects. 

20



Hydrogen 21 (H21)

2.23 This Northern Gas Network innovative programme aims to convert the gas 
grid from natural gas (methane) to hydrogen, starting with the Leeds city 
region and then for conversion to take place incrementally across the country.

2.24 A H21 Leaders meeting was held on 17 September 2018. The purpose of the 
meeting was to provide a more detailed update on the H21 project. Further 
meetings are now planned to explore how Leaders and local LEPs can 
continue to support the programme. 

Green GB Week

2.25 The Government held its first Green GB Week in October, from 15-19 October 
2018. This was designed to highlight the opportunities clean growth offers the 
UK and raise understanding of how business and the public can contribute to 
tackling climate change.

2.26 The Combined Authority used this week as a hook to promote the City 
Region’s clean growth projects. 

Clean Air Strategy Consultation Response 

2.27 The GEP discussed the key issues relating to the Government’s Clean Air 
Strategy proposals and fed into the Combined Authority’s response submitted 
to Government on 14 August 2018.  In responding to the consultation the 
Combined Authority made these key points below: 
 Welcomes the holistic approach to tackling emissions but the strategy is 

light on ambition or detail. It fails to state real action on how it will address 
transport and energy based emissions - especially particulate matter - in 
the shortest possible time; 

 There is little detail on how the strategy supports government cross-
departmental actions set out in the Clean Growth Strategy (published 
October 2017) and 25 Year Environmental Plan (published January 2018);

 The strategy signposts future new primary legislation and powers to 
support local authorities to act, without explaining what these are, or what 
funding will be devolved to support local authorities to take action; 

 There needs to be greater government support in making the case for 
green and blue infrastructure investment to enhance and protect the 
environment; 

 In reviewing the role of and funding for biomass based energy generation, 
the government must make the distinction between large scale, multi-
benefactor schemes compared with individual domestic unit installations. 

 The Combined Authority supports the government’s agenda for full-
decarbonisation of the domestic heat network – the Leeds City Region 
Clean Energy Strategy will detail our approach to achieving a ‘zero-carbon 
economy’ by 2036. However we wish to see a balanced energy approach 
to decarbonisation rather than full electrification. We await greater clarity 
from the government’s forthcoming Heating Strategy. 

21

https://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=145&MId=708
https://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=145&MId=708


 Current energy efficiency programmes can produce significant air quality 
improvement and should be considered as important as innovation. 

 The Combined Authority sees electrification of the regional rail network as 
a key priority in improving journey times, connectivity and air quality and 
we will continue to press government for this much needed investment.

 More stringent environmental standards are welcome but their impact on 
business and productivity should be considered. Mechanisms to incentive 
a low emission future are preferred over taxation mechanisms that have 
potential to hurt economic growth.

3. Financial Implications

3.1 There are no implications associated with this paper.

4. Legal Implications

4.1 There are no implications associated with this paper.

5. Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no implications associated with this paper. 

6. External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

7. Recommendations

7.1 That the LEP Board note and endorse the contents of the report

8. Background Documents

8.1 None.

9. Appendices

None.

22



Report to: Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP Board)

Date:  22 November 2018

Subject:  Place Panel 

Director: Alan Reiss - Director of Policy, Strategy and Communications

Author(s): Judith Furlonger 

1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To provide the LEP Board with an update on progress of the Place Panel’s 
major projects and programmes. The Place Panel meeting took place on the 
24 October 2018.

2. Information

Governance Arrangements

2.1 The Panel was asked to note that it is a new advisory committee. Its functions 
to cover:
 Functions previously carried out by the Land and Assets Panel
 Functions of the Planning Portfolios Board
Further details of governance arrangements including membership, meeting 
frequency and the Terms of Reference were provided. 

Chairs Update

2.2 The Chair welcomed new Place Panel members. Points to be investigated 
from the Place Panel workshop held on 2 October 2018, were as follows:
 Explore what makes great places and need to identify good examples and 

case studies that can be used to promote successful place making in the 
City Region

 Keep up to date with the Local Plan positions across the City Region
 Keep working to identify barriers to delivery and key issues affecting 

delivery
 Focus on and respond to Government policy announcements and 

emerging policy direction
 To hold workshops as and when required between scheduled Place Panel 

meetings, allowing time to explore and discuss issues in detail.

23

Agenda Item 5c



Leeds City Region Housing Vision

2.3 The final draft version of the Leeds City Region Housing Vision document and 
background papers were presented to the panel. The Housing vision sets out 
the collective aims, ambitions, and principals for creating good places to live in 
the City Region. 

2.4 The Panel endorsed the City Region Housing Vision and agreed that the 
Housing Vision be ‘launched’ at the Brownfield Redevelopment: North 
conference on 7 November 2018.

Leeds City Region Strategic Sites Pipeline

2.5 The report and accompanying appendix which is a truncated version of the 
City Region Strategic Sites Pipeline was presented to the panel. 

2.6 The Panel noted the detail of the City Region Strategic Sites Pipeline and 
agree to take this forward as a tool to proactively manage the delivery of the 
pipeline. It was agreed that there should be half yearly updates which will 
provide a tool for housing market monitoring. 

Energy Strategy and Delivery Plan

2.7 An update on the development of the City Region Energy Strategy and 
Delivery Plan (ESDP) was provided for the Panel. The aim of the ESDP is to 
demonstrate how the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) ambition to become a 
resilient, zero carbon energy economy can be met and how the City Region 
can gain an economic advantage from the global transition to a clean, low 
carbon economy.

2.8 The Panel endorsed the Energy Strategy and Delivery Plan and were 
supportive of setting a CO2 emissions reduction target for the City Region. The 
Panel asked that a report be brought back to a future meeting on the work to 
develop more detail around the setting of a City Region CO2 emission 
reduction target.

Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy and Delivery Plan

2.9 The Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy and Delivery Plan (GBISDP) was 
presented to the Panel for comment. The GBISDP is a named delivery plan of 
the SEP and was initiated off the back of the 2015 Boxing Day floods in the 
City Region by the LEP Board recognising the wide ranging benefits that 
green and blue infrastructure can have e.g. flood mitigation, improved physical 
health, increased land values.

The Panel noted and endorsed the contents of the GBISDP and provided 
feedback. 

24



Statement of Common Ground and Strategic Planning Review

2.10 A draft Leeds City Region Statement of Common Ground and Leeds City 
Region Planning Review Recommendations was presented for consideration 
by the Panel.  The Statement of Common Ground is designed to reflect 
strategic cross–boundary planning matters that can be most effectively tackled 
when planning authorities work together. The Strategic Planning Review 
identifies the potential roles and requirements of both the Combined Authority 
and the LEP in respect to the duty to cooperate and strategic planning.  

2.11 The Panel is noted the contents of the report and endorsed both the Leeds 
City Region Statement of Common Ground and the Leeds City Region 
Strategic Planning Review with a recommendation to the Combined Authority 
that they are both approved.

Duty to Cooperate

2.12 A report on the Duty to Cooperate and a table of Strategic Issues for 
consideration was presented to the Panel. The Duty to Cooperate places a 
legal duty on Local Planning authorities and certain public bodies to engage 
constructively and actively on an on-going basis to maximise the effectiveness 
of Local Plan preparation. 

2.13 The Panel endorsed the approach to the Duty to Cooperate and noted the 
contents of the Strategic Issues table with comments required by 30 
November 2018.

One Public Estate (Phase 7) Invitation to Apply

2.14 The Panel was presented a report on the invitation to apply for Phase 7 One 
Public Estate (OPE) funding and informed that the deadline for submissions 
was 30 November 2018. The funding already awarded to the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority for Phases 4, 5 and 6 for projects across the City Region 
totals £1,538,125. 

2.15   The Panel agreed that the Combined Authority work with district partners that 
wish to apply for Phase 7 funding and that the Combined Authority coordinate 
the funding application. 

2.16 The Panel endorsed that the Chair of the Place Panel, in Liaison with Leeds 
City Region Chief Executive Lead for Housing and Planning, agree the final 
application for endorsement and submission by the Combined Authority by the 
submission deadline.

Homes England Update

2.17 A verbal update on Homes England (HE) investment programmes that support 
delivery of new homes in the City Region was provided, the role of HE is to 
accelerate housing delivery. In total over £30m was invested by HE in the City 
Region 2017/18 delivering over 1,000 starts and 1083 completions. HE 

25



expects a minimum spend of £27.4m in 2018/19 over a number of live 
programmes, including:
 Affordable Housing 2016 -21, including the formation of Strategic 

partnership to accelerate delivery.
 Land Investment to unlock strategic sites, bring public sector land to the 

market, including ministry of defence land and strategic land acquisition.
 Housing Infrastructure Funding bids, including Marginal Viability bids and 

Forward Funding schemes in co-development.

2.18 The ability of Housing Associations to be flexible and to provide mixed tenure 
schemes was noted along with the lack of housing renewal programmes to 
respond to viability issues on challenging sites and schemes.  

Governance arrangements for the Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone 
Programme

2.19 A report outlining the proposed changes to the structure of governance 
arrangements for the Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone (EZ) programme 
was presented to the Panel. The report recommended that Strategic Oversight 
Board should no longer meet and be replaced with a series of operational 
meetings reporting directly into the LEP Board in the future.

2.20 The Panel noted the contents of the report and endorsed the following 
recommendations for the EZ governance arrangements: 
 That the Strategic Oversight Board will no longer convene.
 That the changes to Enterprise Zone governance arrangements as 

outlined within the report are introduced informally with immediate effect 
whilst approval is sought from the relevant Combined Authority 
panels/committees as follows with the intention of formalising the 
arrangements:  

Combined Authority – 13 December 2018  

 Notification of the changes agreed and implemented are reported to 
Government’s Cities and Local Growth Unit in line with the obligations 
stated within the Memorandum of Understanding.

2.21 The Panel also requested, and it was agreed, that programme level updates 
would be provided regularly to the LEP Board.

For information

2.22 The following reports were provide for information:
a) Local Plan Update 
b) Place Panel Forward Plan
c) Minutes of the Meeting of the Land and Assets Panel Held on 20 April 

2018

26



Date of the next meeting

2.23 The next meeting of the Place Panel will take place on the 31 January 2019

3. Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.

4. Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5. Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

6. External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

7. Recommendations

7.1 That the LEP Board note and endorse the contents of the report.

8. Background Documents

8.1 None

9. Appendices

9.1 None

27



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP Board)

Date:  22 November 2018

Subject:  Growth Deal (Investment Committee) Update

Director: Melanie Corcoran, Director of Delivery

Author(s): Lynn Cooper

1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To update the LEP Board with information on the progress on the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority’s capital programme as reported to the 
Investment Committee.  

1.2 The report: 

 Provides a more detailed update on the Growth Deal programme and the 
progress of the Corporate Projects; It utilises the new portfolio 
information management system (PIMS), which gives the Combined 
Authority much better management information and therefore offers ‘one 
version of truth’ and greater transparency on our Growth Deal 
programme. PIMS will also be utilised for the other funding programmes 
in future reports.

 Notes that two existing projects are seeking additional funding through 
over-programming of the Growth Deal;

 Seeks approval of the Data Capture spreadsheets for quarters 1 and 2 
2018/19 (the completed spreadsheets will be tabled at the meeting).

2. Information

2.1 Table 1 below summarises the capital programme for 2018/19 including the 
budget approved by the Combined Authority at its meeting on 01 February 
2018, expenditure up to the end of quarter 2 2018/19 and the current outturn 
forecast 2018/19.

29

Agenda Item 5d



Table 1

Capital Funding Programme

Budget 
Expenditure 

2018/19

Expenditure  
Quarter 2 
2018/19 %

Outturn 
Forecast 
2018/19

Growth Deal (including West Yorkshire + Transport Fund) £102,080,000 £25,237,483 24.7% £91,484,875
Call for Projects £14,282,000 £0 0.0% £0
Leeds Public Transport Investment Fund (supporting Connecting Leeds) £15,000,000 £2,685,238 17.9% £10,042,988
Local Transport Plan Integrated Transport Block and National Productivity 
Investment Fund (NPIF) £13,104,000 £3,618,076 27.6% £15,250,260
Highways Maintenance Block / Incentive Fund £28,403,000 £13,915,000 49.0% £28,442,000
Pothole Action Fund £2,231,000 £2,095,000 93.9% £4,647,000
DFT Cycle City Ambition Grant (CCAG) £4,094,000 £1,740,000 42.5% £3,700,000
WY Cycling and Walking Fund £1,121,000 £271,118 24.2% £1,304,022
DfT Cycle Safety Fund Grant £0 £0 0.0% £1,470,000
Ultra Low Emission Vehicles £1,027,000 £14,978 1.5% £215,000
DfT Clean Vehicle Technology £0 £73,930 0.0% £73,930
WY Broadband Programme £3,646,000 £2,084,817 57.2% £3,262,205
Growing Places Fund £4,550,000 £1,000,000 22.0% £1,350,000
WYCA Corporate Projects £5,300,000 £70,531 1.3% £1,735,000
Warm Homes £0 £172,070 0.0% £1,369,000
Total £194,838,000 £52,978,241 27.2% £164,346,280
Note: Four programmes: LTP Integrated Transport Block, Highways Maintenance Block, Pothole Action 
Fund and the Cycling and Walking Fund are forecast to spend more in 2018/19 than originally forecast, 
this is because the Pothole Fund received an additional allocation from the Department for Transport 
and the other three programmes are spending unspent funding from 2017/18.  Warm Homes, Dft Cycle 
Safety Fund and DfT Clean Vehicle Technology are new programmes for which approval was received 
after the Combined Authority in February 2018.

2.2 The Portfolio Information Management System (PIMS) is now live, quarter two 
claims, monitoring and progress for the Growth Deal have been processed 
and reported through the system. PIMS will give the Combined Authority much 
better management information and therefore offers ‘one version of truth’ and 
greater transparency on our Growth Deal programme, allowing informed and 
improved decision making and a full audit trail of project data. It will also 
ensure consistency in project information and reporting including outputs, 
benefits, risks, issues, costs and milestones and greater efficiency by reducing 
manual data input and manipulation, providing an efficient method to submit 
and manage project documentation and enabling automated reporting, Which 
will enable project teams and stakeholders to focus on delivery and help 
understand project issues earlier.
PIMS will also be utilised for the other funding programmes in future reports

2.3 The Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme and City Connect will be 
the next programmes to be added to the system to allow claims and 
monitoring to be undertaken from quarter three.

 
Growth Deal

Expenditure

2.4 Table 2 below details expenditure on the Growth Deal programme in quarter 2 
2018/19. 

 
Table 2

30



Target spend 
2018/19

Spend to end 
of quarter 2 

2018/19

% of 
2018/19 
target

Total actual & 
forecast 
spend 

Priority 1 - Business £6,678,461 £2,426,529 36.3% £6,307,353
Priority 2 - Skills Capital £15,619,301 £8,815,158 56.4% £15,619,301
Priority 3 - Environmental Infrastructure £2,182,145 £749,709 34.3% £6,182,145
Priority 4a - Housing and Regeneration £6,326,179 £1,199 0.0% £3,044,378
Priority 4b - West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund £61,197,162 £13,244,888 21.1% £51,656,458
Priority 4c - Flood Resilience £2,618,348 £0 0.0% £1,975,240
Priority 4d - Enterprise Zones £5,400,000 £0 0.0% £4,700,000
Combined Authority Delivery Costs £2,000,000 £0 0.0% £2,000,000
Total £102,021,596 £25,237,483 24.4% £91,484,875

2.5 The dashboard, produced through PIMS, summarising expenditure for the 
Growth Deal projects including the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund is 
attached as Appendix 1.  A further dashboard which details performance on 
projects is currently being reviewed with partner councils and will be reported 
from quarter three.  The deadline for turnaround of claims received to reporting 
of the Investment Committee and LEP Board was very tight consequently the 
full range of report options available through PIMS has not fully been 
investigated.  Further report options will be reviewed and submitted for 
consideration in future following quarter three monitoring.

Performance

2.6 Outputs, benefits and progress are now reported through PIMS.  A full update 
on performance will be provided at quarter three.  The current achievement of 
the programme is as follows:

Output

Target (includes 
Growth Deals 1, 2 

and 3)

Achieved as at 
September 

2018 %
New jobs 19,595 5,633 28.75%
Jobs safeguarded (flood resilience programme) 11,100 22,000 198.20%
Houses 2,300 254 11.04%
Public / private investment (match funding) £1,031,000,000 £397,449,776 38.55%

Programme Expenditure Risk and Mitigation

2.7 Risk relating to possible underspend has been identified and was reported in 
September 2018.  The risk identified includes:

 Projects where approval is awaited before spend can be recorded 
totalled £15.38 million in the September update, this has now reduced to 
£13.91 million.  Whilst some of the approval dates for individual projects 
have been put back projects continue to progress through the assurance 
process and the majority are expected to be approved before year end.

 The amount of additional spend required to achieve the target identified 
as pipeline spend was reported to the last meeting in September as 
£21.71 million this has now reduced to £13.85 million.

31



The total quantifiable risk has reduced and is anticipated to drop further as 
programme activity progresses.  

2.8 The Investment Committee agreed actions to mitigate against this risk which 
have been implemented where possible.  The following provides an update of 
progress: 

 Acceleration of delivery where contracts have been let
Currently options on a number of projects are being explored totalling 
between £8 million and £13 million, this would address the current 
identified gap in achievement of programme target spend (£102.08 
million).

 Inclusion of call for projects in Growth Deal
All projects are being included within the Growth Deal as they progress 
through the assurance process, however it currently appears unlikely that 
there will be significant expenditure on these projects in 2018/19.  Three 
projects: the Institute for High Speed Rail (full business case), Leeds 
Inland Port (outline business case) and Wakefield City Centre South East 
Gateway (full business case) are now progressing through the assurance 
process.  The business cases for the remaining projects within the call for 
projects are currently being developed.

 Transport Fund stretch targets
Consultation has been undertaken with each partner council on the 
possibility of accelerating expenditure against approved Transport Fund 
spend.  Current forecasts suggest that this could accelerate spending by 
up to £3 million.

Over-programming

2.9 At the Investment Committee workshop on 5 June 2018 members considered 
a report on over-programming.  It was agreed that a recommendation would 
be made to the Combined Authority to borrow, if required, up to £90 million to 
allow over-programming of the Growth Deal (above currently agreed 
borrowing on the Transport Fund) to fund projects identified in the call for 
projects undertaken in 2017 (this was approved by the Combined Authority at 
its meeting on 28 June 2018).  The workshop also considered that some 
existing projects may have the capacity to deliver increased outputs if an 
increased spend allocation was provided by 2020/21. It agreed that it would be 
appropriate to consider that, where projects can prove ongoing demand and 
increased realisation of benefits, to over-programme on a case by case basis. 
An evaluation will be need to be undertaken on each project to establish 
viability to over-programme taking into consideration the creation of additional 
new jobs and homes built.

2.10 Two existing projects have so far identified the ability to deliver increased 
outputs if an increased allocation of funding can be agreed, these are:

 Business Growth Programme 

32



The Business Growth Programme (BGP) provides grants of £10,000 to 
£250,000 to SME’s in the Leeds City Region for capital development 
leading to creation of jobs or productivity improvements.  This project has 
a total approval of £27 million through the Growth Deal, the majority of 
this has now been committed.  

This BGP is seeking a further £7 million which will allow the project to 
continue to commit grants to SMEs for at least a further year to 
September 2020.  The project will then need to close to applications but 
grants will be able to be claimed and paid out until the closure of the 
Growth Deal in March 2021.  Up to quarter two 2018/19 the project 
achieved 4,859 jobs created, 65 apprenticeships supported, 589 
businesses assisted and £280.25 million of match funding.  The 
additional funding will provide an additional 600 jobs created, £30 
million of private sector match and 150 to 200 additional businesses 
assisted.

 Resource Efficiency Fund
The REF is a key initiative under Priority 3 of the Strategic Economic 
Plan.  The existing scheme provides free resource efficiency 
assessments and potential capital grant funding for resource efficiency 
work for SME’s in the Leeds City Region.  The current project, which is 
funded through £1.14 million of European Regional Development 
Funding (ERDF) match funded with £720,000 from the Growth Deal, is 
due to end in October 2019 at which point there will be no further support 
available through the Combined Authority for resource efficiency related 
activity.  
It is proposed that this project should be extended through a further 
application for ERDF of £2 million allowing the project to continue until 
2022.  The project is seeking an additional £753,085 of Growth Deal 
funding to match fund the application for ERDF.  The new project will 
provide support to a further 300 businesses and help to safeguard 
jobs through improving business efficiency.  The project will also 
provide ERDF and private match funding towards the Growth Deal match 
funding targets.  The current programme has provided carbon emissions 
savings 1,835 tonnes of CO2 per year, saving businesses 6 million kwh 
or energy and a cash saving on £464,126 per year. 

2.11 The Investment Committee agreed to recommend to the Combined Authority 
that these two projects should come forward for additional Growth Deal 
monies to be funded through over-programming, subject to approval through 
the assurance process.  The main purpose of allowing over-programming on 
these two projects is not to over-spend against the programme but to 
compensate for other areas of the programme that are likely to underspend.  
However there is a risk of overspend that has previously been considered, the 
Combined Authority agreed that borrowing of up to £90 million would be 
available to address this.  The funding for these two projects will be managed 
within this figure.

Cities and Local Growth Unit Data Submission

33



2.12 As reported to the last LEP Board each quarter a return is made to the Cities 
and Local Growth Unit (CLoG) through their data capture system which 
collates Growth Deal programme information.  CLoG has requested that this 
dashboard should be endorsed by the LEP Board each quarter. The 
dashboard for quarters 1 and 2 2018/19 will be tabled at the meeting for 
consideration and endorsement prior to the submission date of 23 November 
2018. 

3. Financial Implications

3.1 Financial implications are set out within the report. 

4. Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5. Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

6. External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

7. Recommendations

7.1 That the LEP Board notes the progress made in implementing the Combined 
Authority Capital Programme.

7.2 That the LEP Board endorses the data capture spreadsheets for quarters 1 
and 2 2018/19 (to be tabled at the meeting).

8. Background Documents

8.1 None.

9. Appendices

Appendix 1 – Growth Deal Financial Dashboard

34



Growth Deal financial dashboard

Figures accurate up to: September 2018

SEP Priority Project Name
Indicative 

Funding

Full Funding 

Approval

Actual Spend 

2015/16

Actual Spend 

2016/17

Actual Spend 

2017/18

Agreed Annual 

Forecast 2018/19

Actual Spend 

2018/19

Forecast Spend 

2018/19

Actual & Forecast 

Total Spend 

2018/19

2019/20 Forecast 2020/21 Forecast Total to 2020/21

Growth Deal Programme Delivery Costs £314,131 £750,465 £2,079,080 £2,000,000 £0 £2,000,000 £2,000,000 £2,000,000 £0 £7,143,675

£0 £0 £314,131 £750,465 £2,079,080 £2,000,000 £0 £2,000,000 £2,000,000 £2,000,000 £0 £7,143,675

Access to Capital Grants Programme £15,700,000 £15,700,000 £0 £1,513,095 £4,964,840 £3,036,191 £1,925,659 £1,331,233 £3,256,892 £3,092,897 £2,872,276 £15,700,000

Business Expansion Fund - Digital Inward Investment Fund £1,000,000 £1,000,000 £0 £0 £16,831 £159,532 £78 £150,000 £150,078 £411,756 £421,335 £1,000,000

Business Expansion Fund - Strategic Inward Investment Fund £12,450,000 £12,450,000 £0 £0 £758,457 £944,876 £2,341 £777,191 £779,532 £5,360,260 £5,551,752 £12,450,000

Business Growth Programme £27,000,000 £27,000,000 £6,660,742 £8,327,992 £3,913,816 £2,537,861 £498,451 £1,622,400 £2,120,851 £2,773,801 £3,202,799 £27,000,000

Huddersfield Incubation and Innovation Programme £2,922,000 £2,922,000 £0 £0 £2,922,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £2,922,000

Leeds University Innovation Centre £3,000,000 £3,000,000 £0 £2,416,585 £583,415 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £3,000,000

£62,072,000 £62,072,000 £6,660,742 £12,257,672 £13,159,358 £6,678,460 £2,426,529 £3,880,824 £6,307,353 £11,638,714 £12,048,161 £62,072,000

Bradford College £250,000 £250,000 £0 £250,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £250,000

Calderdale College £4,977,000 £4,977,000 £2,000,000 £2,977,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £4,977,000

Kirklees College, Dewsbury Learning Quarter £11,121,218 £15,121,218 £0 £3,367,457 £6,429,128 £0 £0 £0 £0 £657,524 £667,110 £11,121,218

Kirklees College, Process Manufacturing Centre £3,100,996 £3,100,996 £3,000,996 £100,001 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £3,100,997

Leeds City College, Printworks £8,998,358 £8,998,358 £933,800 £7,794,608 £269,950 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £8,998,358

Leeds City College, Quarry Hill £33,400,000 £33,400,000 £0 £10,045,152 £15,585,878 £7,768,970 £3,785,979 £3,982,991 £7,768,970 £0 £0 £33,400,000

Leeds College of Building £11,900,000 £14,000,000 £0 £1,263,639 £2,786,030 £7,850,331 £5,029,179 £2,821,152 £7,850,331 £0 £0 £11,900,000

Selby College £693,748 £693,748 £0 £693,748 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £693,748

Shipley College, Mill £119,000 £119,000 £119,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £119,000

Shipley College, Salt Building £300,000 £300,000 £0 £300,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £300,000

Wakefield College £3,327,133 £3,327,133 £0 £3,327,133 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £3,327,133

£78,187,453 £84,287,453 £6,053,796 £30,118,737 £25,070,985 £15,619,301 £8,815,158 £6,804,143 £15,619,301 £657,524 £667,110 £78,187,454

Energy Accelerator £820,000 £820,000 £165,992 £0 £0 £261,603 £0 £261,603 £261,603 £196,202 £196,203 £820,000

Leeds District Heat Network £4,000,000 £4,000,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £4,000,000 £4,000,000 £0 £0 £4,000,000

Resource Efficiency Fund £720,000 £720,000 £0 £0 £293,355 £322,742 £229,432 £93,310 £322,742 £103,903 £0 £720,000

Tackling Fuel Poverty £6,000,000 £6,000,000 £0 £781,414 £2,857,882 £1,597,800 £520,277 £1,077,523 £1,597,800 £762,903 £0 £6,000,000

£11,540,000 £11,540,000 £165,992 £781,414 £3,151,237 £2,182,145 £749,709 £5,432,436 £6,182,145 £1,063,009 £196,203 £11,540,000

Barnsley Town Centre £1,757,000 £1,757,000 £1,757,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £1,757,000

Bradford Odeon £325,000 £325,000 £0 £0 £0 £325,000 £0 £325,000 £325,000 £0 £0 £325,000

Bradford, One City Park £5,200,000 £5,200,000 £400,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £500,000 £4,300,000 £5,200,000

Dewsbury Riverside £4,600,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £1,773,000 £2,747,000 £4,520,000

East Leeds Housing Growth - Brownfield Sites £1,100,000 £1,100,000 £0 £1,100,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £1,100,000

East Leeds Housing Growth - Red Hall £4,000,000 £4,000,000 £2,000,000 £2,000,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £4,000,000

Halifax Town Centre (Northgate House) £3,000,000 £300,000 £300,000 £0 £0 £1,000,000 £0 £1,000,000 £1,000,000 £1,700,000 £0 £3,000,000

Halifax, Beech Hill £2,197,000 £1,400,000 £0 £0 £0 £619,179 £0 £619,179 £619,179 £1,577,821 £0 £2,197,000

Kirklees Housing Sites £1,000,000 £1,000,000 £200,000 £205,000 £104,000 £191,000 £0 £100,000 £100,000 £100,000 £291,000 £1,000,000

Kirklees, Forge Lane £0 £4,620,000 £0 £0 £0 £720,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Leeds, Bath Road £575,000 £575,000 £575,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £575,000

New Bolton Woods £3,600,000 £3,600,000 £0 £0 £3,000,000 £0 £0 £600,000 £600,000 £0 £0 £3,600,000

Wakefield Civic Quarter £1,100,000 £1,100,000 £0 £0 £1,054,488 £5,000 £1,199 £0 £1,199 £5,050 £0 £1,060,737

York Central £2,550,000 £2,550,000 £0 £1,421,500 £1,128,500 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £2,550,000

York Guildhall £2,347,500 £2,347,500 £0 £791,500 £603,000 £250,000 £0 £0 £0 £953,000 £0 £2,347,500

Priority 4a - Balance of Funding £0 £0 £0 £3,216,000 £0 £399,000 £399,000 £2,024,000 £873,135 £3,296,135

£33,351,500 £29,874,500 £5,232,000 £5,518,000 £5,889,988 £6,326,179 £1,199 £3,043,179 £3,044,378 £8,632,870 £8,211,135 £36,528,372

A6110 Leeds Outer Ring Road £17,800,000 £268,000 £0 £0 £4,271 £99,000 £9 £98,991 £99,000 £0 £17,696,729 £17,800,000

A62 and A644 Corridors Incorporating Cooper Bridge £69,270,000 £750,000 £110,000 £15,000 £31,735 £600,000 £117,226 £189,192 £306,418 £5,600,000 £18,000,000 £24,063,153

A62 and A644 Corridors Incorporating Cooper Bridge (Combined Authority) £0 £0 -£110,000 -£15,000 £500,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £375,000

A629 (Phase 1A) - Jubilee Road to Free School Lane £8,354,954 £8,354,954 £163,469 £1,442,043 £4,267,252 £1,492,010 £1,217,664 £837,991 £2,055,655 £0 £0 £7,928,419

A629 (Phase 1A) - Jubilee Road to Free School Lane (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £256,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £256,000

A629 (Phase 1B) - Elland Wood Bottom to Jubilee Road £18,900,000 £5,670,394 £0 £215,969 £609,740 £1,643,233 £892,435 £841,630 £1,734,065 £2,000,000 £10,000,000 £14,559,774

A629 (Phase 2) - Eastern Gateway and Station Access Improvements £40,930,000 £2,615,000 £0 £334,553 £1,208,078 £1,541,388 £472,039 £1,145,894 £1,617,933 £3,500,000 £16,040,436 £22,701,000

A629 (Phase 2) - Eastern Gateway and Station Access Improvements (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £24,136 £0 £4,000 £0 £4,000 £0 £0 £28,136

A629 (Phase 4) - Ainley Top £30,000,000 £645,000 £0 £51,736 £62,724 £388,839 £193,494 £204,646 £398,140 £500,000 £750,000 £1,762,600

A629 (Phase 5) - Ainley Top into Huddersfield £12,090,000 £4,418,000 £52,000 £48,000 £250,762 £800,000 £562,312 £730,925 £1,293,237 £3,167,093 £5,372,349 £10,183,441

A629 (Phase 5) - Ainley Top into Huddersfield (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £2,605 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £2,605

A641 Bradford - Huddersfield Corridor £52,400,000 £730,000 £0 £60,829 £68,572 £322,813 £44,781 £251,618 £296,399 £450,000 £500,000 £1,375,800

A65 - Leeds Bradford International Airport Link Road £35,700,000 £1,785,000 £8,688 £266,812 £365,849 £667,000 £155,184 £244,816 £400,000 £1,330,477 £950,000 £3,321,826

A650 Hard Ings Road (Phase 1) - Hard Ings Road Only £10,250,000 £1,142,000 £124,000 £304,308 £437,533 £1,937,343 £140,582 £2,580,184 £2,720,766 £4,440,256 £1,949,362 £9,976,225

A650 Hard Ings Road (Phase 1) - Hard Ings Road Only (Combined Authority) £0 £0 -£124,000 -£304,308 £568,308 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £140,000

A650 Tong Street £12,500,000 £185,000 £0 £40,620 £83,783 £388,365 £27,505 £51,134 £78,639 £616,064 £1,020,461 £1,839,567

A653 Leeds to Dewsbury Corridor £12,510,000 £210,000 £0 £59,261 £30,614 £140,000 £22,624 £51,999 £74,623 £1,000,000 £10,500,000 £11,664,498

A653 Leeds to Dewsbury Corridor (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £9,588 £0 £12,908 £0 £12,908 £0 £0 £22,496

Aire Valley, Leeds Integrated Transport Package (Phase 1) - Aire Valley Park and Ride £9,597,000 £9,597,000 £236,672 £5,950,650 £1,980,169 £175,000 £49,970 £100,030 £150,000 £25,000 £0 £8,342,491

Aire Valley, Leeds Integrated Transport Package (Phase 1) - Aire Valley Park and Ride (Combined Authority) £0 £0 -£40,492 £0 £644,065 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £603,573

Bradford Forster Square Station Gateway £17,311,000 £3,671,314 £0 £125,484 £98,022 £830,360 £14,705 £443,920 £458,625 £800,000 £15,713,869 £17,196,000

Bradford Forster Square Station Gateway (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £25,019 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £25,019

Bradford Interchange Station Gateway (Phase 1) £5,650,000 £180,000 £25,000 £20,838 £117,558 £124,360 £16,604 £102,431 £119,035 £200,000 £309,965 £792,396

Bradford Interchange Station Gateway (Phase 2) £512,000 £512,000 £0 £0 £6,279 £360,210 £7,431 £338,852 £346,283 £159,438 £0 £512,000

Bradford to Shipley Corridor £47,900,000 £1,597,000 £30,000 £5,011 £524,541 £653,285 £276,646 £456,607 £733,253 £800,000 £575,448 £2,668,253

Calder Valley Line - Elland Station £284,748 £284,748 £0 £0 £42,332 £283,830 £24,247 £114,750 £138,997 £103,419 £0 £284,748

Calder Valley Line - Elland Station (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £121,105 £0 £38,739 £333,628 £372,367 £0 £0 £493,472

Castleford Growth Corridor Scheme £22,800,000 £200,000 £67,000 £73,917 £18,203 £1,630,880 £0 £25,000 £25,000 £5,867,879 £10,191,000 £16,242,999

Castleford Station Gateway £4,511,000 £338,000 £0 £20,329 £20,598 £1,751,083 £2,195 £292,632 £294,827 £4,175,246 £0 £4,511,000

Corridor Improvement Programme - Bradford, A6177 Great Horton Road - Cross Lane (12) £2,500,000 £180,000 £0 £0 £63,019 £169,640 £81,562 £200,987 £282,549 £2,134,432 £0 £2,480,000

Corridor Improvement Programme - Bradford, A6177 Great Horton Road - Cross Lane (12) (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £4,884 £0 £64,721 £0 £64,721 £0 £0 £69,605

Corridor Improvement Programme - Bradford, A6177 Great Horton Road - Horton Grange Road (15) £3,150,000 £180,000 £0 £0 £29,472 £169,640 £26,679 £227,131 £253,810 £180,000 £2,666,718 £3,130,000

Corridor Improvement Programme - Bradford, A6177 Thornton Road - Toller Lane (10) £8,500,000 £225,000 £0 £0 £85,375 £185,690 £24,808 £246,075 £270,883 £6,817,000 £1,296,742 £8,470,000

£102,021,595 Actual £25,237,483

Growth Deal Programme Delivery Costs Total

Priority 1 - Growing 

Business

Priority 1 - Growing Business Total

Priority 2 - Skilled People 

and Better Jobs

Priority 3 - Clean Energy 

and Economic Resilience

Priority 3 - Clean Energy and Economic Resilience Total

Priority 2 - Skilled People and Better Jobs Total

Priority 4a - Housing and Regeneration Total

Priority 4b - West 

Yorkshire + Transport 

Fund

Priority 4a - Housing and 

Regeneration

2018/19

Target

35

A
genda Item

 5d
A

ppendix 1



SEP Priority Project Name
Indicative 

Funding

Full Funding 

Approval

Actual Spend 

2015/16

Actual Spend 

2016/17

Actual Spend 

2017/18

Agreed Annual 

Forecast 2018/19

Actual Spend 

2018/19

Forecast Spend 

2018/19

Actual & Forecast 

Total Spend 

2018/19

2019/20 Forecast 2020/21 Forecast Total to 2020/21

Corridor Improvement Programme - Bradford, A6177 Thornton Road - Toller Lane (10) (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £37,196 £0 £37,196 £0 £0 £37,196

Corridor Improvement Programme - Calderdale, A58 - A672 Corridor £6,024,000 £941,665 £0 £0 £90,865 £99,501 £33,450 £313,685 £347,135 £1,553,000 £4,033,000 £6,024,000

Corridor Improvement Programme - Calderdale, A58 - A672 Corridor (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £7,227 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £7,227

Corridor Improvement Programme - Calderdale, A646 - A6033 Corridor £5,092,000 £789,581 £0 £0 £76,325 £84,555 £29,960 £266,215 £296,175 £2,409,500 £2,310,000 £5,092,000

Corridor Improvement Programme - Calderdale, A646 - A6033 Corridor (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £7,227 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £7,227

Corridor Improvement Programme - Kirklees, A62 Smart Corridor £7,906,000 £250,000 £0 £0 £125,232 £430,000 £110,365 £156,280 £266,645 £7,514,123 £0 £7,906,000

Corridor Improvement Programme - Kirklees, A62 Smart Corridor (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £6,232 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £6,232

Corridor Improvement Programme - Kirklees, Holmfirth Town Centre £4,900,000 £250,000 £0 £0 £99,358 £161,500 £21,133 £212,500 £233,633 £718,000 £3,849,009 £4,900,000

Corridor Improvement Programme - Kirklees, Huddersfield Southern Gateways £8,200,000 £300,000 £0 £0 £167,206 £225,000 £37,223 £115,000 £152,223 £1,192,000 £5,700,000 £7,211,429

Corridor Improvement Programme - Leeds, Dawsons Corner £15,000,000 £1,008,000 £0 £0 £243,698 £710,000 £236,524 £163,476 £400,000 £6,598,302 £5,876,000 £13,118,000

Corridor Improvement Programme - Leeds, Dyneley Arms £8,000,000 £402,000 £0 £0 £127,438 £550,000 £109,869 £140,131 £250,000 £1,525,400 £6,000,000 £7,902,838

Corridor Improvement Programme - Leeds, Fink Hill £950,000 £115,000 £0 £0 £105,529 £215,000 £9,471 £90,529 £100,000 £744,471 £0 £950,000

Corridor Improvement Programme - Wakefield, A650 Newton Bar £4,230,000 £75,000 £0 £0 £39,259 £161,160 £28,935 £123,846 £152,780 £2,331,600 £1,702,361 £4,226,000

Corridor Improvement Programme - Wakefield, A650 Newton Bar (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £15,973 £0 £15,973 £0 £0 £15,973

Corridor Improvement Programme - Wakefield, Owl Lane £2,561,000 £75,000 £0 £0 £5,516 £173,120 £16,756 £52,728 £69,484 £135,620 £1,920,557 £2,131,177

Corridor Improvement Programme (Phase 1) £0 £408,000 £0 £0 £8,200 £100,000 £0 £100,000 £100,000 £100,000 £316,000 £524,200

Glasshoughton Southern Link Road £6,388,000 £733,000 £80,000 £0 £441,104 £505,000 £126,025 £251,100 £377,126 £4,652,618 £1,769,116 £7,319,963

Halifax Station Gateway £10,600,000 £1,108,000 £156,738 £44,171 £63,055 £470,784 £185,346 £268,892 £454,238 £500,000 £750,000 £1,968,202

Harrogate Road  - New Line (Combined Authority) £0 £0 -£52,000 £0 £221,717 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £169,717

Harrogate Road - New Line £6,765,000 £1,885,000 £146,399 £15,601 £991,436 £412,440 £432,283 £65,499 £497,782 £2,439,000 £2,489,732 £6,579,950

Huddersfield Station Gateway £5,000,000 £165,000 £0 £22,385 £0 £100,000 £2,937 £105,000 £107,937 £700,000 £4,322,308 £5,152,630

Huddersfield Station Gateway (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £27,615 £0 £2,630 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £30,245

Leeds City Centre Network and Interchange Package £66,800,000 £3,774,000 £31,337 £278,000 £468,289 £643,000 £244,603 £355,397 £600,000 £1,396,258 £6,492,964 £9,266,848

Leeds ELOR and North Leeds Outer Ring Road £82,980,000 £25,856,000 £929,199 £1,554,106 £8,297,375 £5,700,000 £2,932,524 £3,465,326 £6,397,850 £20,000,000 £31,103,710 £68,282,240

Leeds ELOR and North Leeds Outer Ring Road (Combined Authority) £0 £0 -£140,000 £0 £1,169,320 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £1,029,320

Leeds Station Gateway - Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan £400,000 £400,000 £0 £54,468 £117,583 £203,860 £0 £200,000 £200,000 £27,949 £0 £400,000

Leeds Station Gateway - New Station Street £2,120,000 £729,000 £0 £41,036 £103,144 £1,446,820 £0 £581,222 £581,222 £1,394,598 £0 £2,120,000

M62 Junction 24A £18,510,000 £70,000 £0 £12,976 £31,370 £15,500 £0 £15,500 £15,500 £0 £0 £59,846

Rail Parking Package - Apperley Bridge £1,200,000 £113,100 £0 £0 £0 £113,000 £0 £40,000 £40,000 £423,100 £736,900 £1,200,000

Rail Parking Package - Ben Rhydding £2,100,537 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Rail Parking Package - Fitzwilliam £701,204 £701,204 £0 £28,210 £416,863 £108,461 £47,425 £0 £47,425 £208,706 £0 £701,204

Rail Parking Package - Fitzwilliam (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 -£12,672 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 -£12,672

Rail Parking Package - Garforth £825,000 £45,000 £0 £0 £0 £440,000 £0 £45,000 £45,000 £780,000 £0 £825,000

Rail Parking Package - Guiseley £7,000,000 £143,000 £0 £0 £0 £143,000 £0 £20,000 £20,000 £623,000 £6,357,000 £7,000,000

Rail Parking Package - Hebden Bridge £754,445 £754,445 £0 £0 £14,000 £631,000 £0 £214,000 £214,000 £526,445 £0 £754,445

Rail Parking Package - Knottingley £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £1,474,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Rail Parking Package - Mirfield A £308,863 £308,863 £0 £0 £0 £298,863 £170,000 £138,863 £308,863 £0 £0 £308,863

Rail Parking Package - Mirfield B £1,300,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £100,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Rail Parking Package - Moorthorpe £1,100,000 £110,500 £0 £0 £0 £110,500 £0 £110,500 £110,500 £989,500 £0 £1,100,000

Rail Parking Package - Morley £2,600,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Rail Parking Package - Mytholmroyd £3,640,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £1,040,000 £0 £50,000 £50,000 £3,590,000 £0 £3,640,000

Rail Parking Package - Normanton £1,440,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £340,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £1,440,000 £1,440,000

Rail Parking Package - Outwood £1,100,000 £110,500 £0 £0 £0 £110,500 £8,895 £10,000 £18,895 £391,605 £689,500 £1,100,000

Rail Parking Package - Shipley £2,550,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £2,550,000 £2,550,000

Rail Parking Package - South Elmsall £670,000 £670,000 £0 £120,000 £484,604 £5,000 £0 £25,396 £25,396 £0 £0 £630,000

Rail Parking Package - Steeton and Silsden £2,530,000 £897,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £100,000 £100,000 £2,430,000 £0 £2,530,000

Rail Parking Package (Phase 1) £0 £1,161,306 £108,336 £409,181 £395,796 £160,000 £26,240 £162,846 £189,085 £0 £0 £1,102,398

Rail Parking Package (Phase 2) £0 £138,000 £0 £137,997 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £137,997

South East Bradford Access Road £46,310,000 £91,000 £0 £0 £25,259 £623,640 £30,350 £233,298 £263,648 £1,665,000 £1,000,000 £2,953,907

South East Bradford Access Road (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £30,782 £0 £21,841 £0 £21,841 £0 £0 £52,623

Thorpe Park Station £10,060,000 £500,000 £0 £3,382 £184,675 £156,998 £99,105 £38,614 £137,719 £174,224 £5,000,000 £5,500,000

Transformational - LCR Inclusive Growth Corridor Plans £7,000,000 £2,395,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £174,017 £0 £174,017 £0 £0 £174,017

Transformational - NE Calderdale Transformational Programme Study £400,000 £400,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £60,464 £145,000 £205,464 £194,536 £0 £400,000

Transformational - North Kirklees Orbital Route Feasibility Study £248,000 £248,000 £0 £0 £0 £223,000 £39,647 £162,853 £202,500 £45,500 £0 £248,000

Transformational - North Kirklees Orbital Route Feasibility Study (Combined Authority) £250,000 £248,000 £0 £0 £9,588 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £9,588

Transformational - South Featherstone Link Road Feasibility Study £284,000 £284,000 £0 £0 £40,689 £165,380 £30,763 £212,548 £243,311 £0 £0 £284,000

Transformational - South Featherstone Link Road Feasibility Study (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £31,781 £0 £0 £52,985 £52,985 £0 £0 £84,766

Transformational - York Northern Outer Ring Road Dualling Feasibility Study £295,000 £295,000 £0 £0 £10,000 £285,000 £54,783 £230,217 £285,000 £0 £0 £295,000

Wakefield City Centre Package (Phase 1) - Kirkgate £5,556,000 £5,556,000 £0 £76,972 £3,746,336 £1,282,000 £1,544,569 £188,123 £1,732,692 £0 £0 £5,556,000

Wakefield City Centre Package (Phase 1) - Kirkgate (Combined Authority) £0 £0 -£16,000 £0 £42,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £26,000

Wakefield City Centre Package (Phase 2) - Ings Road £3,452,000 £270,000 £0 £0 £27,437 £277,000 £9,026 £45,150 £54,176 £287,000 £2,443,567 £2,812,181

Wakefield City Centre Package (Phase 2) - Ings Road (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £2,942 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £2,942

Wakefield Eastern Relief Road £37,593,000 £37,593,000 £15,284,765 £14,435,236 £3,239,685 £538,960 £517,302 £0 £517,302 £1,817,012 £0 £35,294,000

Wakefield Eastern Relief Road (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £2,299,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £2,299,000

West Yorkshire Integrated UTMC £7,490,000 £450,000 £0 £29,011 £78,817 £1,460,000 £81,224 £400,000 £481,224 £3,900,000 £2,900,000 £7,389,052

West Yorkshire Integrated UTMC (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 -£19,970 £70,231 £0 £2,884 £0 £2,884 £0 £0 £53,145

York Central Access Road and Station Access Improvements £37,320,000 £2,100,000 £0 £0 £413,137 £1,524,000 £768,612 £1,220,376 £1,988,988 £15,740,000 £17,016,812 £35,158,937

York Northern Outer Ring Road £2,450,000 £2,450,000 £0 £0 £824,892 £4,232,000 £456,097 £819,680 £1,275,777 £227,556 £66,867 £2,395,092

York Northern Outer Ring Road - Phase 1 (Wetherby Road) £3,599,264 £3,599,264 £0 £0 £3,000,000 £0 £0 £553,764 £553,764 £45,500 £0 £3,599,264

York Northern Outer Ring Road - Phase 2 (Monks Cross) £3,018,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £1,175,058 £1,175,058 £1,842,942 £0 £3,018,000

York Northern Outer Ring Road - Phase 3 £29,212,736 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £36,360 £36,360 £7,064,769 £12,410,788 £19,511,917

West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund Delivery £1,654,577 £1,652,280 -£870,902 £0 £0 £1,377,675 £1,377,675 £0 £0 £3,813,630

Priority 4b - Balance of Funding £0 £0 £0 £18,488,073 £0 £13,449,875 £13,449,875 £0 £0 £13,449,875

Borrowing £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £61,464,434 £184,888,134 £246,352,568

£930,204,751 £144,981,838 £19,656,322 £27,532,490 £40,862,891 £61,197,162 £13,244,888 £38,411,570 £51,656,457 £81,300,703 £59,891,136 £280,900,000

Flood Alleviation - Leeds £3,786,981 £3,786,981 £0 £3,786,981 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £3,786,981

Flood Alleviation - Mytholmroyd £2,500,000 £2,500,000 £0 £2,500,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £2,500,000

Flood Alleviation - Skipton £1,500,000 £1,500,000 £0 £1,500,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £1,500,000

Natural Flood Alleviation - Colne and Calder £1,300,000 £45,000 £0 £0 £0 £336,000 £0 £153,335 £153,335 £651,126 £495,539 £1,300,000

Natural Flood Alleviation - Upper Aire £400,000 £400,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £400,000 £0 £400,000

Priority 4c - Economic 

Resilience Programme

Priority 4b - West Yorkshire + Transport Fund Total

Priority 4b - West 

Yorkshire + Transport 

Fund

36



SEP Priority Project Name
Indicative 

Funding

Full Funding 

Approval

Actual Spend 

2015/16

Actual Spend 

2016/17

Actual Spend 

2017/18

Agreed Annual 

Forecast 2018/19

Actual Spend 

2018/19

Forecast Spend 

2018/19

Actual & Forecast 

Total Spend 

2018/19

2019/20 Forecast 2020/21 Forecast Total to 2020/21

Natural Flood Alleviation - Wyke Beck £2,600,000 £975,000 £0 £0 £317,652 £2,282,348 £0 £1,821,905 £1,821,905 £460,443 £0 £2,600,000

Priority 4c - Balance of Funding £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £2,949,019 £4,942,498 £7,891,518

£12,086,981 £9,206,981 £0 £7,786,981 £317,652 £2,618,348 £0 £1,975,240 £1,975,240 £4,460,589 £5,438,037 £19,978,499

Aire Valley Enterprise Zone £4,400,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £4,400,000 £0 £4,400,000 £4,400,000 £0 £0 £4,400,000

M62 Enterprise Zone £15,600,000 £1,818,000 £0 £0 £0 £1,000,000 £0 £300,000 £300,000 £4,700,000 £10,600,000 £15,600,000

£20,000,000 £1,818,000 £0 £0 £0 £5,400,000 £0 £4,700,000 £4,700,000 £4,700,000 £10,600,000 £20,000,000

£1,147,442,685 £343,780,772 £38,082,983 £84,745,759 £90,531,192 £102,021,595 £25,237,483 £66,247,392 £91,484,875 £114,453,408 £97,051,783 £516,350,000

Priority 4c - Economic 

Resilience Programme

Priority 4c - Economic Resilience Programme Total

Priority 4d - Enterprise 

Zone Development

Priority 4d - Enterprise Zone Development Total

Grand Total

37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                                         

Report to: LEP Board

Date:  22 November 2018

Subject:  Local Inclusive Industrial Strategy

Director: Alan Reiss, Director Policy, Strategy and Communications

Author(s): Jo Barham

1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To update LEP Board Members on the development of a Local, Inclusive 
Industrial Strategy (LIIS) for Leeds City Region, informed by the outcome of 
the LEP Board away day and ongoing discussions with Government. Board 
Members are asked to review progress to date and agree to the proposed 
next steps.   

2 Information

Background

2.1 In early 2018, the LEP Board and Combined Authority agreed that work would 
begin on the development of a Local, Inclusive Industrial Strategy (LIIS) for 
Leeds City Region. Sitting at the heart of a new, long-term strategic 
framework, the emerging LIIS will focus on bold steps aimed at driving 
inclusive growth, boosting productivity and improving living standards for a 
post-2030 economy. The latest version of the Policy Framework is provided in 
Appendix 1 of this report. 

2.2 Building on the evidence presented at the 2017 LEP Board away day and 
ongoing engagement with partners, a draft LIIS prospectus was produced to 
summarise the City Region’s key strengths and assets and to highlight 
opportunities for development. The prospectus (which was circulated to Board 
members in advance of the away day) identified a number of areas in which 
existing knowledge and intelligence could be improved. 

LEP Board Away Day and follow-up activity 

2.3 The aim of the LEP Board away day was to shape thinking on development of 
the Leeds City Region’s LIIS. Government representatives were invited to 
attend the event to update on the latest developments nationally and provide 

39

Agenda Item 6



input and steer on Leeds City Region’s proposed approach. A summary of key 
messages discussed at the away day is provided in Appendix 2 to this report.

2.4 Further guidance in the form of a policy prospectus on Local Industrial 
Strategies was published by Government in early October1. The guidance 
highlights that agreeing a Local Industrial Strategy will be a necessary 
condition for LEPs and Mayoral Combined Authorities to draw down any future 
local growth funding being deployed. The prospectus also states that Local 
Industrial Strategies should remain strategic documents and not contain any 
proposals that require new funding or have spending implications outside of 
existing budgets available to local areas.

Autumn Budget and Comprehensive Spending Review 

2.5 Ahead of the 2018 Autumn Budget, a Leeds City Region response was 
developed. The response was framed around the five foundations of the 
Industrial Strategy and built upon discussions at the away day. A draft was 
shared with LEP Board members in advance of submission to Treasury. 
In addition to immediate, short-term proposals, the Budget submission put 
forward a set of bold longer-term ideas. This provided an early opportunity to 
share thinking with Government on our emerging plans for the LIIS. 

2.6 Key announcements made during the budget in relation to the Industrial 
Strategy included:

 An additional £1.6 billion to strengthen the UK’s global leadership in 
science and innovation including £1.1 billion more for the Industrial 
Strategy Challenge Fund:

o Up to £121 million for Made Smarter to support the 
transformation of manufacturing through digitally-enabled 
technologies

o Up to £78 million for the Stephenson Challenge, supporting 
innovation in electric motor technology, making vehicles lighter 
and more efficient than ever before

 An additional £120 million invested through the Strength in Places Fund 
extending the programme up to 2020/21 

 An Industrial Energy Transformation Fund with £315 million of 
investment, to support businesses with high energy use to transition to 
a low carbon future and cut their bills through increased energy 
efficiency. 

2.7 Planning is underway to shape Leeds City Region’s response to the 2019 
Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR). This will build upon the approach to 
development of a LIIS and the budget submission. The submission will set out 
a clear set of funding asks as well as consideration of issues to support more 

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-industrial-strategies-policy-prospectus 

40

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-industrial-strategies-policy-prospectus


effective ways of working to enable the City Region to meet its bold ambition 
for a post-2030 economy.  

Building the evidence base 

2.8 Government guidance is clear on the need for Local Industrial Strategies to be 
underpinned by robust evidence drawing out relative strengths and 
weaknesses, with an emphasis on productivity. Leeds City Region is not 
starting from scratch and has a strong evidence base on which to build. Tools 
such as the annual Leeds City Region Business Survey and a new Leeds City 
Region Household Survey will play a key role providing primary data to 
support policy development. This will continue to develop as work is ongoing 
and will be informed by additional in-depth research into particular issues.    

2.9 Additional work will be undertaken where there is a gap in the existing 
knowledge base and a more intensive examination of the issues is required. 
This approach will align activity against the five foundation and four Grand 
Challenges of the national strategy and will support the submission to the 
Comprehensive Spending Review. This will include: 

Productivity 
Audit

Focusing on understanding firms and sectors with 
lower levels of productivity and the relationship 
between infrastructure and productivity. The study 
will also consider wider drivers such as innovation, 
research and development, barriers to growth, 
exporting, and skills. This will take advantage of 
ongoing improved data from ONS and other 
providers. At the end of this will be a comprehensive 
assessment of productivity and competitiveness for 
Leeds City Region. 

Supply Chains The ambition for the supply chains project is for 
lower tier suppliers based in the North to 
successfully bid to supply northern Original 
Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs). This commission 
will feed into and support NP11 research (currently 
in development) to better understand and develop 
supply chains opportunities.  

Innovation 
networks and 
diffusion

The City Region’s relative underperformance on 
innovation is identified as a key challenge, this 
includes the ways in which diffusion of innovation 
takes place between businesses.  
Given the centrality of Medtech to the LIIS, and the 
sector’s natural tendency towards innovation as a 
starting point for this work, firms within the Medtech 
sector in Leeds City Region will be identified. Once 
identified, these firms will be matched to other 
available data to develop a richer picture of their 
innovation and wider business activity. Further, 
more detailed conversations with those firms would 

41



then be conducted through surveys, focus groups or 
one-to-one interviews.  

Sector deep-
dives: Textiles, 
Medtech

Building on Strength in Places bids in the City 
Region and including sectors of strategic 
importance, the aim of this research will be to 
contribute to a better understanding of the key 
issues surrounding the dynamics and development 
of these industries in Leeds City Region. Including:

 Examining the degree of connectedness 
and institutional thickness of organisations 
within the sectors, in particular, inter-
personal and inter-business connections; 

 Exploring attitudes towards co-operation 
and innovation within the sectors; 

 Analysing whether linkages between 
businesses and support institutions are fully 
functioning (i.e. is a real cluster in existence 
and not just an industrial concentration?)

 Identify a clear funding strategies, including 
a set of specific target activities.

Clean Tech 
Cluster Study 

Clean Growth is one of the National Industrial 
Strategy Grand Challenges, and presents a 
significant opportunity for Leeds City Region, at 
present there is a gap in understanding of the Clean 
Tech Sector and a mapping study is proposed to 
support opportunities for development of the sector.  
This commission will build upon a recent knowledge 
exchange visit to Graz, Austria undertaken in 
partnership with the University of Leeds, the Green 
Tech Cluster, and the Styrian Landesregierung.

2.10 Plans are being considered to engage an independent expert panel. The role 
of the panel will be to support the commissioning of research studies and the 
implementation and promotion of the findings. Members of the panel will be 
drawn from academia, business, the public sector (including large employers 
such as the NHS), and the voluntary and community sector. The panel will 
complement existing LEP groups and panels by providing an independent 
view across all areas of the LIIS.  

2.11 Working alongside the panel will be activity to engage with community and 
citizen groups to best understand their priorities and the role that the LEP can 
play in meeting these. Reflecting the scale and long-term ambition of the LIIS, 
we will seek to engage with young people on their views and input into 
shaping our proposals through a youth panel.

  

42



2.12 A progress statement will be prepared to share with stakeholders in March 
2019, this will align with plans to shape a submission to the Comprehensive 
Spending Review. 

3. Financial Implications

3.1 In addition to core staff resource to support research and intelligence activity, 
a budget of approximately £200,000 is available from Combined Authority / 
LEP internal budgets across the financial years 2018-19 and 2019-20 (subject 
to business planning and budget setting) to support development of the 
evidence base for the Local, Inclusive Industrial Strategy. In addition, there is 
potential to access up to £130,000 which forms part of funding identified in the 
‘Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships’ guidance2 for capacity building. 
The additional funding has not been confirmed and will be subject to 
Government approval.     

4. Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.  

5. Staffing Implications

5.1 LIIS forms a central component of the Combined Authority and LEP’s 
programme of work to broaden its policy range. This will require capacity and 
expertise from the Combined Authority, local authorities and other partners. 
This can largely be provided within existing resources.

6. External Consultees

6.1 External engagement to inform the development of the Local, Inclusive 
Industrial Strategy is anticipated to commence in spring 2019.

7. Recommendations

7.1 That the LEP Board notes progress made and endorses the proposed way 
forward on development of the evidence base.

 
8. Background Documents

8.1 There are no background documents.

9. Appendices

Appendix 1 – Leeds City Region Policy Framework 
Appendix 2 – LEP Board away day key messages 

2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strengthened-local-enterprise-partnerships this funding has 
been identified to provide LEPs with ‘additional capacity funding’ for development.   

43

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strengthened-local-enterprise-partnerships


This page is intentionally left blank



VISION 
“TO BE A GLOBALLY RECOGNISED ECONOMY WHERE GOOD GROWTH DELIVERS HIGH LEVELS OF PROSPERITY, JOBS AND QUALITY 

OF LIFE FOR EVERYONE” 

IMPACT 
AREAS

GOLDEN
THREAD

GROWTH & PRODUCTIVITY      GOOD JOBS & EARNINGS     SKILLS UPLIFT      IMPROVING CONNECTIVITY     REDUCING DEPRIVATION     ENVIRONMENTAL 
SUSTAINABILITY

PR
IO

R
IT

IE
S 

LOCAL INCLUSIVE 
INDUSTRIAL STRATEGY
DEVELOPING BIG IDEAS TO:

1. BOOST PRODUCTIVITY & 
EARNING POWER 

2. CONTRIBUTE TO NATIONAL 
PRIORITIES & GRAND 

CHALLENGES

HEALTHY & INCLUSIVE 
WORKFORCE

(Good work, welfare, health 
& 

Wellbeing) 

TRANSPORT, 
CONNECTIVITY & 

MOBILITY
(21st century transport) 

GROWING & PRODUCTIVE ECONOMY
(Science & innovation, R&D, enterprise, digital, trade 

and investment

QUALITY OF LIFE
(High quality culture and 

citizen experience)

LIFELONG 
LEARNING

(Skills, opportunity, 
progression, young 
people, education)

STRATEGIC HOUSING 
& EMPLOYMENT SITES 

(Affordable housing, 
stronger communities)

ENERGY, CLEAN 
GROWTH 

& THE ENVIRONMENT
(Green & sustainable city 

region)
PARTNER PLANS & STRATEGIES

EV
ID

EN
CE

 B
AS

E 
/ P

OL
IC

Y 
DE

VE
LO

PM
NE

NT
 -

ON
GO

IN
G

IMPROVING PRODUCTIVITY INCLUSIVE GROWTH PLACE LEADERSHIP INTEGRATED INVESTMENT

CITY REGION PROJECTS / PROGRAMMES 

PLACE & INFRASTRUCTUREBUSINESS, IDEAS & WORKFORCE

INTEGRATED POLICY FRAMEWORK TO ADDRESS THESE PRIORITIES 
(COVERING POWERS & FUNDING)

TACKLING OUR 4 KEY CHALLENGES
1. Boosting productivity & earnings 

2. Increasing levels of innovation & R&D
3. Tackling stubborn deprivation 

4. Improving living standards

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT, IDEAS & WORKFORCE
• Private sector leadership to drive a more productive region

• A region at the forefront of science, innovation and new 
technologies, including ambitions to decarbonise all sectors of 

the economy through the 2020s. 
• Nurture future talent, address skills shortages and provide the 

technical skills that will drive our economy. 

.

PLACE & INFRASTRUCTURE
• Invest in infrastructure to transform connectivity & the 
places where people want to live and work and businesses 

invest. 
• Contributing to national commitments to climate change

• Vibrant, people-friendly regenerated town and city centres, 
with high quality green infrastructure and public realm. 

DIFFERENCE FOR WHOM (COHORTS/SEGMENTATION)

CARBON REDUCTION

45

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LEP BOARD AWAY DAY, 2018
KEY MESSAGES

BACKGROUND 

The LEP Board Away Day was held on 20 September 2018, with the aim of shaping 
thinking on development of a Local, Inclusive Industrial Strategy and priorities for 
Leeds City Region. The discussion was structured around three key themes:

1. What is distinctive about Leeds City Region vs what is a national challenge and 
priority? 

2. What should our priorities be?
3. What further evidence do we need to develop our understanding? 

A summary of the key messages are provided below:

DISTINCTIVENESS OF LEEDS CITY REGION 

 Diversity of Leeds City Region (geography, SME base, cultural assets, 
universities, clusters, age profile) is a strength but also can be a challenge in 
terms of building a strategy and vision. Need to think of a strong ‘hook’ which 
celebrates this diversity and provides a compelling narrative around which to 
structure and build-on strengths. 

 Diverse SME base with niche tech strengths including Medtech and in Advanced 
Manufacturing  

 University expertise is a real strength for Leeds City Region, niche opportunities 
for engagement including advanced manufacturing and supply chains. Need to 
exploit this more effectively including a move towards higher level skills. 

 Blurring of sectors and ability to use strengths in one sector e.g. digital 
capabilities of the universities to support other aspects the economy – ‘be digital 
or get digitised’. 

WHAT IS WORKING WELL / WHAT MORE NEEDS TO BE DONE?  

 Harnessing the power of the business1

1 The Chancellor has announced £31m for a business-led package of initiatives aimed at driving 
up firm-level productivity, including: 

 Creating a ‘Small Business Leadership Programme’, providing management training to 2,000 
small business leaders in its’ first year with our ambition to train 10,000 people per year by 2025.  

 Strengthening local networks to focussed on business improvement, so that the UK’s hundreds 
of thousands of business leaders can learn from each other about management excellence and 
technology adoption. This will form a core element of our Local Industrial Strategies, which will be 
focused on strengthening business productivity at a local level.  

 A new mentoring programme for SMEs. Ten of these leading companies, including 
GSK, Amazon, KPMG and Siemens UK, have already signed up to provide over 100 mentors to 
small business leaders.  

47

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 2



o Proposals for a private sector advisory group providing peer-to-peer 
support for businesses whether online or face-to -face, 

o Promoting a joined-up approach to business support ensuring messages 
reach as many business as possible, using technology to maximise the 
impact of this. Harnessing the power of business and other leaders to 
tackle low productivity – link to discussions on ‘No Wrong Door’ agreement 
on business support across all public and private intermediaries.

o Effective delivery of core business support services, ensuring that the 
fundamentals of business support programmes are sound. This includes 
robust evaluation of existing activities and private sector engagement on 
service design

 Ensure that the Industrial Strategy provides a compelling narrative for the City 
Region which gets buy-in from a range of partners, including the voluntary and 
community sector

 More needs to be done to raise the profile of the LEP, more collaboration 
between business representative bodies and clearer demonstration of the value 
for businesses to engage. 

 Continued investment in digital tech, skills, etc. will be key to adapting to, and 
exploiting the opportunities associated with the ‘future economy’. We need to 
ensure that new digital technologies are used as enabling tools, bringing 
business, the public sector and people together with a shared vision.

 Aligning the strengths of our universities with the needs of businesses and 
promoting the diffusion of innovation through strengthened networks. Diffusion of 
innovation to improve productivity is as important as the process itself. 

 Support and encourage peer-to-peer sharing of good practice and understanding 

 Engaging with the voluntary and community sector to build on strong foundations 
for inclusive growth. Supporting inclusive growth is vital in order to improve living 
standards and tackle stubborn deprivation in the City Region. The voluntary and 
community sector plays a key role working with communities to tackle complex 
issues and remove barriers to participation. These interventions provide the 
foundations to build on as development of the Local, Inclusive Industrial Strategy 
takes place.    

 Engage with stakeholders at a pan-northern level where collaboration at a bigger 
geography can enhance activity. This will build on ongoing work with the 

 Creating a partnership between the government, professional services firms, large banks and 
technology firms, to reach out to the 5.7 million UK companies and support them to adopt new 
management practices and modern business tools. 

48



Northern Powerhouse (NP) 112 to drive economic growth in the prime 
capabilities of the North3.    

EVIDENCE BASE 

 Further evidence needed on supply chains, innovation networks and tech based 
sector strengths and cluster opportunities:

o Supply chains: identifying areas where there are opportunities to improve 
processes and develop new opportunities for businesses

o Innovation: exploration of innovation networks and how information is 
shared. Alignment and connectivity of assets is important to support this 
activity

o Tech strengths/cluster opportunities (clean tech, med-tech, textiles, etc. 
deep dive)

 Productivity: including: 
o better understanding of the difference between growth and productivity and 

clear on which is the priority;  
o greater analysis of productivity performance across the City Region, including 

analysis of sectors that have significant levels of low productivity firms

 Understanding impact of existing support products: understanding of what 
works, key lessons, better use of evaluation (e.g. Randomized Control Trials) to 
understand impact.  

 

2 NP11 is a collaboration of 11 Northern LEPs, and is chaired by Roger Marsh. 
3 The Northern Powerhouse Independent Economic Review identified Energy, Health Innovation, 
Advanced Manufacturing and Digital as the Prime Capabilities for the North

49



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP Board)

Date:  22 November 2018

Subject:  Energy Strategy and Delivery Plan

Director(s): Alan Reiss, Director Policy, Strategy and Communications

Author(s): Noel Collings / Jacqui Warren

1. Purpose of this report

1.1. To provide the Board with a report on the development of the Leeds City 
Region Energy Strategy and Delivery Plan and to submit the document for 
adoption.

1.2. To gain feedback from the Board on setting a carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions 
reduction target for the Leeds City Region.

1.3. To highlight that a Leeds City Region Energy Summit will be held in spring 
2019 to explore the setting of a regional emission reduction target and how to 
meet it.

2. Information

Background

2.1. This report presents a summary of the draft Leeds City Region (City Region) 
Energy Strategy and Delivery Plan (ESDP) for adoption.

2.2. The City Region Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) sets out the ambition ‘to 
become a resilient zero carbon energy economy underpinned by high quality 
green infrastructure’. To understand how the City Region could achieve the 
SEP energy ambition the ESDP was commissioned, with support from the 
Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS).

2.3. The ESDP is a named delivery plan of the SEP and is aligned with current 
thinking on the emerging Local Inclusive Industrial Strategy (LIIS) and policy 
framework for the City Region (Appendix 1). The latest revision of this has 
carbon reduction as a priority and golden thread through it and this is in line 
with the national Industrial Strategy, which acknowledges the need to 
maximise the advantages for UK industry of the global shift to clean growth.

51

Agenda Item 7



2.4. The purpose of the ESDP is to demonstrate how the City Region can begin to 
meet the objectives of the SEP and gain an economic advantage from the 
global transition to a clean, low carbon economy.

2.5. The ESDP is likely to contribute to a wide range of benefits in the City Region 
including:

 Reduced CO2 emissions
 Lower energy costs for businesses and organisations
 Increased competitiveness through lower energy costs for businesses
 Reduction in fuel poverty and increase in associated health benefits
 Regional approach to delivery of new clean growth economic 

opportunities i.e. supply chains and jobs and increase productivity
 Clear articulation of City Region energy strengths and opportunities
 Improved air quality
 Increased revenue 
 Retention of businesses
 Increased inward investment

2.6. The ESDP and its actions will also help to address the national energy 
trilemma which, in addition to the decarbonisation of the energy system, aims 
to address energy security and affordability

2.7. ESDP is made up of four work packages:

 Work Package 1: Energy state of the Leeds City Region
 Work Package 2: Technology Options Appraisal
 Work Package 3: Energy Opportunity Areas

 Work Package 4: Delivery Plan

2.8. A summary of the headline outputs of the four work packages is set out below:

WP1: Energy state of the Leeds City Region

2.9. The emissions produced in the City Region are a direct result of the energy 
consumed. This means that emissions from electricity generated within the 
City Region are excluded from the analysis presented below. The emissions 
considered are emissions as a direct result of fuel burnt and electricity 
consumed by end users.

2.10. The City Region consumed 64,232GWh of energy in 2015 a decrease of 22 
percent compared to 2005 levels. Consumption was roughly equal across the 
domestic, industrial and commercial, and transport sectors.

2.11. As would be expected given the intrinsic link between energy consumption 
and emissions, between 2005 and 2015 CO2 emissions (emissions) also 
decreased by 38 percent to 16,472ktCO2. 

2.12. While overall emissions are forecasted to decrease by 2036 the transport 
sector is expected to reverse this trend with a 28 percent increase in emission 

52



over the period to 2036. This is likely to be caused by minimal changes to the 
internal combustion engine, the move back to petrol cars from diesel, and to 
date poor market penetration from electric vehicles. Further work is underway 
to explore this trend further. 

2.13. Please note forecasts are in line with BEIS central projections for the key 
drivers of energy and emissions, such as fossil fuel prices and take account of 
the estimated impact of implemented, adopted and agreed (as of July 2017) 
Government policies. As such there is reasonable confidence in the accuracy 
of the forecasts. 

2.14. The energy sector in the City Region represents 1.5 percent of the economy 
(£918 million) and employs approximately 7,900 people. This is forecast to 
increase by 1.5 percent per year to £1.237 billion and to 10,200 people by 
2036.

2.15. A more comprehensive overview of the key findings of the work package is 
contained at Appendix 2.

WP2: Technology options appraisal

2.16. A technology options appraisal was commissioned to understand the most 
significant energy technologies that would allow the City Region to meet the 
energy ambition set out in the SEP.

2.17. A total of 18 technologies were identified as having the most likelihood of 
enabling the ambition to be met. Each technology was scored against a series 
of criteria and ranked according to its performance against these criteria. The 
top five scoring technologies were:

 Energy efficiency e.g. loft and cavity wall insulation
 Electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles
 Heat networks
 Hydrogen

 Solar PV

WP3: Energy opportunity areas

2.18. The technologies identified in WP2 have been mapped to understand the 
broad spatial opportunities for locating them in the City Region. These 
included energy storage, carbon capture and storage, and renewable heat.

2.19. The outputs of the work package will feed into the Leeds City Region 
Infrastructure Map. 

2.20. These opportunity maps allow house buildings, local authorities, investors etc. 
interested in developing different energy technologies to hone into specific 
areas of the City Region where they can undertake more detailed project 
feasibility work. 

53



2.21. The opportunity maps also allow a shared strategic approach to infrastructure 
development in the City Region e.g. EV infrastructure, allowing energy to be 
built into major strategic infrastructure projects.

2.22. It should be noted that the energy opportunity mapping is intended to provide 
a strategic spatial oversight for energy technology types in the Leeds City 
Region. It does not take precedent over existing local evidence or policies 
contained within local authority Local Plans and any associated development 
management policy.

WP4: Energy Delivery Plan

2.23. The work package brings together the evidence generated as part of the 
previous three work packages and supplements this evidence with target 
setting and future scenario modelling to produce a coherent Energy Delivery 
Plan for the City Region.

2.24. Through stakeholder workshops five priorities were identified which the ESDP 
should focus on. These were:

 Resource efficient business and industry;
 New energy generation;
 Energy efficiency and empowering consumers;
 Smart grid systems integration; and

 Efficient and integrated transport.

2.25. Underneath these five priorities are 17 action areas which provide more details 
on the areas which projects will be focussed around. Appendix 3 provides 
details on these action areas.

2.26. To date 36 actions have been identified with partners to form the basis of this 
strategy’s delivery plan. These are set out in Appendix 4. Further work is now 
underway with partners to explore these projects in detail. Where possible, 
emissions savings have also been estimated. The top ten actions that could 
potentially deliver the greatest CO2 emissions reduction are:

 Hydrogen vehicles: Deployment of hydrogen buses on one City 
Region bus route, hydrogen refuelling stations, and hydrogen-powered 
cars into local fleets.

 EV charging and infrastructure: Deployment of dedicated taxi and 
public EV charging points across the City Region.

 Advancing industrial energy efficiency: Targeting the high emission 
industrial sectors of the City Region (thought to be chemicals, food and 
drink, and glass) with an energy efficiency innovation programme. 

 Industrial waste heat recovery (incl. heat recovery from 
refrigeration): Deployment of waste heat recovery infrastructure across 
the City Region, targeting energy from waste plants, energy intensive 
industries and key retail stores.

54



 Carbon capture and storage (CCS): Deployment of new CCS 
installations across the City Region, supporting and building on the pilot 
bioenergy carbon capture and storage project at Drax.

 District heat networks: Continued support to develop district heat 
networks across the City Region. 

 H21: Continued support for the development of the H21 project 
ensuring that the benefits are retained within the City Region as far as 
possible.

 Public estate renewables programme: Utilisation of the public sector 
portfolio of buildings for the installation of renewable energy generation.

 Carbon budgets and carbon management plans: Implementation of 
carbon budgets and carbon management plans across City Region 
partners.

 Street lighting programme: Accelerating LED lighting, smart lighting 
controls and networked solutions across local authority areas. 

2.27. Please note there are various levels of confidence associated with the CO2 
emissions savings of each project. There is typically more confidence where 
projects are well developed e.g. district heat networks. As further work is 
undertaken (see 2.32) CO2 emissions savings for projects will be refined, 
however the estimated savings quoted for projects are considered 
conservative and err on the side of caution at this early stage.

Carbon reduction target

2.28. One way to achieve the SEP ambition could be to adopt the Paris Climate 
Change Agreement of limiting temperature rise to below 2ºC. It states that to 
achieve the long-term temperature goal, CO2 emissions should be reduced to 
around zero by 2050, achieving a balance between human derived emissions 
and removals by carbon sinks e.g. trees, peatland. The CO2 emission 
reductions investigated as part of the ESDP are a stepping stone to achieving 
an ultimate goal of becoming a zero carbon energy economy by 2050.

2.29. If adopted the City Region would need to achieve an emissions reduction of 53 
percent or 8,730 ktCO2 by 2036 (against a 2015 baseline of 16,472 ktCO2). 
Hypothetically:

 3,304 ktCO2 (38 percent) could be saved by delivering all of the projects 
outlined to date in the ESDP.

 2,141 ktCO2 (25 percent) is estimated to be achieved through business 
as usual measures such as confirmed government policies.

 3,285 ktCO2 (38 percent) to be found before 2036 through more 
accelerated programmes, new projects and radical policies.

2.30. Figure 1 illustrates the above1. 

1 Please note due to rounding figures may not add up to 100 percent.

55



Figure 1. Outline of how to meet the 53 percent emission reduction target 

2.31. It is worth stating that at this moment in time the above is based on estimates 
and a range of assumptions. The majority of the projects needed to meet the 
target are also not fully developed with allocated funding to deliver them. While 
the projects identified to date would not achieve the target, the majority of 
these interventions are currently led and implemented by the public sector 
only. There are likely to be significant additional emissions savings available 
through private sector programmes.

2.32. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has recently 
published a report on the impacts and benefits of limiting global warming to 
1.5ºC2. This report clearly states that limiting temperature rise to no more than 
1.5ºC will reduce the risks associated with extreme weather, to human health 
and for food security.

2.33. Achieving temperature increases of 1.5ºC or less will, according to the IPCC, 
require net CO2 emissions to be brought down to zero by the middle of the 
century. Net zero CO2 emissions means that the balance of CO2 emissions 
generated from human activity needs to balance with the amount of CO2 
emissions that are being adsorbed by carbon sinks e.g. trees, peatland, but 
also carbon capture, utilisation and storage. This will require all aspects of 
society to decarbonise, including those which are considered more difficult to 
address e.g. agriculture, long distance transport and heavy industry.

2.34. Current emissions estimates for the City Region have investigated how 
temperature rise could be limited to less than 2ºC. As part of future work to 

2 http://www.ipcc.ch/news_and_events/pr_181008_P48_spm.shtml 

56

http://www.ipcc.ch/news_and_events/pr_181008_P48_spm.shtml


refine these emissions estimates (see 2.36) limiting temperature rise to 1.5ºC 
as per the IPCC report will be investigated.

2.35. Future CO2 scenario modelling undertaken to understand the benefits of 
meeting the 53 percent reduction target has indicated that doing so could 
generate approximately 100,000 jobs and be worth over £11 billion in GVA3. 
The capital spend to achieve these outcomes is estimated to be between £46 
and £50 billion. Please note this is a high-level assessment and requires 
further work. See below.

2.36. The Board are asked for their comments on setting a carbon reduction target 
for the City Region.

2.37. Further work is now needed to understand: 

 Emission reduction requirements in detail, including consideration of 
meeting the IPCC recommendation of limiting temperature rise to 1.5ºC.

 Refine scenarios to better reflect regional activity and their estimated 
benefits.

 Planned ESDP actions and their emission savings contributions in 
detail, and with a higher level of confidence.

 New programmes and new innovative technology that could help meet 
a regional emission reduction target.

 How realistic it is to meet a carbon reduction target. 

2.38. A further report will be brought back to the Board in 2019 providing an update 
on the work outlined in the bullet points above.

2.39. Leaders of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority have been initially briefed 
on the opportunity to explore setting a regional carbon reduction target in line 
with global emission reduction targets. A Leeds City Region summit / event is 
now proposed for Spring 2019 to explore setting a regional emission reduction 
target and how to meet it.

2.40. More immediately there are also a number of delivery mechanisms that 
partners across the City Region will be able to access to deliver projects 
identified in the ESDP. Some of these include the Combined Authority’s 
Energy Accelerator and Resource Efficiency Fund. 

2.41. Furthermore the new North East, Yorkshire and Humber (NEYH) Energy Hub 
will also provide project development support to implement some new projects 
arising from the City Region’s ESDP

2.42. The draft summary of the ESDP is contained at Appendix 5.

2.43. The table below outlines the next steps for the ESDP. 

3 Please note that this is not an indication of the maximum GVA which is retained in the City Region, 
but instead the maximum GVA expected from the capital spend on converting to new technologies.

57



Action Timescale

1. Approval of the ESDP from the 
Combined Authority.

December 2018

2. Devise detailed work plans for 
prioritised actions within the 
ESDP.

October 2018 – Spring 2019

3. Suitable actions from the ESDP 
to be immediately fed into the 
Energy Accelerator and new 
Energy Hub.

October 2018 onwards

4. Stakeholder engagement and 
possible City Region event to 
explore the carbon reduction 
target and how to meet it.

October 2018 – Spring 2019

5. Commission further work to 
support the exploration of the 
carbon reduction target.

October 2018 – Spring 2019

6. Subject to 1, 4 and 5 above, gain 
approval for the carbon reduction 
target from the GEP, LEP and 
Combined Authority.

Summer 2019

3. Financial implications

3.1. Given the scale of the projects identified in the ESDP there are likely to be 
financial implications for the Combined Authority. Further work will be 
undertaken to understand the scale of the financial ask, and this will be 
reported at a future LEP Board meeting.

3.2. Resourcing for the implementation of the ESDP is currently being investigated 
as part of the 2019/20 Combined Authority budget planning process. 

4. Legal implications

4.1. No legal and compliance implications have been identified.

5. Staffing implications

5.1. No staffing implications have been identified.

58



6. External consultees

6.1. None.

7. Recommendations

7.1. That the Energy Strategy and Delivery Plan be adopted.

7.2. That feedback is provided on the setting of a CO2 emissions reduction target 
for the City Region.

7.3. That the intention to deliver a Leeds City Region Energy Summit in spring 
2019 is noted.

8. Background documents

8.1. None.

9. Appendices

Appendix 1 – Contribution to achieving the key challenges of the LIIS
Appendix 2 – Energy state of the Leeds City Region: Summary of key findings
Appendix 3 – Priority Action Areas
Appendix 4 – Project summaries
Appendix 5 – Summary of the ESDP

59



This page is intentionally left blank



VISION 
“TO BE A GLOBALLY RECOGNISED ECONOMY WHERE GOOD GROWTH DELIVERS HIGH LEVELS OF PROSPERITY, JOBS AND QUALITY 

OF LIFE FOR EVERYONE” 

IMPACT 
AREAS

GOLDEN
THREAD

GROWTH & PRODUCTIVITY      GOOD JOBS & EARNINGS     SKILLS UPLIFT      IMPROVING CONNECTIVITY     REDUCING DEPRIVATION     ENVIRONMENTAL 
SUSTAINABILITY

PR
IO

R
IT

IE
S 

LOCAL INCLUSIVE 
INDUSTRIAL STRATEGY
DEVELOPING BIG IDEAS TO:

1. BOOST PRODUCTIVITY & 
EARNING POWER 

2. CONTRIBUTE TO NATIONAL 
PRIORITIES & GRAND 

CHALLENGES

HEALTHY & INCLUSIVE 
WORKFORCE

(Good work, welfare, health 
& 

Wellbeing) 

TRANSPORT, 
CONNECTIVITY & 

MOBILITY
(21st century transport) 

GROWING & PRODUCTIVE ECONOMY
(Science & innovation, R&D, enterprise, digital, trade 

and investment

QUALITY OF LIFE
(High quality culture and 

citizen experience)

LIFELONG 
LEARNING

(Skills, opportunity, 
progression, young 
people, education)

STRATEGIC HOUSING 
& EMPLOYMENT SITES 

(Affordable housing, 
stronger communities)

ENERGY, CLEAN 
GROWTH 

& THE ENVIRONMENT
(Green & sustainable city 

region)
PARTNER PLANS & STRATEGIES

EV
ID

EN
CE

 B
AS

E 
/ P

OL
IC

Y 
DE

VE
LO

PM
NE

NT
 -

ON
GO

IN
G

IMPROVING PRODUCTIVITY INCLUSIVE GROWTH PLACE LEADERSHIP INTEGRATED INVESTMENT

CITY REGION PROJECTS / PROGRAMMES 

PLACE & INFRASTRUCTUREBUSINESS, IDEAS & WORKFORCE

INTEGRATED POLICY FRAMEWORK TO ADDRESS THESE PRIORITIES 
(COVERING POWERS & FUNDING)

TACKLING OUR 4 KEY CHALLENGES
1. Boosting productivity & earnings 

2. Increasing levels of innovation & R&D
3. Tackling stubborn deprivation 

4. Improving living standards

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT, IDEAS & WORKFORCE
• Private sector leadership to drive a more productive region

• A region at the forefront of science, innovation and new 
technologies, including ambitions to decarbonise all sectors of 

the economy through the 2020s. 
• Nurture future talent, address skills shortages and provide the 

technical skills that will drive our economy. 

.

PLACE & INFRASTRUCTURE
• Invest in infrastructure to transform connectivity & the 
places where people want to live and work and businesses 

invest. 
• Contributing to national commitments to climate change

• Vibrant, people-friendly regenerated town and city centres, 
with high quality green infrastructure and public realm. 

DIFFERENCE FOR WHOM (COHORTS/SEGMENTATION)

CARBON REDUCTION

61

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 – Energy state of the Leeds City Region: Summary of key findings

The emissions produced in the City Region are a direct result of the energy 
consumed; this means that emissions from electricity generated within the City 
Region are excluded from the analysis presented. The emissions considered are 
Scope 1 and Scope 2 only, this includes emissions as a direct result of fuel burnt and 
electricity consumed by end users. Our Region’s large power stations are therefore 
excluded from this analysis. 

The City Region consumed 64,232 GWh of energy in 2015 a decrease of 22 percent 
compared to 2005 levels. The level of consumption roughly equates to 48 percent of 
Yorkshire and Humber and 5.5 percent of England’s total consumption. Consumption 
was roughly equal across the domestic, industrial and commercial, and transport 
sectors.

As would be expected given the intrinsic link between energy consumption and 
emissions, between 2005 and 2015 emissions also decreased by 38 percent to 16.5 
million tonnes of CO2. This equates to roughly 60 percent of total emissions within 
the Yorkshire and Humber and 6.5 percent of total emissions in England.

The decrease in both energy consumption and emissions can be attributed in the 
main to increases in energy efficiency, a shift in the type of industry in the City 
Region and a decarbonisation of the UK electricity grid.

Over the period of the SEP (to 2036) energy consumption is forecast to increase by 
13 percent (on 2015 levels) as a result of an increasing population, construction of 
more homes, continual growth in number of vehicles on the road network, increased 
mileage and more freight being carried via road. 

Within the forecasts industrial and commercial energy consumption is forecasted to 
decrease due to a move to less energy intensive industries and a drive to increase 
efficiency to reduce operating costs.

In contrast to consumption emissions are forecast to decrease by 13 percent over 
the period to 2036. This is due to a move to less carbon intensive fuels, further 
electrification of processes, more efficient homes and appliances and further 
decarbonisation of the UK electricity grid. 

While overall emissions are forecasted to decrease the transport sector is expected 
to reverse this trend with a 28 percent increase in emission over the period to 2036. 
This is likely to be caused by minimal changes to the internal combustion engine, the 
move back to petrol cars from diesel, and a lack of growth in the electric vehicle 
market.

Currently the City Region generate three times as much energy as it consumes 
making it a net exporter of energy. Historically this position has been as a result of 
the concentration of coal power stations in the City Region. While two of the three 
large coal power stations have recently closed down it is likely that developments on 
these sites coupled with the continued operation of Drax, will lead to the City Region 
remaining as a net exporter of energy into the future, albeit at a reduced level than 
historically. 

63

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



Jobs and skills

The energy sector in the City Region represents 1.5 percent of the economy (£918 
million) and employs approximately 7,900 people. This is forecast to increase by 1.5 
percent per year to £1.237 billion and to 10,200 people by 2036.

While contributing a small element of the City Region economy employees within the 
energy sector are typically higher skilled relative to the average for all industries e.g. 
management, professional and associate professional / technical occupations. 

In the City Region, similar to the national picture, faces significant challenge around 
skills shortages, with skilled trades, management, professional and operative 
occupations all susceptible to skills shortages. In the future it is likely that the sector 
will have difficulties in obtaining the skills that it needs, especially where it competes 
with other sectors in specific areas like engineering. Brexit is also likely to have an 
impact on the ability of employers in recruiting the right skills due to the current 
significant reliance on migrant workers from the EEA.

A significant level of higher education provision directly relevant to the skills required 
by the energy sector is hosted in the City Region. However only a small number of 
total graduates go on to work in the energy sector with the majority going on to take 
up employment in the manufacturing and professional services sectors.

64



Appendix 3 – Priority Action Areas

Priority Action Area

Deliver advice and financial support to 
SMEs through the REF and build on the 
legacy of the programme through 
access to new finance to enable further 
implementation.

Implement energy efficiency 
improvements across the large 
industrial sectors, demonstrate new and 
innovative technologies and share 
learning.

Support innovation and growth in 
energy intensive industries, including 
technology innovation through carbon 
capture, utilisation and storage and 
energy efficiency technologies.

Resource Efficient Business and 
Industry

Facilitate action across the energy 
intensive sectors within the City Region; 
coordinate a collaborative sector 
involvement in the BEIS sectoral 
Industrial Decarbonisation and Energy 
Efficiency Action Plans. 

Provide a test bed for game changing, 
innovation technologies.

Drive investment in distributed 
generation and low carbon energy 
projects.

Drive investment in heat networks.

Use the Energy Accelerator as a vehicle 
for project development.

New Energy Generation

Energy innovation and supply chain 
development.

Deliver energy efficiency improvements 
to homes across the City Region to 
reduce fuel poverty and improve health.

Energy Efficiency and Empowering 
Consumers

Develop partnership and funding 
models with utilities, local authorities, 
housing associations, community 

65

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 3



Priority Action Area
energy groups and the health sector to 
implement energy efficiency 
programmes, building on the success of 
programmes such as Better Homes 
Yorkshire.

Promote better housing standards in 
new development, in line with 
Government commitments. 

Unlock the transition to a smarter, more 
integrated energy economy, which 
balances supply and demand, 
capitalising on the City Region’s existing 
sector strengths in the digital and data 
analytics market.

Support the deployment of smart grid 
technologies across the domestic, 
commercial and industrial sectors, 
including smart meters, demand side 
response, energy storage and data 
analytics.

Smart Grid Systems Integration

Facilitate innovation through technology 
incubation, collaborating with local start-
ups, technology developers and 
research institutions to access 
Government research and development 
funding and commercialise 
technologies.

Promote a better, more integrated 
transport system, which is clean and 
efficient, addresses air quality issues, 
and promotes alternative transportation 
through cycling, walking and public 
transport.

Efficient and Integrated Transport

Support the development of clean 
transport technologies, including electric 
vehicles and ultra-low emission 
vehicles, hydrogen fuel cell EVs and a 
network of charging infrastructure.

66



Appendix 4 – Project Summaries

Project Summary

Resource Efficiency Fund 2 Extend the scope of the existing REF to 
reach a larger number of SMEs and 
widen the scope for the types of 
assessment provided. Pilot system-wide 
innovation and the circular economy.

Green City Region Web Portal Build on the existing Business Growth 
Hub by expanding the energy and 
environmental services offered by the 
Hub.

Green Curricula in Apprenticeships Incorporate good business practice 
around energy and water management 
into curricula of apprenticeships.

Advancing Industrial Energy Efficiency Targeting of the high emission industrial 
sectors of the City Region with an 
energy efficiency innovation 
programme.

Industrial Waste Heat Recovery Quick start the development of waste 
heat recovery infrastructure across the 
City Region, targeting energy from 
waste plants and energy intensive 
industries including the glass, chemicals 
and food and drink sectors. Also 
includes the equipping of retail stores 
with heat recovery systems connected 
to refrigeration units.

CCS Deployment of new CCS installations 
across the City Region, supporting and 
building on the pilot bioenergy capture 
and storage project at Drax. 

District Heat Networks Continue to support the development of 
the six most advanced networks while 
developing the heat network pipeline 
and identifying potential funding sources 
to allow implementation.

H21 Implementation, Skills and Supply 
Chain

Continue to support the development of 
the H21 project led by Northern Gas 
Networks, retaining as far as possible 
the benefits of the project within the City 
Region. 

67

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 4



Project Summary

Public Estate Renewables Programme Utilisation of the public sector estate for 
the installation of renewable energy 
generation.

Community Energy Schemes Provide support for, and facilitate the 
growth of the community energy sector 
and community energy projects, 
including the investigation of a 
community energy fund.

Carbon Budgets and Carbon 
Management

Implementation of carbon budgets and 
carbon management plans across the 
City Region’s partners, in line with the 
Government’s Emissions Reduction 
Pledge 2020 report.

Green Bonds Development of a green bonds 
business model to support the ongoing 
transition to renewable energy.

Improve Local Plan Housing Policies Introduction of planning policies which 
go beyond Building Regulations.
(Identified due to the Deregulation Act 
2015 not being enacted and the new 
National Planning Policy Framework 
stating ‘local authorities are not 
restricted in their ability to require 
energy efficiency standards above 
Building Regulations’.)

Promote Sustainable Design and 
Construction 

Consideration of alternative methods of 
house building, including Passivhaus 
and off-site modular construction.

Scaling Up Better Homes Yorkshire Widespread rollout of retrofit fabric 
insulation and heating measures 
combined with new generation for 
households where it is suitable.

Whole System Domestic Energy 
Efficiency Retrofit Demonstrator

Takes a whole village or neighbourhood 
approach to the deployment of ‘whole-
system’ energy efficiency measures to 
achieve a high level of efficiency.

Public Sector Retrofitting Retrofit of the public sector estate with 
energy efficiency measures such as 
energy management systems, LED 
lighting, motion sensors.

68



Project Summary

Full Fibre Infrastructure Support the City Region Local Full Fibre 
Bid as a catalyst for the implementation 
of a smart energy system.

Street Lighting Programmes Accelerate LED replacement, smart 
lighting controls and networked 
solutions across local authority areas.

Solar Carports Installation of solar PV canopies above 
car parking spaces, proving space 
efficient renewable generation. 

Whole Energy System Approach Pilot Identification of new early stage new 
developments in the City Region where 
a whole energy systems pilot could be 
undertaken.

Energy Storage for Council Housing 
Mounted Solar PV

Identification of housing blocks and 
estates with high density solar PV 
installations, and install battery storage 
to maximise the solar PV utility.

Smart Leeds Innovative kick starter project aimed at 
delivering a large number of energy 
system pilot and demonstrator projects 
in the City Region.

Hydrogen Vehicles Deployment of hydrogen buses on one 
City Region bus route, and build two 
hydrogen refuelling stations. Will enable 
the incorporation of hydrogen powered 
cars into corporate fleets where the 
fuelling stations are located.

EV Charging and Infrastructure Deploy dedicated taxi and public EV 
charging points across the City Region, 
focusing on rapid charging technology 
and high demand locations. 

Hyperhubs Pilot project to demonstrate proof of 
concept in the City Region. 

Smart Park and Ride Targeting of two new P&Rs to include 
solar PV canopies, energy storage, 
electric buses, charging infrastructure, a 
grid / private wire export link.

69



Project Summary

Smart Travel Evolution Programme 
(STEP)

Consider the extension of STEP across 
the City Region, monitoring and 
analysing real time journey information 
to make interventions where vehicles 
and traffic signals work together to 
improve the network.

Behaviour Change Schemes Promotion of cycling and walking 
through behaviour change schemes 
across the City Region.

70



Leeds City Region 
Energy Strategy 
Executive summary

1. Introduction
This Energy Strategy and delivery plan is the response of City Region partners to the global challenge of providing 
a secure, affordable energy supply for our residents and businesses, while also lowering carbon emissions to 
help the UK meet its national (Climate Change Act) and international (Paris Climate Change Agreement) carbon 
reduction targets.

With its long history of energy generation – historically producing a major share of the UK’s energy including 12% 
of electricity – Leeds City Region has the knowledge, skills and infrastructure to play a key role in meeting the UK’s 
future energy requirements. 

In this strategy and delivery plan, we set out how we will target investment over the next 10 years to meet our 
ultimate goal of becoming a zero-carbon energy economy, while also taking advantage of unprecedented change 
within the global energy sector to grow our region’s economy and improve people’s lives.

2. Where we are now: our strengths and challenges
Given its long history of energy generation, Leeds City Region has a number of distinctive strengths that will 
enable it to play a leading role in the UK’s transition to a low carbon economy with the right investment. 

38% 
reduction in carbon emissions  

since 2005

£918m 
GVA value of City Region’s  

energy sector

7,900 
people employed in energy

12% 
of UK electricity generated here

31% 
of electricity generated here from 
low carbon or renewable sources

Range of support available 
to help households and 

businesses become more 
energy efficient

• Continued reliance on fossil 
fuels – only 8.8% of energy 
consumed currently is provided 
by renewables

• Estimated 13% increase in 
energy demand over the next 
20 years

• 12.5% of households in the City 
Region in fuel poverty

• Ensuring our energy-intensive 
industries (including the UK’s 
largest manufacturing centre) 
remain productive and globally 
competitive

• Keeping energy costs 
manageable for businesses and 
households

• Reducing carbon emissions to 
meet national and international 
targets

The challenges we must address:

Our strengths:

71

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 5



Leeds City Region Energy Strategy | Executive summary

The major opportunity:
If our region were to reduce carbon emissions in line with the targets set in the Paris Climate Change Agreement 
by 2036, we would see:

Long term climate goals 
achieved

including net zero carbon emissions 
 by around 2050

53% 
reduction in emissions

£11 billion-plus 
increase in annual  
economic output

100,000 
more jobs

Leeds City Region at the 
leading edge of climate 

policy in England

4. How we will get there: our priorities
To achieve our zero-carbon energy economy ambitions we will focus on five priority action areas:

1. Resource-efficient businesses and industry – we will increase support to help companies 
reduce their energy costs and carbon emissions

2. New energy generation – we will develop an energy network that provides locally generated 
low-cost, low carbon energy to homes and businesses, including district heat networks and 
the landmark H21 hydrogen energy project in Leeds

3. Energy efficiency and empowering consumers – we will help households become more 
energy-efficient, lower their energy bills and reduce fuel poverty

4. Smart grid systems integration – we will develop the technology and infrastructure that 
enables people and businesses to use energy more intelligently 

5. Efficient and integrated transport – we will target investment and influence transport 
operators to develop a sustainable transport network, including a greater proportion of 
electric and hydrogen-powered vehicles and increased opportunities for cycling and walking

3. Where we want to be: our vision
Our ultimate ambition – as set out in our Strategic Economic Plan – is to make Leeds City Region a zero-carbon 
energy economy.

In this Energy Strategy and its accompanying delivery plan we set out how we will target investment and innovation 
over the next 10 years and up to 2036 to make our region a world-leading centre for zero-carbon energy.

We will also make the most of our region’s significant natural assets to develop high quality green and blue 
infrastructure, that will improve our resilience to the effects of climate change, such as increased flooding. Our 
plans to achieve this are set out in our Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy and delivery plan.

72



Our zero carbon energy economy ambition will only be achieved through collective action. These are the key 
projects partners across Leeds City Region will explore together over the next 10 years, ranked by estimated 
carbon savings:

5. Top 10 projects and initiatives

Hydrogen vehicles
Hydrogen buses and 

refuelling stations on a 
key City Region  

bus route

Industrial waste 
heat recovery

Targeting energy from 
waste plants and energy 

intensive industries 

saves

saves

saves

saves

saves

saves

saves

saves

saves

saves

874 ktCO2

290 ktCO2

590 ktCO2

180 ktCO2

60 ktCO2

565 ktCO2

116 ktCO2

53 ktCO2

335 ktCO2

100 ktCO2

Industrial energy 
efficiency

Targeting high emission 
industrial sectors

Carbon budgets 
and carbon 

management plans
To help businesses and 

public sector bodies 
limit their emissions

Public estate 
renewables 
programme

Installing renewable 
energy generation in 

public sector buildings

Electric vehicle charging 
and infrastructure

Across the City Region, 
focusing on rapid charge 

technology

H21
Continued support for the 

development of this project 
to convert the existing 
natural gas network in 

Leeds to 100% hydrogen

District heat 
networks

Continued development 
of 11 district heat 

networks across Leeds 
City Region

Carbon Capture 
Storage (CCS)

Building on the pilot 
bioenergy CCS project 

at Drax in Selby

Street lighting 
programmes

Improving the energy 
efficiency of street lighting 

through use of LEDs and 
smart technologies

Total CO2 savings: 3,173 ktCO2*

* The equivalent of taking 680,000 cars off the road for a year or driving a car to the moon and 
back over 16,000 times!

Leeds City Region Energy Strategy | Executive summary

Together with government action 
these projects would enable the 
region to meet 63% of a carbon 
reduction target in line with the 
Paris Climate Change Agreement. 
If the region were to sign up to the 
target we will need to identify the 
additional 37% of savings needed. 

73



Increased economic growth and productivity
• Faster economic growth within the energy sector 

• Improved ability to attract business investment and talent to the region

• Increased business efficiency and competitiveness

6. How the strategy will make a difference
Benefits of delivering this strategy for people and businesses in the region will include:

Leeds City Region Energy Strategy | Executive summary

Inclusive growth that benefits everyone
• Lower energy costs for households and businesses

• More skilled jobs related to energy

• Significant reductions in fuel poverty

Reduced carbon emissions
• Reduction in carbon emissions and improved air quality 

• Achievement of climate change targets

• Improved energy security with less reliance on imported fuel supplies

Find out more
Read our full Energy Strategy and delivery plan here 

 
westyorks-ca.gov.uk                                                

Twitter: @westyorkshireca                                     

Enquiries: @westyorkshire-ca.gov.uk

Tel: +44 (0) 113 251 7272

#zerocarbonlcr

74



Report to: Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP Board)

Date:  22 November 2018

Subject:  Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy and Delivery Plan

Director(s): Alan Reiss, Director Policy, Strategy and Communications

Author(s): Noel Collings / Jacqui Warren

1. Purpose of this report

1.1. To provide the Board with a report on the development of the Leeds City 
Region Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy and Delivery Plan and to 
submit the document for adoption.

2. Information

Background

2.1. This report presents the Leeds City Region (City Region) Green and Blue 
Infrastructure Strategy and Delivery Plan (GBISDP) for adoption by the Board. 
It supplements the report brought to this Board on the Green and Blue 
Infrastructure Strategy in March 2017.

2.2. This Board provided a mandate in January 2016 to refresh the City Region 
approach to green and blue infrastructure in light of the 2015 Boxing Day 
floods, acknowledging the beneficial effect it can have in mitigating and 
adapting to the impacts of flooding. 

2.3. This Board also recognised the additional wide ranging additional benefits that 
green and blue infrastructure can provide e.g. mitigation and adaptation to the 
effects of climate change, improved health and wellbeing, increased land 
values.

2.4. The GBISDP is a named delivery plan of the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) 
and is aligned with current thinking on the emerging Local Inclusive Industrial 
Strategy (LIIS) and policy framework for the City Region (Appendix 1).

2.5. The GBISDP was split into two elements; the strategy and the delivery plan.

75

Agenda Item 8



Strategy

2.6. The Strategy element of the GBISDP established a vision, five interconnected 
aims and seven priorities (Appendix 2). 

2.7. Over 50 organisations from across the City Region with an interest or 
influence over the delivery of green infrastructure measures contributed to the 
development of the vision, aims and priorities.

2.8. This Board approved the Strategy in March 2017.

Delivery Plan

2.9. The development of the Delivery Plan was led by a convening partner for each 
priority whose role was to bring together relevant partners, collate current and 
planned actions, and identify future interventions. 

2.10. Convening partners identified a long list of over 160 actions across the seven 
priorities ranging from those which are currently being developed to brand new 
interventions.

2.11. Prioritisation of the 160 plus actions was undertaken according to local and 
national strategic fit, deliverability and impact. From this process a shortlist of 
12 actions have been identified for delivery as part of the Delivery Plan over 
the next five years:

 Natural flood management programme: Coordination of the 
identification and delivery of the future natural flood management 
pipeline in the City Region.

 Inclusive growth integration programme: Integration of inclusive 
growth principles, including Green Streets, Healthy Streets, into project 
appraisal processes across the Combined Authority and local 
authorities.

 Network of off-road / safe cycling and walking routes: Programme 
to increase the number of off-road and / or largely safe cycling and 
walking routes in the City Region.

 Leeds City Region green and blue infrastructure map: Production of 
a City Region green and blue infrastructure map, linking into the Leeds 
City Region Infrastructure Map, and helping to embed green and blue 
infrastructure into new developments and infrastructure projects.

 Green and blue infrastructure revenue identification and liability 
reduction: Development of an approach to identify new revenue 
funding for the ongoing maintenance of green and blue infrastructure 
(seen as a key barrier to the implementation of green and blue 
infrastructure) at a local authority level.

 White Rose Forest plan: Setting out how the White Rose Forest will 
expand and deliver on its share of the Northern Forest commitments.

76



 Peatland restoration programme: Links partners and initiatives 
across the City Region to map, plan, prioritise and secure funding for 
post-2020 peatland restoration.

 Post-Brexit agricultural and environmental policy and support: 
Agree preferred options for policy / mechanisms to provide agricultural 
and environmental benefits in the City Region post-Brexit, including 
potential devolution funding and in line with the recently published 
Agriculture Bill 2018. 

 Green and blue infrastructure jobs, skills and GVA assessment: 
Production of the evidence base relating to jobs, skills (including 
shortages) and GVA of the green and blue infrastructure sector in the 
City Region. Will also identify future potential opportunities relating to 
green and blue infrastructure.

 Green and blue infrastructure skills programme: Development of 
opportunities for providing and developing skills within the green and 
blue infrastructure sector in the City Region.

 Green and blue infrastructure planning policy consistency: 
Exploration of how planning policies and guidance on green and blue 
infrastructure could be more consistent across the City Region.

 Green and blue infrastructure resource targeting: Development of 
mechanisms that allow resources for green and blue infrastructure 
improvements to be focussed on areas of greatest need.

2.12. Appendix 3 is a draft summary of the Strategy and Delivery Plan.

Project development, coordination and delivery

2.13. During consultation with partners on the shortlist of actions it became obvious 
that there limited resource within partner organisation to fully commit to their 
delivery.

2.14. Despite some achievements by partners a similar issue was experienced in 
attempting to deliver the previous Green Infrastructure Strategy (produced in 
2010) in the City Region.

2.15. To mitigate the limited resources to deliver within partner organisations, a 
proposal to secure a shared resource is being explored. 

2.16. Monitoring of progress will be through the Green Economy Panel via its major 
projects update provided on a quarterly basis. A more detailed review of 
progress will be undertaken after two years.

Next steps 

2.16 The following table highlights the next steps for the GBISDP.

77



Action Timescale 

Approval of the GBISDP from the 
Combined Authority

December 2018

Develop and gain commitment for a 
shared delivery resource

End of December 2018

Commence work on the Delivery 
Plan’s 12 prioritised projects 

April 2019 

3. Financial implications

3.1. There will be financial implications for the Combined Authority of both 
contributing to a shared resource and delivering the projects identified. Further 
work will be undertaken to understand the scale of the financial ask.

3.2. An initial contribution from the Combined Authority for a shared resource has 
been included in the 2019/20 budget planning process. This will be further 
refined as more details are developed around the shared resource.

4. Legal implications

4.1. No legal and compliance implications have been identified.

5. Staffing implications

5.1. There could be potential staffing implications depending on further discussions 
with partners and any future decisions made. Further work will be undertaken 
to understand what staffing implications could arise.

6. External consultees

6.1. Over 50 organisations have been involved in the development of the GBISDP, 
including Yorkshire Water, Environment Agency, Forestry Commission, 
Natural England and local authorities.

7. Recommendations

7.1. That the Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy and Delivery Plan be adopted.

8. Background documents

8.1. None.

9. Appendices

Appendix 1 – Contribution to achieving the key challenges of the LIIS

Appendix 2 – Green and blue infrastructure vision, aims and priorities

Appendix 3 – Draft Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy and Delivery Plan 

78



 
 

Appendix 1 – Contribution to achieving the key challenges of the LIIS 

Key challenges for the City 
Region 

How can the Green Infrastructure 
Strategy and Delivery Plan help to tackle 
these? 

Productivity gap is increasing By supporting the key drivers of productivity 
including skills, innovation, investment and 
enterprise by creating new business and 
upskilling opportunities. 
By enhancing the City Region’s 
attractiveness and profile by raising the 
quality of developments and town / city 
centres, and improving an accessible green 
and blue infrastructure network. 
By providing the environment that enables 
businesses to attract talent and investment. 

Innovation and research and 
development are very low 

By connecting green and blue infrastructure 
expertise in universities and other 
institutions to business growth and the 
development of key projects e.g. energy, 
planning, engineering, construction.     

Living standards have stalled By boosting quality of place, leisure and 
amenity aspects of quality of life and living 
standards. 
By encouraging high quality development, 
reducing flood risk on businesses, and 
supporting business and jobs growth. 

Stubborn deprivation exists By prioritising access to, and improvement 
of, green and blue infrastructure in areas of 
deprivation and poor health. 
By creating opportunities for work 
experience, employment and 
apprenticeships. 
By improving air quality, mental health and 
physical activity. 

 

79

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 – Green and blue infrastructure vision, aims and priorities 

Vision
Everybody in the City Region is within easy reach of an outstanding and well used 

network of green and blue infrastructure that reduces flood risks and supports health, the 
economy, the environment and a superb quality of life.

Aims

1. Effective water management and flood risk reduction
2. Build green and blue infrastructure into physical development and 

housing
3. Enhance green and blue corridors and networks

4. Heighten community access to / enjoyment of green and blue 
infrastructure

5. Plant and manage more trees and woodlands
6. Restore the uplands and manage them sustainably

7. Business growth, jobs, skills, and education

Priorities

Inclusive growth 
and resilience

Flood risk 
reduction

Quality places 
(people and 
investment)

Health and 
wellbeing

Wildlife and 
habitats

Climate change, 
air, and water 

quality

 

 

81

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Leeds City Region  
Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy 
Executive summary

1. Introduction
Our region’s green spaces and waterways are among its defining characteristics. This strategy and delivery plan sets 
out how we will make the most of the region’s amazing natural assets to help our economy prosper, enable people to 
enjoy a great quality of life, and combat the effects of climate change.

As a result of this strategy we will ensure that everyone in Leeds City Region has easy access to a high-quality, safe 
and well-used network of footpaths, cycleways, green spaces, waterways and wildlife habitats. This “green and 
blue infrastructure” will contribute towards a strong economy, a sustainable environment and outstanding quality 
of life.

The actions we and our partners across the region will deliver in response to this strategy will also contribute to our 
ultimate goal, set out in our Strategic Economic Plan, of making Leeds City Region a zero carbon energy economy 
underpinned by high quality green and blue infrastructure.

2. Where we are now: our strengths and challenges
From our three national parks, to our world-class cycling infrastructure, to our canals, which have transported 
goods from the Industrial Revolution to the present day, our region is known nationally and internationally for the 
quality of its green and blue infrastructure.

Despite these well-known strengths, we also face a number of challenges in ensuring our natural assets play their 
full part in supporting economic growth that benefits everyone in our region, and in helping us respond to the 
consequences of rising global temperatures and the impact it brings.

Our strengths:

• Unique in England in having large urban areas in close proximity to a 
high-quality natural environment.

• Large number of natural designations ranging from the Yorkshire Dales 
National Park and Nidderdale Area of Outstanding Beauty to Sites of 
Special Scientific Interest and Local Wildlife Sites

• Strong green and blue infrastructure sector with interest ranging from 
large national organisations to small community groups

• Excellent cycling and walking provision, including the country’s only 
segretated cycleway linking two major cities – the 23km Leeds-Bradford 
cycle superhighway

83

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 3



Leeds City Region Green and Blue Infrastructure | Executive Summary

4. How we will get there: our priorities
To achieve our ambitions we will focus on seven priority action areas:

1. Effective water management and flood risk reduction – developing natural flood 
management programmes and drainage solutions

2. Build green and blue infrastructure into physical development and housing –  
creating vibrant, healthy and inspiring places where people want to live, work and invest

3. Enhance green and blue corridors and networks – integrating green and blue 
infrastructure within the transport routes that link our towns, cities and rural areas

4. Improve community access to and enjoyment of green and blue infrastructure –  
building healthier, more environmentally sustainable communities

5. Plant and manage more trees and woodlands – improving air quality, reducing carbon 
emissions and creating a greener, even more attractive region

6. Restore the uplands and manage them sustainably – improving natural flood 
management, carbon storage and providing an agricultural system that works for the region

7. Business growth, jobs, skills and education – demonstrating the economic benefits of 
investing in green and blue infrastructure and developing skills and job opportunities in 
green occupations such as land management, agriculture, forestry, parks and gardens

3. Where we want to be: our vision

• Over 63,000 homes and more than 27,000 
businesses at some degree of flood risk

• 7,385 homes and 4,698 businesses at a high risk of 
flooding

• Less than 17 percent of City Region’s blanket bog 
peatlands are in good condition

• Tree cover lower than the national average of 10% 

• Areas of deprivation with poor access to green and 
blue spaces

• Long-term uncertainty over maintenance of, and 
funding for, green and blue infrastructure 

• Poor integration of green and blue infrastructure 
into new housing and other developments

• Significant issues related to physical and mental 
health

• Uncertainty over agricultural and environmental 
policy and support after Brexit and the effect this 
will have on businesses across the City Region

• Uncertainty around support for peatland restoration 
after 2020 once EU funding is withdrawn

• Conventional economic appraisals to make the case 
for investment in new developments do not take 
into account green and blue infrastructure 

• Size of the green and blue infrastructure sector in 
terms of economic output and people employed 
is unknown

Everybody in the City Region is within easy reach of an outstanding and well used 
network of green and blue infrastructure that reduces flood risks and supports 
health, the economy, the environment and a superb quality of life.

The challenges we must address:

84



5. Key projects and actions

These are the key projects and actions that will enable us to meet our priorities:

Leeds City Region  
natural flood  
management programme

Leeds City Region 
green and blue 
infrastructure map

Peatland 
restoration 
programme

Green and blue 
infrastructure skills 
programme

Inclusive growth  
integration

Green and blue 
infrastructure 
funding

Post-Brexit 
agricultural and 
environmental policy

Consistency of green
and blue infrastructure 
planning policy

Green and blue 
infrastructure 
resource targeting

Network of off-road, 
safe cycling and 
walking routes

White Rose 
Forest plan

Green and blue 
infrastructure jobs, 
skills and GVA 
assessment

Identify and deliver a pipeline 
of natural flood management 
projects to reduce the risk and 
impact of flooding in the region

Understand the full picture of 
green and blue infrastructure 
provision across the region 
by developing a City 
Region-wide green and blue 
infrastructure map

Map, plan and prioritise 
peatland restoration projects 
across the City Region and 
identify funding beyond 2020

Create opportunities for 
people to develop skills 
relevant to green and blue 
infrastructure-related jobs

Embed inclusive growth 
principles – including green 
and blue infrastructure and 
health and wellbeing – into 
the appraisal of capital  
development projects

Identify funding for the 
development and maintenance 
of green and blue infrastructure 
(this is a major barrier currently)

Agree policies and other 
mechanisms to promote 
environmental and agricultural 
benefits in Leeds City Region 
after Brexit, including through 
devolution

Explore how such policies 
could be more consistent 
across the City Region

Develop mechanisms to focus 
green and blue infrastructure 
investment in the areas of 
greatest need

Increase the number of  
off-road and / or largely safe 
cycling and walking routes in 
the City Region

Set out how the White Rose 
Forest in Yorkshire will achieve 
its share of commitments to 
creating a Northern Forest

Better understand the evidence 
relating to jobs, skills and 
economic output within the 
green and blue infrastructure 
sector

Leeds City Region Green and Blue Infrastructure | Executive Summary

85



6. How the strategy will make a difference

Benefits of delivering this strategy for people and businesses in the region will include:

• Increased economic growth and productivity

• Reduced risk and economic impact of flooding across the City Region 

• Greener, more attractive places that attract investment and talent

• A healthier, more productive workforce

• Increased property values 

Inclusive growth that benefits everyone

• Improved health and wellbeing among residents 

• Greener, more attractive places to live in

• Increased physical activity leading to lower obesity levels and fewer 
serious diseases

• More opportunities to bring communities together

 
Reduced carbon emissions

• Reduced carbon emissions and improved carbon storage potential

• Improved air and water quality

Leeds City Region Green and Blue Infrastructure | Executive Summary

Find out more
Read our full Energy Strategy and delivery plan here 

 
westyorks-ca.gov.uk                                                

Twitter: @westyorkshireca                                     

Enquiries: @westyorkshire-ca.gov.uk

Tel: +44 (0) 113 251 7272

#zerocarbonlcr

86



Report to: Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP Board)

Date:  22 November 2018

Subject:  Digital Framework

Director: Alan Reiss, Director of Policy, Strategy and Communications

Author(s): Sarah Bowes

1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To provide LEP Board with an update on the development of the Leeds City 
Region Digital Framework and seek endorsement from LEP Board for the 
adoption of the Framework.

2. Information

Background

2.1 Over the last 12 months work has been progressing to develop a Digital 
Strategy for the whole of the City Region.

2.2 Desk research and evidence gathering took place early in 2018. In March a 
series of facilitated pre-consultation workshops took place to test out some of 
the emerging thinking to date. These brought small groups of key stakeholders 
together in advance of any proposals being shared with a wider audience. 

2.3 The overall ambition is for the Digital Framework is to provide a framework for 
investment and a collective narrative/ ambition for ‘digital’ across the whole 
City Region.

2.4 The Framework sets out to articulate an approach to the digital economy and 
to the development of digital capability across the City Region’s population 
and institutions that sets the direction of travel and encourages all the other 
actors in the region to align with both the LEP and the Combined Authority and 
each other.

2.5 The golden thread running through the Digital Framework is people – lives 
transformed by digital tech. To ensure as much buy in and support to the 
Framework from people who will ultimately be impacted by it, the online 
consultation was launched in July using the Combined Authority’s new 
Engagement Hub Your Voice. The consultation provided a starter for ten in 

87

Agenda Item 9



terms of ambition and suggested interventions, with a view to gathering much 
wider input to shape the Framework.

2.6 The online consultation was supported by a focused communications and 
marketing campaign which included the use of social media to share blogs, 
videos, polls of the week, Yorkshire Post articles, LEP newsletter, local 
authorities. A face to face event was also held in Holmfirth. 

Consultation responses

2.7 Over 100 responses to the survey were received. 75% of responses were from 
individuals, 14% from businesses and 11% from organisations.

2.8 Responses were received from every district, although numbers vary 
significantly across the City Region: 

District % of responses

Leeds 36
Bradford 18
Kirklees 9
Barnsley 9
Wakefield 7
Calderdale 3
York 3
Harrogate 2
Selby 2
Craven 1
Not stated 11

 
2.9 The key question asked was to gauge the level of support for the proposed 

ambitions and interventions and identify any areas where this needed 
changing. ‘Do you agree with the proposed ambition and interventions’? This 
was followed up with ‘please provide a comment to explain your answer’. 

 Digital opportunities for all businesses: 85% of respondents either strongly 
agreed or agreed. No one disagreed or strongly disagreed.

 Digital skills for all: 95% of respondents either strongly agreed. One 
respondent strongly disagreed.

 Strong digital sector: 89% of respondents either strongly agreed or agreed. 
Two respondents disagreed and strongly disagreed.

 World class digital infrastructure: 87% of respondents stated that they 
strongly agreed or agreed. 1 respondent strongly disagreed. 

 Using tech for good: 86% of respondents either strongly agreed. Two 
respondents disagreed. 

88



2.10 Feedback received through the consultation process has now been 
incorporated into the revised framework. The high level ambition statements 
can be found in appendix 1. Further engagement will take place on specific 
elements of the framework as action plans are developed. 

Next steps

2.11 In line with WYCAs approach to developing agile and flexible policy products, 
LEP Board are asked to endorse the overarching outcomes and principles of 
the Digital Framework.

2.12 Working groups will be established to develop and own action plans to ensure 
the aspirations in the framework are realised, building on existing activity 
taking place across the City Region.

2.13 Each of the five outcomes of the framework will be owned by various existing 
Panels and Boards. Working groups will report directly to Panels. 

Outcome Panel WYCA officer lead
Digital opportunities for 
all businesses 

BIG / ESP Sarah Bowes/Henry Rigg

Digital skills and 
inclusion for all

Skills – ESP*
Inclusion – Inclusive 
Growth and Public 
Policy Panel

Peter Glover / Emma 
Longbottom
James Flanagan/Sarah 
Bowes

Digital Sector BIG Panel Tony Corby/ Sarah Bowes
World class 
infrastructure

Place Panel Justin Wilson

Tech for good BIG Panel / LEP 
Board

Sarah Bowes/ Kate Gifford/ 
Tony Corby

*Or Digital Skills Partnership if application successful.

2.14 LEP Board has overall accountability for the strategy, and it is proposed a 
working group of LEP members (Rashik Parmar, Adam Beaumont, Andrew 
Wright, Nic Greenan, along with Kersten England as lead Chief Executive) 
should be convened to provide a holistic overview of activity. 

2.15 To support the adoption of the new Digital Framework, the team are working 
on a digital place narrative to promote Leeds City Region Transformed by 
Tech. This will set the people aspect of digital at its centre, whilst showcasing 
existing strengths and future opportunities for the digital tech City Region.

3. Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications in endorsing this strategy. Specific activities 
which require funding are likely to be identified through the working groups 

89



and where these require Combined Authority funding these will be considered 
as part of the budget planning process.

4. Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report

5. Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no direct staffing implications arising from this report. The staff 
identified above are already involved in activity under the five outcomes.

6. External Consultees

6.1 Consultation and engagement has taken place through the following routes: 
Chief Executives; BIG Panel; ESP; private sector pre consultation workshops; 
local authority workshops; public engagement via YourVoice; twitter;linkedin.

7. Recommendations

7.1 That LEP Board endorse the overarching outcomes and principles of the 
Digital Framework.

7.2 That LEP Board support the proposal for a Digital Working Group comprised 
of LEP Board Digital Champions to provide a holistic overview of activity.

8. Background Documents

8.1 None

9. Appendices

9.1 Appendix 1 Digital Framework ambitions 

90



Digital for all businesses

Ambition: 

All our businesses will be equipped to exploit new digital technologies 
and take advantage of the opportunities for business growth through 
data.

Principles: 

Our prosperity and success depends on ensuring all our businesses 
have the opportunities to access and exploit the best digital technology 
and data to drive innovation and productivity. We will work to stimulate, 
encourage and enable the business leadership, behaviour changes and 
cultural shift needed to embrace the 4th industrial revolution.

91

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 1

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The DigiChampz project highlighted the amazing amount of people across the region making and producing things at home or in small workshops. We need to find ways to bring SOHO (small office/home office) enterprise together, and support them. One way we can do this is to encourage use of locally-branded e-commerce platforms to support local entrepreneurs. 



Digital skills for all 

Ambition: 

Everyone in the City Region has the opportunity to develop the digital 
skills they need to flourish in the new digital economy.

Principle: To develop an evolving and joined up pipeline for digital skills 
to meet the needs of businesses and citizens:

-Inclusion / basic skills: Ensure everyone has basic digital capability 
to ensure no one is excluded from opportunities because of a lack 
of skills and can operate in a digital society.
-General skills: Look at opportunities for improving outcomes for 
those who have basic digital skills, but lack the confidence and 
knowledge to make the most of the digital economy, whether at work 
or beyond.
-Advanced skills: Ensure LCR develops, attracts and retains the 
talent needed for higher skilled roles (E.g. coding).

92

Presenter_1
Presentation Notes
UK's top credit union is based in South Yorkshire and cover the whole of the East Pennines region up to Newcastle. They have 30,000 members. How can we get up-skill their members, many of whom are already tech savvy (many have mobile phones).Can Digital Eagles help to sponsor STEM workshops in local libraries (our knowledge hubs that we may lose if not careful due to local government cuts) aimed at youngsters?Can we hold tech competitions for local people to solve other issues we face? Litter is a massive issue - it's not right that our economic strategy fails to address the problem when (1) we want more people to visit our outstanding scenery, and (2) live, (3) work and (4) play across the region. Are there other issues local communities are facing where a tech solution may be possible? Let's ask the question and get some innovative ideas back.



The digital service sector to enable the rest
Ambition: 

To become the leading digital services City Region and the best place to 
start and grow a digital technology business

Principle: 

To support our existing business base and grow the ecosystem of digital 
tech businesses across the City Region, building on existing strengths 
around Fintech, Data, Artificial Intelligence and Cyber Security.

93



World class digital infrastructure 
Ambition:

To build on existing strengths to further develop a globally competitive 
digital infrastructure delivered through public, private and community 
activity.

Principle: 

The development of the essential underlying enabling infrastructure 
across the City Region stimulated by activities to upskill business, 
employees and citizens to exploit and maximise impact, creating an 
environment which encourages further investment in infrastructure, from 
businesses and inward investors.

94

Presenter_2
Presentation Notes
We are at the heart of one of the most dependable, consistent and resilient land masses in the world - they are called the Pennines! We need to be convincing large global data users (e.g. Google) to build low profile eco-friendly data centres in our river valleys, including the Holme Valley. Centres powered by our local reservoirs and cooled by Pennine winds etc. Water runs down hill all the time through reservoir service tunnels (not just on the reservoir overflows -let's hydro-electric them).We have a good legal system adopted by many countries around the world, including USA, India and Canada. We speak English - still the business language, have a stable democracy (evolved and tested over 1,000 years) and geographically sit on Greenwich Mean Time - we can trade both ends of the world during our business day. Digital is changing this, of course. Despite digital, businesses still do deals with business through meetings and eye-balling potential partners.



Tech for good

Ambition: 

Leeds City Region, open for innovation, globally relevant and 
proactively embracing and exploiting technology and data to 
improve peoples lives. 

Principles: 

We will adopt a people first approach to ’ smart city thinking’, 
continuing to develop our approach as a City Region which 
proactively embraces and exploits technology and data 
effectively and intelligently to improve outcomes for all 
citizens across LCR.

To create the culture in which we actively embrace new 
technologies and use data to solve our biggest problems and 
create new economic opportunities.

95

Presenter_3
Presentation Notes
We need to build smarter local communities because of the funding crisis in local government. What can digital do to help with issues such as traffic congestion, rail overcrowding, commuter poverty, litter and dog fouling, supporting shops and businesses in villages and rural town centres?Can we encourage more remote/home working? Give people fast, robust and reliable broadband to meet ever changing work and play behaviours. I'm working with partners on a new Pennine Pound to encourage people to spend their money locally, support local trades and also deal with cashflow problem by encouraging early payments to settle accounts. What can digital do to replace banks that are closing down? More cash machines? Or structures, processes etc to help smaller businesses get access to finance through credit unions etc. Can we use digital to get people off streets, off benefits and into work? Is the Gig economy such a bad thing? The way we work is changing, we're more mobile. Let's work with pubs and cafes to support remote working by e.g having a dedicated business area with access to virtual assistants and networked services.This locks into mental health issues and isolation/loneliness. This region is full of countryside - a resource we should use to ensure we balance the 'digital' framework with the real world in which we live.



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP Board)

Date:  22 November 2018

Subject:  Culture, Sport and Major Events 

Director: Mary Weastell, Chief Executive, City of York Council & Alan Reiss, 
Director of Policy, Strategy and Communications

Author(s): Jonathan Skinner

1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To inform LEP Board Members of ongoing activity where City Region partners 
work together to unlock the full potential of culture, sport and major events to 
deliver the City Region’s vision, vibrant places and a high quality citizen 
experience offer that is open to all.   This update covers in particular:

a) The position of culture, sport and major events in City Region strategy 
and future oversight by the Place Panel

b) Progress in securing funding, developing City Region services and 
influencing work with strategic funders

c) Connecting ambitious locally-led programmes that deliver the economic 
and social priorities of each place 

d) Activity in creative industries linked to culture, sport and major events. 

2. Information

Background and strategic position

2.1 The LEP Board and Combined Authority’s decision to broaden the City Region 
policy range has resulted in a new theme of citizen experience and quality of 
life.  This recognises the role that culture, sport and major events play in 
achieving the strategic vision and addressing the priorities of boosting 
productivity and enabling inclusive growth.     

2.2 By partners working together where it makes sense to do so, the aims are to:
 Deliver a high quality of life that attracts and retains residents
 Regenerate places by developing major cultural anchor assets
 Provide alternative routes to work and training for people at risk of 

being disconnected
 Drive tourism, supporting the visitor economy
 Prompt diversity of thought and perspectives to drive innovation 

across all industries in the City Region. 

97

Agenda Item 10



2.3 As well as pursuing these specific outcomes, supporting culture, sport and major 
events is also driven through cross-cutting work in other areas of strategy:

 The Combined Authority, working in partnership with the LEP, is 
developing plans for transformed connectivity for the City Region to 
create a network fit for the future which caters for future demand and 
maximises the opportunities that come with high speed rail (HS2).  
Developing a series of inclusive growth corridors will help enable all 
communities to benefit from growth.  This also presents an opportunity 
to identify the priority ‘places to connect’ across the region and 
consideration is being given to how to connect a range of priorities 
including cultural assets, education establishments and employment 
and housing sites. A priority is to create improved accessibility to public 
transport in areas which are currently poorly served and have high 
levels of deprivation, enabling more people to travel more easily to 
more places across the City Region.

 Rethinking approaches to lifelong learning to show how people can 
benefit from experiencing culture and arts throughout their education, 
stimulating ingenuity in working lives.  This also applies to skills 
priorities and career advice. 

 Health and wellbeing (both physical and mental) can be improved by 
making the most of our culture and sporting assets. 

2.4 The LEP Board received an update (13 June 2018) on its culture, sport and 
major events action plan.  That included particular detail about how partners 
have helped map the City Region’s significant culture and sport assets and 
this is being incorporated to highlight the high quality of life across new inward 
investment activity.  This report provides further information about the other 
aspects of the action plan. 

Securing funding and strengthening services

2.5 Since agreeing the action plan in November 2017, the LEP and its partner 
local authorities have secured and allocated investment of £12.2 million into 
cultural and major event activity.  This includes:

 The LEP securing £4 million for the rejuvenation of the Bradford Odeon

 Investment from the City Region Business Rates Pool, including via a 
specific cultural dimension.  This has led to projects including the Music 
District in Kirklees, Transforming Leeds events, the provision of multi-
use art event space in Rutland Mills, Wakefield and York’s castle 
gateway’s events programme. 

2.6 The City Region has also been helping shape the strategic activity of other 
major public funders of arts and heritage activity, with:

 LEP Chair Roger Marsh participating in discussions with Heritage 
Lottery Chair and Chief Executive as it develops its new 5 year 
programme to be launched in 2019.

98



 Arts Council England, which invests public funds in cultural and arts-led 
development, is consulting on its approach to ‘the next ten years’1. The 
LEP is able to shape this approach, including via Cllr Susan Hinchcliffe, 
Combined Authority Chair and Leader of Bradford Council, who is now 
a member of the North Area Council of Arts Council England.  

2.7 The Leeds City Region has been selected to pilot an approach to promote 
creative skills and careers to reach 300,000 young people across Yorkshire 
and The Humber, part of the sector deal for creative industries announced as 
part of Government’s modern industrial strategy.  The five year Creative 
Careers Pilot seeks to convene partners, including the Careers and Enterprise 
Company and creative industries, to develop an online toolkit/portal that will 
help teachers, parents and young people with information on: 

 An overview of the sector, provided by The Burberry Foundation 
 Creative industry sub-sectors, regional businesses and entrepreneurs 

and events to learn more
 Careers teaching resources, helping upskill 500 teachers 
 Young people telling their own stories in case studies and videos.

This complements existing private sector-led activity that relates to support 
provided by the LEP. Burberry, for example - which received support for its 
transformational investment in the City Region - is launching a four-year 
Burberry Inspire in-school programme2 to understand how deep experience of 
the arts can have a positive effect on young people’s lives and driving 
inclusive growth.

2.8 In order to better understand how culture, sport and major events contribute to 
a high quality of life across the City Region, the Combined Authority is, 
working in partnership with the LEP, leading the development of a household 
survey.  This will provide valuable intelligence about what different cohorts of 
society feel about their current citizen experience, and opportunities for 
improvement. This broader insight will also be used to strengthen the City 
Region’s approach to project assessment and evaluation. The Combined 
Authority’s research and assurance teams will develop a more structured 
approach to the assessment of culture and sport projects based on priority 
outcomes like inclusive growth and productivity using better quality evidence 
from sources like the household survey. 

2.9 Following partners’ identification of significant cultural and sporting assets and 
major events, that information has enriched the City Region’s inward 
investment activity.  By demonstrating the high quality of life available in the 
City Region, investors have confidence about attracting skilled and mobile 
workers, further helping to grow the economy.  This also mirrors work, led by 
local authorities, across other parts of Yorkshire that have sought to show the 
variety of assets across a wider area.  

1 https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/nexttenyears 
2 https://www.burberryplc.com/en/news-and-media/press-releases/responsibility/2018/the-burberry-
foundation-launches-first-in-school-arts-and-cultur.html 

99

https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/nexttenyears
https://www.burberryplc.com/en/news-and-media/press-releases/responsibility/2018/the-burberry-foundation-launches-first-in-school-arts-and-cultur.html
https://www.burberryplc.com/en/news-and-media/press-releases/responsibility/2018/the-burberry-foundation-launches-first-in-school-arts-and-cultur.html


2.10 A thriving network of smaller cultural organisations also helps build a diverse 
cultural offer with significant community reach.  With local place leaders best 
placed to help nurture this and no discrete City Region resource, the focus is 
instead on securing benefits from national funding streams – such as Nesta’s 
£3.7 million Arts Impact Fund3.  Partners will closely monitor the results of 
such innovative, returnable investment, in order to shape new local 
approaches.  

Collaborative leadership and building from place priorities

2.11    The LEP, working with the Combined Authority and lead chief executive for 
culture and tourism, have convened partners to better share information and 
shape how best to achieve collective aims.  This has resulted in networks of 
senior local authority officers and partners from major strategic funders to 
determine how local priorities can be delivered faster and ensure impact is 
maximised across the region.  These networks will also challenge and make 
links across all aspects of the City Region’s policy framework to harness the 
power of culture, sport and major events (e.g. in the skills system, or the 
accessibility of major cultural assets to people on low incomes).  

2.12    As leaders of place, local authorities are best placed to prioritise and drive 
culture-led regeneration.  Accordingly, most City Region authorities submitted 
expressions of interest for the Cultural Development Fund, announced as part 
of the creative industries sector deal which forms part of Government’s 
modern industrial strategy, and which will award grants (between £3 million - 
£7 million) to places across England.  From over 90 initial expressions of 
interest nationwide, Leeds and Wakefield have been invited to submit a full 
proposal, with Ministers expected to select the successful places (it is 
expected there will be around five) in the new year. 

2.13    The strong response of local authorities to the Cultural Development Fund 
provides an excellent foundation for the ongoing development of the City 
Region’s culture and experience narrative.  Recognising this opportunity, and 
to fill a gap in capacity and expertise within the Combined Authority, the West 
Yorkshire and York local authorities, plus Arts Council England, Heritage 
Lottery Fund and Yorkshire Sport Foundation have agreed to support a time-
limited, part-time secondment beginning early in 2019 for a senior leader to 
build a strategic narrative about the City Region’s offer and opportunities. 

2.14 This will ensure that culture and citizen experience is fully embedded within 
the City Region’s emerging local inclusive industrial strategy (expected to be 
completed in early 2020), with the Place Panel leading activity to ensure the 
quality of life and citizen experience .  Additionally, the secondee will help 
partners set clearer priorities and forge stronger partnerships with major 
funders that better align investment around joint outcomes, including inclusive 
growth and better productivity. 

3 https://www.nesta.org.uk/news/nesta-launches-its-latest-social-impact-investment-fund-help-arts-
cultural-and-creative-organisations-fulfill-their-social-mission/ 

100

https://www.nesta.org.uk/news/nesta-launches-its-latest-social-impact-investment-fund-help-arts-cultural-and-creative-organisations-fulfill-their-social-mission/
https://www.nesta.org.uk/news/nesta-launches-its-latest-social-impact-investment-fund-help-arts-cultural-and-creative-organisations-fulfill-their-social-mission/


2.15 Building on the array of international and local sporting assets and events in 
the City Region, the Yorkshire Sport Foundation is working with district-level 
partnerships to develop and deliver programmes to increase physical activity 
and participation in sport, particularly amongst groups that are more difficult to 
reach.  The recent Active Lives survey showed West Yorkshire to be one of 
only three places in England that have had a significant reduction in inactive 
people over the last two years; estimated to be around 40,000 people moving 
from being inactive (less than 30 minutes per week) to doing more. These 
outcomes help create a healthier workforce with stronger skills, such as 
increased motivation and teamwork.   

Links to other creative industries

2.16 Previous LEP Board discussions have illustrated the importance of a vibrant 
cultural offer to support growth and diversification across the creative 
industries.  The supply of young, diverse and creative skills combined with an 
excellent quality of life have been major themes of activity to secure the City 
Region’s position as the home of Channel 4’s new national headquarters.  
This will unlock a programme of activity to maximise the growth of creative 
industries.   

2.17 In late 2017, the LEP endorsed three university-led submissions to the Arts 
and Humanities Research Council’s (AHRC) creative cluster R&D partnerships 
programme.  This £80 million programme will support nine partnerships across 
Great Britain to bring together world-class research talent with companies and 
organisations from across the UK’s four nations with significant research and 
development investment. The results were announced in September 20184, 
including:

 University of Leeds led bid to transform the fashion industry’s capacity 
for creative innovation and reducing lead times and waste by embracing 
digital technologies in the design process 

 University of York led bid to establish the screen industries of Yorkshire 
and the Humber as a centre of excellence in immersive and interactive 
storytelling.

2.18 An exciting range of cultural, sporting and major events also acts as a 
compelling destination offer to drive tourism.  The local authority leaders on 
the City Region’s Business Rates Pool have asked the Combined Authority to 
lead, with Welcome to Yorkshire, a joint report to go to the Business Rates 
Panel and Welcome to Yorkshire Board that will set out the support and 
investment received to date and the future ambitious direction of Welcome to 
Yorkshire, which builds on the success of the brand to date.

3. Financial Implications

3.1 There are no direction financial implications arising from this report.

4 https://ahrc.ukri.org/newsevents/news/r-d-investment-set-to-provide-step-up-for-creative-industries/#ref1  

101

https://ahrc.ukri.org/newsevents/news/r-d-investment-set-to-provide-step-up-for-creative-industries/#ref1


4. Legal Implications

4.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. 

5. Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no direct staffing implications arising from this report.  

6. External Consultees

6.1 There have been no external consultations in developing this report. 

7. Recommendations

7.1 The LEP Board endorses the report as an overview of City Region activity on 
culture, sport and major events, notes that partners have come together to 
support a secondment that will further drive this work, and that the Place Panel 
will direct future activity on culture, sport and major events.     

8. Background Documents

8.1 LEP Board – 20 September 2018 (Item 10 – Channel 4)

LEP Board – 13 June 2018 (Item 21 – Culture, Sport and Major Events in City 
Region Strategy)

LEP Board – 29 November 2017 (Item 10 – Role of Culture and Sport in City 
Region Strategy)

9. Appendices

None.

102



Report to: Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP Board)

Date:  22 November 2018

Subject:  Trade and Investment 

Director(s): Sue Cooke, Executive Head of Economic Services

Author(s): David Shepherd, Head of Trade and Investment

1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To update the LEP Board on the work of the Trade and Investment team in 
partnership with local authorities and to seek input on forward priorities.

2. Information

Sector and International Business Development Activity

2.1 Showcasing Leeds City Region as an investment destination is a key function 
of the LEP. Delivering the region’s key messages globally on a sector and 
place perspective is important in attracting new inward investment and 
building on the City Region’s growing reputation as a place to do business.  
This includes a series of high profile overseas visits and targeted exhibitions in 
support of the LEP’s priority sectors and markets. 

China and Hong Kong

2.2 In September 2018, the Leeds City Region undertook an outbound mission to 
China and Hong Kong. The delegation was led by Cllr Judith Blake, Leader of 
Leeds City Council, Cllr Pandor, Leader of Kirklees Council, Steve Hartley, 
Strategic Director - Place for Bradford Council, and Ben Still, Chief Executive 
of Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership. The visit showcased the 
strengths of the Leeds City Region in partnership with key representatives 
from our leading universities and businesses. 

2.3 The delegation visit focused on three locations: Hangzhou, Qingdao and Hong 
Kong. There are strong existing links between these cities and parts of the City 
Region, including major investments from businesses headquartered in these 
Chinese cities and increasingly strong civic and business links. 

2.4 Over the duration of the eight day programme of activity in China and Hong 
Kong 26 events were held – including four business roundtables and 
numerous one-to-one meetings with influential intermediaries, potential 
investors and government organisations. In total, the delegation met with over 

103

Agenda Item 11



100 key business and government contacts and signed four Memoranda of 
Understanding (MOU) with CCPIT Qingdao, CBIIP, Hangzhou Government 
and the Qingdao West Coast New Area.

2.5 It is expected that the benefits of the visit will include an increase in bilateral 
trade and inward investment opportunities.  

MIPIM UK

2.6 Leeds City Region participated in the 5th annual MIPIM UK event in London. 
The Leeds City Region stand profiled key property and infrastructure 
opportunities and hosted drop in sessions and meetings with local partners. A 
delegation of Chinese investors was welcomed and briefed on the key 
investment opportunities. 

2.7 This year, Leeds City Region increased its prominence on the main 
programme with a number of LEP and local authority colleagues participating 
in ‘thought leadership’ based panel sessions over the two day event. 
Prominent private sector ambassadors also participated including Reed Smith 
(a recent investor in the legal sector) and Get Living which are bringing 
forward major residential opportunities at Leeds South Bank.
 

2.8 A successful networking session was held attracting over 50 invited guests 
featuring a panel discussion on the economy, foreign investment trends and 
Brexit by led by Mark Gregory, Chief Economist at EY, Roger Marsh OBE and 
Cllr Susan Hinchcliffe.

2.9 Key meetings were held with new and existing investors. Sir Ed Lister and 
senior Homes England representatives met with local authorities and housing 
developers on the Leeds City Region stand. Local authority partners in 
attendance held a series of meetings on the stand with developers showing 
interest in opportunities across the region. Wakefield Council also hosted a 
complementary event alongside the main programme for over 40 potential 
investors which was well received. Feedback is now being gathered from 
partners on the effectiveness of the MIPIM UK event.

                           
InnoTrans

2.10 Working in partnership with the Department for International Trade, Leeds City 
Region was part of a UK pavilion at InnoTrans, Berlin in September 2018. 
InnoTrans is the largest rail sector event globally and was attended by over 
140,000 delegates and 3,000 exhibitors.

2.11 The LEP’s Trade and Investment team showcased the region’s strengths and 
growing investment opportunity in the rail sector and was supported by the 
Universities of Leeds and Huddersfield. 

2.12 During this show engagement was secured with a major rail manufacturer 
surrounding the potential for them to locate a new UK design centre in Leeds 
City Region. The show was used to further dialogue with some of the Chinese 

104



organisations met with earlier in the month and as a result a list has been 
developed of potential technology and funding providers who are interested in 
the plans for the future Leeds City Region mass transit system.  

           
Upcoming planned activities

 
SMART City Expo World Congress November 2018 – Barcelona

 Bradford, York and Leeds have agreed to attend
 This event was used to showcase our region’s smart cities capabilities and 

ambitions, including projects that demonstrate how the Leeds City Region 
is embracing Smart City technology

Valve World Expo November 2018 - Dusseldorf 

 International valve trade fair, which presents an excellent opportunity for 
the LEP to provide practical support for businesses in the Leeds City 
Region to showcase their products to overseas buyers

Leeds City region showcase at Arab Health January 2019 – Dubai

 This is the next stage in our business plan to support the medical and life 
sciences sector in the region to maximise the opportunities in the growing 
healthcare market in the Gulf States and on a wider international basis. 

 Largest gathering of healthcare and trade professionals in the Middle East 
and North Africa (MENA) region 

 The LEP attended Arab Health in 2018 as part of a UK delegation 
including local MedTech businesses and made over 100 contacts on the 
Leeds City Region stand 

 The LEP is working again with Medilink to form a stronger City Region 
presence 

Investor Development 

2.13 In partnership with the Department for International Trade (DIT) the LEP 
secured funding for the period April 2018 to March 2019 to carry out investor 
development activity with specific foreign owned companies that currently do 
not have an established relationship with Government. 

2.14 Working with foreign owned businesses enables the LEP and partner local 
authorities to secure increased volumes of investment and jobs whilst 
gathering vital intelligence to help shape future economic strategies and 
approaches. 

2.15 In the first six months of activity (May-October 2018) the team has:
 Identified 105 foreign owned companies in the City Region to engage with 

against a target of 100 -120.
 Held over 40 investor development meetings.
 Generated 26 Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) projects/prospects. 

Examples of FDI projects include:

105



o Swiss manufacturer investing in new machinery to improve resource 
efficiencies and create additional jobs.

o French manufacturing business seeking to expand footprint in the city 
region.

o Automotive supply chain company exploring options to increase 
production capacity in the city region.

o Indian IT company increasing software engineering workforce.

2.16 Companies are sharing business insights with the team, which will help inform 
LEP policy. These include:
 Brexit: views are varied across sectors. Companies are keen to see clarity 

as soon as possible on the UK’s future trading relationship. 
 Exporting: businesses are keen to understand what support DIT can 

provide in exploring new markets. The LEP is providing direct referrals to 
International Trade Advisers at DIT.

 Skills: topics discussed include recruitment and succession planning.

2.17 Looking ahead the LEP is now seeking to secure future funding to retain the 
team of key account managers beyond March 2019 from DIT.

  
Trade

2.18 In the year to June 2018, the value of UK trade in goods exports increased by 
5.4%.  There was an increase in annual export value for seven English 
regions with Yorkshire & the Humber showing an increase of 8.4%. 

2.19 The total number of businesses exporting from the UK increased by 2.2% 
between Q2 2017 and Q2 2018.  The number of businesses in Yorkshire & the 
Humber, however, grew by only 0.2% over the same period. 

2.20 The British Chambers of Commerce Quarterly Economic Survey for Q3 2018 
shows that 19% of manufacturers reported improved export sales in Q3 2018, 
down from +24% in Q2 2018 with 14% of service firms reporting improved 
export sales in Q3 2018, down from +15% in Q2 2018.  Both indicators are 
reported to be at their lowest level since Q4 2016.

2.21 The EEF/BDO Manufacturing Outlook for Q3 2018, however, shows that 
manufacturers are benefitting from improving demand from a number of 
overseas markets, with Europe remaining at the forefront.  Export orders are 
reported to be higher than domestic orders offering an advantage to those 
businesses trading outside of the UK.  Growth is seen to be coming from both 
European markets and North America, the latter particularly in mechanical 
equipment and electronics.  Expectations for the next three months remain 
positive.

2.22 Key LEP activities to promote trade during this quarter have included: 

 The trade and investment delegation to China and Hong Kong which has 
initiated a number of trade related follow-up actions (see above). The LEP 
is now considering further initiatives with the CCPIT and three global e-

106



commerce platforms. The LEP is also considering potential involvement in 
the Business of Design Week which takes place in Hong Kong during 
December 2019 and was recently launched by UK Government.

 The first three events in the series of ‘Doing Business in Europe’ events 
have covered the topics of HR & employment, contracts and legal issues 
and IT and ecommerce.  These are a joint initiative with Enterprise Europe 
Network, DIT and have had expert input from Squire Patton Boggs, 
Walker Morris and Freeman Clarke.  Two further “Doing Business in 
Europe” export events are scheduled for November & December.

2.23 Feedback from the above workshop attendees has been very positive 
commenting that the presentations were of a very high quality and extremely 
useful.  Content from the workshops will be made available on the LEP 
website in the form of practical checklists.  This will help reach a wider 
audience.        

                           
Inward Investment Activities and Performance

2.24    There have been seven new inward investment successes since the last 
report in September.

 Dahua: 10 new jobs. A Chinese owned base for Dahua's video surveillance 
operations 

 UST Global: 50 new jobs. A USA owned digital company opening its first 
digital technology hub in the UK for the digital solutions and service 
provider 

 Overlap Associates: 15 jobs. A Canadian business which has established  
UK offices 

 Thin Cl: 14 jobs. A USA (Silicon Valley) owned firm entering the UK 
through acquisition of talent 

 Pharmerit International: 8 jobs. A Dutch company specialising in health 
economic consultancy projects for Drug and Medical Device companies 
worldwide 

 Channel 4: 300 jobs. Major national broadcaster locating second HQ in the 
region as well as a major new Channel 4 News hub.

 Gama Healthcare: 27 jobs, 8 safeguarded. UK company working on 
antimicrobial solutions. Expansion project to create a new R&D facility.

2.25    A decision by Channel 4 on the location of its National HQ operation was 
announced on 31 October and Leeds City Region successfully secured the 
National HQ (please see appendix 1 for PR and press images). This 
achievement follows a long period of bid development working with a strong 
partnership of public and private sector organisations, including fantastic 
support from the region’s creative, digital and screen industries.  The win has 
generated high levels of media attention and will be a catalyst for attracting 
more interest from within and outside the region, especially in attracting more 
companies to relocate and grow here.

107



2.26 The Trade and Investment team has worked to provide a strong value 
proposition to Talgo, the Spanish rail rolling stock manufacturer bidding for the 
HS2 rolling stock manufacture contract. Unfortunately, the Leeds site was not 
shortlisted for inclusion within Talgo’s final tender submission.

2.27   During November, the LEP will host two overseas delegations in partnership 
with the Department of International Trade, local businesses and education 
partners: 
 Nordics Fintech Mission in partnership with Fintech North. 

The delegation with participate in Fintech North’s Northern Powerhouse 
programme which will include a visit to Leeds. There will be opportunity to 
present the business case for investment by fintechs in the Leeds City 
Region.

 Canadian Tech Businesses Northern Powerhouse Mission
The participants on the delegation each work for Canadian tech 
businesses which have plans to invest in the UK in the next 1-2 years. The 
LEP is coordinating a programme to highlight the strengths of the digital 
tech sector which will include participation by SkyBet, University of Leeds 
and recent Canadian investors.

2.28 These opportunities will be used to promote the Digital Inward Investment 
Fund, known as #Welcome, which will also be able to support digital and TV 
production firms moving to Leeds City Region to take advantage of content 
commissioning opportunities from Channel 4.

Planning for 2019/2020

2.29 Combined Authority business planning for next year is in progress including  
the LEP’s trade and inward investment priorities. The key topics of 
consideration for the Trade and Investment plan include: 
 To develop new approaches to increase the level of inward investment 

interest  beyond the core city of Leeds to broaden the impact and increase 
the benefit to the other districts, working in partnership with local 
authorities. This will require a consideration of how to balance market 
interest with rebalancing objectives, as well as opportunities to attract 
Government relocations and other specialist niches which play to district 
strengths.

 To increase the amount of FDI from indigenous firms, through effective 
investor development by our newly established key account management 
team, in particular to support companies to secure and win additional local 
investment post-Brexit.

 To increase the focus of our international trade work by helping companies 
exploit post-Brexit export opportunities, in particular to develop stronger 
links with key emerging markets in particular China and India.

2.30 Comments are particularly welcomed from the LEP Board on these and any 
other priorities to be considered as part of the Trade and Investment plans for 
2019/2020.

108



2.31 The LEP/Combined Authority business planning work is considering how to 
deploy the available resources to deliver the above priorities, once agreed. 
There is a budget working group on which the LEP Chair sits and a desire to 
strengthen the focus on key export markets given Brexit, and so consider how 
to resource this and what activities elsewhere might need to be reduced.

3. Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. The budget 
for the Trade and Investment work programme is determined as part of the 
Combined Authority budget setting process at its forthcoming meetings which 
conclude in February.

4. Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5.        Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report, however 
there may be revisions to staffing needed to respond to the forward plans 
once finalised.

6. External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

7. Recommendations

7.1 That the LEP Board notes the report and welcomes the collective achievement 
in securing the Channel 4 National HQ.

7.2 That the LEP Board comments on the trade and investment priorities flagged 
for 2019/20 including a greater focus on developing emerging markets in 
China and India. 

8. Background Documents

None.

9. Appendices

Appendix 1 – Channel 4 PR and Press images

109



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Channel 4 PR and Press images

111

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



112



113



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP Board)

Date:  22 November 2018

Subject:  Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships

Director: Alan Reiss, Director of Policy, Strategy and Communications

Author(s): Jonathan Skinner 

1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To inform LEP Board Members of the latest position and next steps to 
implement Government’s recommendations for Strengthened Local Enterprise 
Partnerships as a means of positioning the City Region to deliver extraordinary 
economic growth and sustained social transformation.   

2. Information

2.1 At its last meeting on 20 September 2018, the LEP Board noted the outcome 
of Government’s review of LEPs, culminating in recommendations in the 
‘Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships’ paper.  The LEP Board agreed 
to use this opportunity to position the LEP positively to secure the powers and 
funding that enable the City Region to deliver a local inclusive industrial 
strategy where everyone contributes to, and benefits from, growth and boosts 
productivity. 

2.2 Government’s ‘Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships’ paper covers 
improvements in three areas: 

 Geography, and the removal of overlaps
 Leadership and capacity
 Performance and accountability

The LEP Board previously noted how it is positioned against the specific 
recommendations and this report updates on further developments. 

Geography proposal and Government’s response

2.3 After thorough deliberation at its last meeting, the LEP Board agreed its 
preferred geography; that a new LEP is created by combining the York, North 
Yorkshire and East Riding LEP, except for the East Riding, and the Leeds City 
Region Enterprise Partnership, except for Barnsley. In reaching this 
preference, the LEP Board noted that, subject to Government’s policy 
positions and other developments, options for retaining the current geography 

115

Agenda Item 12



(with overlaps) or having a West Yorkshire only geography could be 
appropriate.

2.4 Both neighbouring LEPs with which the LEP overlaps (Sheffield City Region 
and York, North Yorkshire and East Riding) recommended retaining the status 
quo, and strengthening links between LEPs. 

2.5 James Brokenshire MP, the Secretary of State of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government, has convened discussions across LEP Chairs where 
geographies remain unresolved.  These discussions have confirmed: 

 Government is committed to removing overlaps between LEPs without 
exception

 Ministers will discuss with LEP Chairs options for delivering compliant 
geographies, but are not minded to impose mergers where all LEPs 
do not agree.

2.6 Indications are that if a resolution cannot be reached through those further 
discussions then government’s intent will be that those LEPs with an ongoing 
overlapping issue will have restricted access to UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
(UKSPF).  Government would look to confirm this in the UKSPF consultation 
and approach.  This is likely to have a significant adverse effect on the extent 
to which the LEP is able to drive extraordinary economic growth and sustained 
social transformation. 

2.7 At the time of writing, further Ministerial correspondence is expected.  A verbal 
update will be provided to the LEP Board on that and any subsequent 
discussions with stakeholders.

Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships Implementation Plan

2.8 Government required that an implementation plan be submitted by LEPs to 
show how they would make the recommended improvements in the areas of 
Leadership & Capacity and Accountability & Performance.  This was 
submitted on 31 October following sign-off by the LEP Chair, in accordance 
with the delegation from the LEP Board on 20 September 2018 (minute 31(iv)) 
and is attached as Appendix 1 to this report.

2.9 LEP Board Members are advised to note the key steps set out in the 
implementation plan which will be taken over the coming months to fully 
implement both the letter and spirit of Government’s recommendations.  
These include as a minimum:

 Agreeing a delivery plan by April 2019
 Publishing an end of year annual report by April 2020
 Approving a revised private sector recruitment process (to include the 

process for appointing a new LEP Chair by February 2019)
 Working towards a two thirds private sector LEP Board membership by 

April 2020 
 Improving gender balance and representation of people with protected 

characteristics on the LEP Board, with one third women by April 2020, 
and achieving an equal gender balance by April 2023 

116



 Updating of the Leeds City Region Assurance Framework to explain 
exactly who is accountable for spending decisions, appointments and 
governance of the LEP

 Reviewing how the LEP will secure scrutiny and expert oversight 
including through local authority scrutiny arrangements. 

3. Financial Implications

3.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report, other than to 
note that accessing further capacity funding to implement Strengthened Local 
Enterprise Partnerships is contingent on reaching a resolution on geography. 

3.2 There are two associated significant possible financial implications that LEP 
Board Members are also asked to note: 

 Should the LEP not be able to agree and implement compliant 
arrangements by April 2020, it is likely that businesses and communities 
will have restricted access to the UK Shared Prosperity Fund.    

 Subject to the agreed geography and form of any future LEP, a greater 
separation of activity with the Accountable Body is likely to increase 
running costs which are not adequately resourced.  

4. Legal Implications

4.1 There are no immediate direct legal implications arising from this report.  It 
does, however, indicate the actions to be taken by the LEP to put in place a 
governance framework which is fully compliant with Government 
requirements. 

5. Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no direct staffing implications arising from this report. While there 
are likely to be direct staffing implications depending on the shape of new 
activity, these will be subject to future reports.  

6. External Consultees

6.1 There have not been any external consultations. 

7. Recommendations

7.1 It is recommended that the LEP Board note the latest position on future LEP 
geography, and Government’s response to the LEP Board’s proposal. 

7.2 It is recommended that the LEP Board note the activity covered in the 
implementation plan, and future actions required by the LEP Board. 

8. Background Documents

8.1 None

117



9. Appendices

Appendix 1 - Implementation Plan

118



 

1 
 

LEP Name: Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership  

Please outline the LEP’s plans to address the recommendations below, noting the 

guidance provided by the Unit. In your response, you should outline any key 

milestones, risks and issues.  

All LEPs must submit the implementation plan template (Annex C) no later than 31 

October 2018 to the LEP policy team in the Cities and Local Growth Unit 

(LEPpolicy@communities.gsi.gov.uk), copying in your Area Lead. The plan should 

outline the changes that the LEP is making to ensure that it meets the 

recommendations set out in the LEP review. It should also outline any key 

milestones, risks and issues. 

 

Pre-amble: 

As set out in its September submission on geography, the LEP’s proposal is that a 

new LEP is created by combining the York, North Yorkshire and East Riding LEP, 

except for the East Riding, and the Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership, except 

for Barnsley.   

Should agreement be reached to create a new LEP then a cross LEP working group, 

supported by both LEP Boards, will be developed to undertake a review of decision 

making in both organisations in order to ensure that decision making involves all 

parts of the region in an effective and practical way. 

While that remains undetermined, this response highlights those issues where the 

detailed implementation plan will need further refining once there is agreement on 

geography.  For matters that are geography-agnostic, full implementation details are 

provided.    

 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Recommendation:  

 

We expect all Local Enterprise Partnerships will follow best practice within the 

sector and produce an annual delivery plan and end of year report. 

 

Information required in implementation plan:  
 
Within the implementation plan, the LEP should outline its plans to draft and 
publish an annual delivery plan by April 2019 and an end of year report at the end 
of the 2019-20 financial year. 
 
Government will work with LEPs to develop qualitative and quantitative measures 

to report against. As you develop your Local Industrial Strategy, Government 

expects the delivery plan and end of year report to be linked to the progress of your 

119

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1

mailto:LEPpolicy@communities.gsi.gov.uk


 

2 
 

Local Industrial Strategy. The implementation response should provide a 

commitment to adopt and report against agreed key performance indicators.  

 

LEP response  
 
Please outline the LEP’s response to the recommendation. The response should 
consider the information required, outlined above: 

The LEP confirms its intention to produce an annual plan and report that captures 

the qualitative and quantitative points to be set out in the new national Assurance 

Framework, informed by discussions with the LEP Network. 

The LEP, working closely in partnership with the Combined Authority, 

demonstrates its plans and impact through a single planning and delivery process.  

The LEP will discuss with partners the optimum way to undertake this in future, 

balancing the need to be clear about responsibility for delivery with the significant 

efficiencies and greater effectiveness that stems from a simple, integrated process.   

Key milestones 

Please indicate any key milestones the LEP is required to meet to address the 

above recommendation: 

Following confirmation of the qualitative and quantitative measures to report 

against, the new project management capacity (see capacity funding submission) 

will develop an approach to deliver this.  

It is expected that a draft plan will go to the LEP Board in March 2019 for 

agreement, followed by an end of year report at the end of the 2019-20 financial 

year.     

Key risks and/or issues  

Please indicate any risks or issues that may prevent the LEP meeting the 

recommendation above. The LEP should also outline how it is mitigating these 

risks.  

That the qualitative and quantitative measures to report against are set out in 

adequate time.  

That the LEP has sufficient capacity to develop an approach to undertake distinct 

annual planning and reporting (see companion capacity bid document).  

 

 

 

 

 

120



 

3 
 

Leadership and Organisational Capacity  

Recommendation:  
 

Government expects that each Local Enterprise Partnership consults widely and 

transparently with the business community before appointing a new Chair, 

and appoints a Deputy Chair. 

 

Information required in implementation plan:  
 

Within the implementation plan, you should outline your LEP’s draft proposed 
process for consultation of the business community before appointing a new Chair. 
LEPs should plan to have this process in place by 28 February 2019. 
 

LEP response  
 
Please outline the LEP’s response to the recommendation. The response should 
consider the information required, outlined above: 

The LEP recognises the value of having an identified Deputy Chair.  That role is 

currently undertaken by Councillor Tim Swift (Leader, Calderdale), in recognition of 

the private-public partnership.  This means the LEP complies with the requirement 

to have a Deputy Chair and will review the operation of this as part of the review of 

existing recruitment processes.   

The LEP supports the principle of consulting widely and transparently with the 

business community before appointing a new Chair. On the appointment process, 

the LEP’s Constitution already makes specific provision for appointing a LEP 

Chair1 (and other private sector representatives).  It ensures all private sector 

representatives must be appointed “in accordance with the LEP’s diversity 

statement, and through an open, transparent and non-discriminatory recruitment 

process, which assesses each candidate on merit.”  The Constitution specifies the 

appointment process for the Chair includes “an interview process conducted by an 

appointments panel, which shall include a private sector representative who is not 

a member of the LEP Board”.   

A review of recruitment arrangements for private sector representatives is already 

underway, which will further detail and formalise the recruitment procedure to be 

followed to appoint the LEP Chair, Deputy Chair, and other private sector 

representatives.  The protocol will also cover the recruitment of private sector 

representative to any Combined Authority committee, including the advisory 

committees which report to the LEP. 

                                            
1 It is not envisaged that the LEP need to appoint a new Chair by 28 February 2019, as the Chair’s 

term of office continues beyond that date.    

 

121



 

4 
 

As part of this review, a role profile for the Chair, Deputy Chair and other private 

sector roles will be agreed, setting out the posts’ responsibilities, and a mechanism 

for setting any allowance.  

The review is being carried out in tandem with a review of the LEP’s diversity policy 

(see further below in response to questions about diversity).  

Initial consultation about the recruitment procedure will be carried out with current 

private sector representatives on the LEP Board and on a joint advisory committee 

of the LEP / Combined Authority.  Input will also be sought from local authority 

representatives.  

Further consultation on proposals will then be carried out through the LEP’s 

Business Communications Group, which is made up of key business 

representative organisations in the City Region.  The Group advises the LEP 

Board, and brings together organisations and sector bodies collectively 

representing thousands of local companies across a diverse range of sectors. The 

Group plays an active role in supporting business growth in the region by helping 

to coordinate effective communications between the LEP and the business 

community. 

The LEP Board and the Combined Authority (in respect of recruitment to Combined 

Authority committees) will formally approve the procedure.  

Should the creation of a new LEP be agreed, the LEP will carry out the review of 

recruitment processes collaboratively through the cross LEP working group, with 

the aim of adopting a consistent approach to facilitate future changes.  

Key milestones 

 

Please indicate any key milestones the LEP is required to meet to address the 

above recommendation: 
 

Action Date 

Review of existing recruitment process Already underway  

Initial consultation with key stakeholders including 

current private sector representatives on the LEP  

November/December 

Business Communications Group consulted on draft 

procedure 

12 December 2018 

LEP Board approval of recruitment procedure 23 January 2019 

CA approval of recruitment procedure (so far as it relates 

to sub-boards that report jointly to LEP and CA) 

14 February 2019 

 

122



 

5 
 

Key risks and/or issues  

Please indicate any risks or issues that may prevent the LEP meeting the 

recommendation above. The LEP should also outline how it is mitigating these 

risks.  

If this timeline applies then no significant risk or issues arise. 

 

Recommendation:  

 

In line with best practice in the private sector, Local Enterprise Partnerships will 

want to introduce defined term limits for Chairs and Deputy Chairs where 

these are not currently in place. 

 

Information required in implementation plan:  
 
Within the implementation plan, you should outline how your LEP plans to 
introduce defined term limits for Chairs and Deputy Chairs. LEPs should plan to 
have this process in place by 28 February 2019. LEPs should also plan to have a 
Deputy Chair in place by 28 February 2019.   
 

LEP response  
 
Please outline the LEP’s response to the recommendation. The response should 
consider the information required, outlined above: 

The LEP Board agrees with this recommendation.  

The LEP’s Constitution (paragraph 4.9) already sets out maximum terms of office 

for each private sector representative (including the Chair), and maximum number 

of terms, in line with the local Assurance Framework.  No changes are therefore 

required by 28 February 2019, other than to clarify that the provisions also extend 

to the Deputy Chair (who is already in place).  

For completeness, however, the LEP proposes to review current terms of office at 

the same time as the new recruitment procedure is being considered.   

Key milestones 

 

Please indicate any key milestones the LEP is required to meet to address the 

above recommendation: 

123



 

6 
 

 

Action Date 

Review of terms of office Concurrent to review 

of recruitment 

procedure 

LEP Board approves amendments to LEP Constitution to 

reflect outcome of review of existing recruitment 

processes (e.g. any revised terms of office). 

23 January 2019 

 

 

Key risks and/or issues  

Please indicate any risks or issues that may prevent the LEP meeting the 

recommendation above. The LEP should also outline how it is mitigating these 

risks.  

There are no risks as the LEP is already compliant.  It will, nonetheless, review and 

consider how to strengthen these arrangements as set out.  

 

Recommendation:  

 

Government’s aspiration is that Local Enterprise Partnerships work towards 

strengthening the representation from the private sector, increasing 

representatives from the private sector so that they form at least two thirds 

of the board, to ensure that each Local Enterprise Partnership can truly be said to 

be business-led. In order to maintain focused board direction and input, 

Government will work with Local Enterprise Partnerships to establish a maximum 

permanent board of 20 people, with the option to co-opt an additional five board 

members with specialist knowledge on a one year basis.2 

 

Information required in implementation plan:  
 
LEPs must be accountable to their area and representative of the communities 
they serve. Therefore, within the implementation plan, your LEP should outline any 
changes you plan to make to the composition of the board to meet the review 
recommendations. As part of this you should outline: 

 how your LEP plans to increase the private sector board membership to 2/3 
private sector. 

 how your LEP will ensure that the board does not exceed a maximum of 20 
persons. 

 arrangements for co-opted members (if applicable).  

                                            
2 Any private sector board member must fit the definition of ‘private sector’ as defined by the National 
Accounts Sector Classification. A private sector member must be or have been employed by an 
organisation not included as central government, local government or a public corporation as defined 
for the UK National Accounts. 

124



 

7 
 

 
You should outline how your LEP plans to achieve this board composition over 
time, for example, in phases. LEPs should plan to have implemented any changes 
needed to board composition by the end of the 2019-2020 financial year. 
 

LEP response  
 
Please outline the LEP’s response to the recommendation. The response should 
consider the information required, outlined above: 

The LEP is proud of its strong record of private and public sector partners working 

together.  Increasing the proportion of private sector leaders on the LEP Board 

provides opportunity to reflect a more diverse range of businesses – in terms of 

size, sector, location, etc.  

The actual phasing will depend significantly on the final agreed LEP geography 

(unknown at this point), which will determine the degree of change required.  The 

LEP is, though, committed to implementing the recommendation.   

On the basis the LEP continues to operate on its current configuration until April 

2020, the LEP does not propose to review its public sector membership in order to 

maintain the strong private/public partnership. In moving towards having a LEP 

Board membership of at least two thirds private sector representatives and reflect 

the very diverse economy, the LEP will, therefore, appoint further co-opted 

members at its annual meeting in June 2019. 

Should agreement be reached on transitioning to a merged LEP, it is anticipated 

that (subject to discussion and agreement with key stakeholders) the cross LEP 

working group would collaborate on a review of current private sector 

representatives’ membership and terms of office, with a view to ascertaining how 

many current private sector representatives could be retained on the new LEP from 

2020, and how many vacancies would then arise in order to deliver at least two 

thirds private sector members. 

Should vacancies arise on either LEP before the new LEP is established, it is 

possible that the recruitment process might involve representatives from both 

LEPs, to secure representatives who would continue to serve on the new LEP from 

2020.  

Key milestones 

 

Please indicate any key milestones the LEP is required to meet to address the 

above recommendation: 
  

Action Date 

LEP Board: 23 January 2019 

125



 

8 
 

 approves new recruitment process and diversity 

statement 

 agrees amendments to the LEP Constitution to reflect 

revised membership arrangements (indicated as an 

aspiration up to 2020) 

 appoints an interview panel for the private sector 

recruitment exercise  

 considers the appointment of any additional co-opted 

members to be appointed at the annual meeting 

Combined Authority: 

 agrees private sector recruitment process, in so far as 

this relates to Combined Authority committees, and 

 appoints to the interview panel (if recruitment is needed 

to  Combined Authority committees) 

14 February 2019 

Recruitment process started for additional private sector 

representatives in accordance with new private sector 

recruitment procedure 

February 2019 

Interview panel interviews potential private sector 

representatives  

March/April 2019 

LEP Board appoints  

 any new private sector members at the LEP Board 

annual meeting 

 any additional co-opted members to the LEP Board, 

and 

 makes recommendations to the Combined Authority 

about appointments to any Combined Authority 

committees. 

6 June 2019 

(annual meeting) 

Combined Authority appoints private sector representatives 

to Combined Authority committees. 

27 June 2019 

(annual meeting) 

Repeat of recruitment exercise as needed to comply with 

requirements (with numbers reflecting the agreed LEP 

geography)  

Spring 2020 

 

Key risks and/or issues  

126



 

9 
 

Please indicate any risks or issues that may prevent the LEP meeting the 

recommendation above. The LEP should also outline how it is mitigating these 

risks.  

There is no particular risk to delivering the recommendation, but there are factors 

that affect the phasing and extent of steps taken.  

The principal consideration is the point at which the LEP’s future geography is 

agreed.  This is being managed through proactive and open discussions with local 

partners and Government.   

There is a potential transitional risk with private sector LEP members and in 

running a viable recruitment process.   

 

Recommendation:  

Government expects refreshed Local Enterprise Partnership boards to improve 
their gender balance and representation of those with protected 
characteristics. Our aim is for Local Enterprise Partnership boards to have equal 
representation of men and women by 2023. As a step towards achieving this, we 
will replicate the target set in the Hampton-Alexander Review for FTSE 350 
boards; Local Enterprise Partnerships should aim for a minimum of a third 
women’s representation on their boards by 2020. 
 

Information required in implementation plan:  
 
Within the implementation plan, your LEP should outline how you will demonstrate 
the work that you will undertake to encourage board diversity, including enacting 
any changes in the National Assurance Framework. 
All LEPs should aspire to achieve gender balanced boards. The implementation 
plan should include detail on plans to: 

 Take action to ensure that at least one third of the LEP’s appointed board 
members are women by the end of the 2019-2020 financial year. 

 Take action to ensure equal representation of men and women on boards by 
the end of the 2022- 2023 financial year.  

 

LEP response  
 
Please outline the LEP’s response to the recommendation. The response should 
consider the information required, outlined above: 

The LEP is committed to acting as an exemplar of an inclusive organisation that 

promotes diverse leadership.  As such, it welcomes the opportunity to further 

improve the gender balance and representation of those with protected 

characteristics on the LEP Board and its joint sub-boards with the Combined 

Authority.  

The annual review of the Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership’s diversity 

statement will be reviewed by the LEP at its meeting on 23 January 2019, as part 

127



 

10 
 

of the wider review of the LEP’s Assurance Framework.  The review will take into 

account any revised National Guidance on the Assurance Framework, the 

requirements set out in Strengthened LEPs and proactive learning from steps 

taken by other LEPs to improve diversity (and particularly the gender balance) of 

LEP Board members. 

The diversity statement will set out the aspirations of the LEP in relation to 

achieving a gender balanced LEP Board.  The LEP will also be asked to approve 

an action plan, outlining key steps towards achieving compliance. These steps will 

include: 

 continuing to build on existing business networks, especially women and BAME 

networks.  

 ongoing work to explore contacts and organisations that have close contact with 

these networks to ensure we have a contact route into them. 

Any steps relating to the LEP’s recruitment processes will be implemented for any 

recruitment exercises undertaken from January 2019. 

Should the creation of a new LEP be agreed, the LEP will carry out the review of 

the diversity statement collaboratively through the cross LEP working group, with 

the aim of adopting a consistent approach to facilitate future changes.  

It should be noted that the officer support body for the LEP (West Yorkshire 

Combined Authority) has undertaken and published gender gap analysis, and 

diversity gap analysis and has a set of programmes in place to promote equality 

and diversity. The analysis is publicly available at: https://www.westyorks-

ca.gov.uk/media/3193/gender-pay-gap-report-2017.pdf  

Key milestones 

 

Please indicate any key milestones the LEP is required to meet to address the 

above recommendation: 

Action Date 

 LEP Board approves a revised 

diversity statement and action plan 

23 January 2019 

Action plan implemented in respect of 

recruitment process – see above 

February onwards 

 

Key risks and/or issues  

Please indicate any risks or issues that may prevent the LEP meeting the 

recommendation above. The LEP should also outline how it is mitigating these 

risks.  

128

https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/media/3193/gender-pay-gap-report-2017.pdf
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/media/3193/gender-pay-gap-report-2017.pdf


 

11 
 

While LEP appointments can seek to deliver a balanced board, it should be noted 

that the appointment of local civic leaders will also affect the overall balance.  

In order to ensure appropriate diversity of applicants, the LEP will proactively seek 

and adopt best practice from other LEPs and local private and public organisations 

who have delivered inclusive organisations.  

 

Recommendation:  

 

Local Enterprise Partnerships will need to provide a secretariat independent of 

local government to support the Chair and board in decision making. 

 

Information required in implementation plan:  
 
Within the implementation plan, you should outline how your LEP plans to put in 
place arrangements to ensure that all board members, whether from a public, 
private or third sector organisation, can access impartial advice and support from 
the LEP as a collective enterprise. You should outline the timeframe in which your 
LEP expects to have this secretariat in place. 
 

LEP response  
 
Please outline the LEP’s response to the recommendation. The response should 
consider the information required, outlined above: 
 

The LEP Board supports the principle of a secretariat independent of any 
constituent member, but also that operates in such a way as to offer the degree of 
policy and delivery resource commensurate with delivering extraordinary economic 
growth, sustained social transformation and the largest growth deal in the country. 
 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority currently acts as the independent secretariat 
to the LEP; the Combined Authority is not a constituent member of the LEP, nor 
does it appoint any representative to the LEP Board (local authority representatives 
are appointed in their capacity as district councillors, not members of the 
Combined Authority).  Its officers are therefore free to provide independent advice 
and support to the LEP.  
 
The established practice is for Combined Authority officers to work closely with 
their counterparts in local authorities and across business groupings, universities, 
Government departments, etc. with the aim of submitting reports for consideration 
which reflect a consensus of views. 
 
Should the creation of a new LEP be agreed, the LEP will carry out the review 
arrangements collaboratively through the cross-LEP working group, with the aim of 
adopting a consistent approach to facilitate future changes.  An option would be for 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority to be retained as the LEPs independent 
secretariat, thereby utilising and building on current arrangements to provide 
continuity.  

129



 

12 
 

 

Key milestones 

 

Please indicate any key milestones the LEP is required to meet to address the 

above recommendation: 

No action required at present, pending confirmation of future LEP geography. 

Key risks and/or issues  

Please indicate any risks or issues that may prevent the LEP meeting the 

recommendation above. The LEP should also outline how it is mitigating these 

risks.  

None – the current arrangement is fully compliant with the recommendation.  

Should agreement of the future LEP geography mean that organisational change is 

required, this will be worked through collaboratively with partners, taking account of 

factors including independence, effectiveness and cost. 

 

Accountability and Performance 

Recommendation:  
 
Government will support all Local Enterprise Partnerships to have a legal 
personality. 
 

Information required in implementation plan:  
 
Within the implementation plan, you must outline your LEP’s plans to adopt a legal 
personality. All LEPs should plan to adopt a legal personality by April 20193. 
Government will provide further advice to LEPs on incorporation.     
 

LEP response  
 
Please outline the LEP’s response to the recommendation. The response should 
consider the information required, outlined above: 

Further to the clarification from the Cities and Local Growth Unit (YHNE) that a 
LEP in a Combined Authority does not need to have a separate legal personality, 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority will continue as accountable body for the LEP.   
 
Under the current governance model for the LEP, panels reporting to the LEP are 
formally integrated into the Combined Authority decision-making structure as 
advisory committees.  This model secures streamlined decision-making, allows 
cost effective support arrangements, promotes enhanced transparency and 

                                            
3 Where changes to geographies have been agreed, LEPs and Government will agree an appropriate 
timeframe for incorporation. 

130



 

13 
 

accountability and secures direct private sector representation on all Combined 
Authority committees.  
 
Should the creation of a new LEP be agreed, the cross-LEP working group would 
review the Combined Authority’s role as accountable body – see further below.  In 
this event, no separate legal personality would be required for the new LEP, 
although that option could be considered if partners felt there was merit.   
 
Although the new LEP’s boundaries would not be coterminous with those of the 
Combined Authority, this is not a new challenge: the current Combined Authority 
governance arrangements secure appropriate representation from partner councils 
outside of West Yorkshire on the LEP and also on the advisory committees which 
report to the LEP.   
 

Key milestones 

 

Please indicate any key milestones the LEP is required to meet to address the 

above recommendation: 

None by April 2019. 

Key risks and/or issues  

Please indicate any risks or issues that may prevent the LEP meeting the 

recommendation above. The LEP should also outline how it is mitigating these 

risks.  

None, pending confirmation of future LEP geography. 

 

Recommendation:  

 

Local Enterprise Partnerships will want to identify a single Accountable Body 

within in each area that is responsible for all Local Enterprise Partnership funding. 

 

Information required in implementation plan:  
 
Within the implementation plan, you must outline how your LEP plans to adopt a 
single Accountable Body within each area that is responsible for all Local 
Enterprise Partnership funding. You should outline the timeframes in which the 
LEP expects to have this arrangement in place. The plan should also include 
details about the transition of any funding arrangements4. LEPs should have a 
single Accountable Body in place by Spring 2020.  
 

LEP response  
 

                                            
4 LEPs should outline where programmes, such as Enterprise Zones, will continue under existing 
Accountable Body arrangements.  

131



 

14 
 

Please outline the LEP’s response to the recommendation. The response should 
consider the information required, outlined above: 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority is the single accountable body for all LEP 

funding, and partners will work together to ensure this arrangement is developed in 

due course to ensure compliance with Government proposals and local 

accountability requirements over a wider geography.  This will make clear the 

difference between the role of the LEP and the role of the Combined Authority.  

Should the creation of a new LEP be agreed, LEP funding held by the two 

accountable bodies would need to be agreed between partners.  

Key milestones 

 

Please indicate any key milestones the LEP is required to meet to address the 

above recommendation: 

None, pending confirmation that the new LEP is to be progressed. 

Key risks and/or issues  

Please indicate any risks or issues that may prevent the LEP meeting the 

recommendation above. The LEP should also outline how it is mitigating these 

risks.  

None, pending confirmation that the new LEP is to be progressed. 

 

 

Recommendation:  

 

As legal entities, all Local Enterprise Partnerships will be required to hold an 

annual general meeting. We will set an expectation that these are open to the 

public and businesses to attend and properly promoted. 

 

Information required in implementation plan:  
 
Within the implementation plan, your LEP must commit to hold an annual general 
meeting; open to the public to attend. Your LEP should hold its first/next public 
Annual General Meeting in the 2019-20 financial year. 
 
To ensure that all businesses in an area have equal access to their Local 
Enterprise Partnership, we will not permit any Local Enterprise Partnership to 
operate on a paid-membership basis. 
 
 

LEP response  
 

132



 

15 
 

Please outline the LEP’s response to the recommendation. The response should 
consider the information required, outlined above: 

The LEP’s current Procedure Rules require an annual meeting of the LEP to be 

held, and specify the business to be considered at that meeting. The next annual 

meeting of the LEP is scheduled for June 2019.  

The LEP’s annual meeting is open to the public, (as are all LEP meetings), subject 

to specified exceptions relating to the discussion of exempt and confidential 

information. 

For completeness, the LEP will review how it promotes its meeting arrangements 

(including the annual meeting) to the public, including businesses.  

The LEP does not operate on a paid-membership basis. 

Should the creation of a new LEP be agreed, the LEP will carry out the review of 

the annual meeting arrangements collaboratively through the cross-LEP working 

group, with the aim of adopting a consistent approach to facilitate future changes. 

Key milestones 

 

Please indicate any key milestones the LEP is required to meet to address the 

above recommendation: 

 Action Date 

LEP Chair approves communications 

and engagement plan for promoting 

LEP meetings  

March 2019 

 

Key risks and/or issues  

Please indicate any risks or issues that may prevent the LEP meeting the 

recommendation above. The LEP should also outline how it is mitigating these 

risks.  

None – annual meeting arrangements already in place 

 

Recommendation:  

 

We will expect all Local Enterprise Partnerships to set out exactly who is 

accountable for spending decisions, appointments, and overall governance 

locally. 

 

Information required in implementation plan:  
 

133



 

16 
 

Within the implementation plan, you should outline how your LEP plans to review 

the responsibilities of the Chair, Board, Director, and Accountable Body and 

discuss plans to outline these responsibilities in a revised Local Assurance 

Framework. These arrangements should be put in place for the 2019-20 financial 

year. 

 

LEP response  
 
Please outline the LEP’s response to the recommendation. The response should 
consider the information required, outlined above: 

Accountability for spending decisions is set out in the Leeds City Region’s Local 

Assurance Framework which cross–references key LEP governance document, 

and West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s governance arrangements and 

responsibilities as accountable body. These documents collectively address the 

responsibilities of the Chair, Board, Director and the Combined Authority’s role as 

Accountable Body.   

The annual review of the Local Assurance Framework is carried out by the LEP in 

tandem with Combined Authority each year. The review process is led by the 

Combined Authority’s Head of Feasibility and Assurance, and includes specific 

input from the LEP Chair, the LEP Board, the LEP Chief Officer and the S73 

Officer, as well as the Combined Authority’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee.   

An initial review for this year is already underway, and will progress further on 

receipt of the revised National Guidance.  

Further to the review, the LEP and the Combined Authority will be asked to 

approve a revised Local Assurance Framework. 

Should the creation of a new LEP be agreed, the LEP will carry out the review of 

the Assurance Framework collaboratively through the cross LEP working group, so 

far as time-constraints allow, with the aim of adopting a consistent approach to 

facilitate future changes.  

Key milestones 

 

Please indicate any key milestones the LEP is required to meet to address the 

above recommendation: 

Action Date  

Overview & Scrutiny Working Group – subject to 
updated Assurance Framework guidance  

November 2018 

Leadership Team December 2018 

Governance & Audit 17 January 2019 

O&S committee 18 January 2019 

LEP Board 23 January 2019 

Combined Authority 14 February 2019 

  

134



 

17 
 

Key risks and/or issues  

Please indicate any risks or issues that may prevent the LEP meeting the 

recommendation above. The LEP should also outline how it is mitigating these 

risks.  

There are no significant risks beyond Government publishing its updated guidance.   

 

Recommendation:  

 

The Government will support Local Enterprise Partnerships to set out how 

they will ensure external scrutiny and expert oversight, including participating 

in relevant local authority scrutiny panel enquiries to ensure effective and 

appropriate democratic scrutiny of their investment decisions. 

 

Information required in implementation plan:  
 
Within the implementation plan, you should outline how your LEP plans to discuss 
and agree scrutiny and oversight processes with the LEP’s Accountable Body 
Section 151 Officer. LEPs and S151 Officers should refer to forthcoming guidance 
from CIPFA on the role of the S151 Officer. 
 

LEP response  
 
Please outline the LEP’s response to the recommendation. The response should 
consider the information required, outlined above: 

The terms of reference for West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee specifically provide for the committee to review matters 

considered by the LEP or relating to LEP governance, as well as the Combined 

Authority’s role as accountable body for the LEP.  Scrutiny arrangements include 

provision for any member of the LEP Board, members and officers from any 

council within the Leeds City Region, or any member of an advisory panel to be 

invited to address, discuss, provide information or answer questions at a formal 

meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

These scrutiny arrangements are outlined in the Local Assurance Framework. 

They will be reviewed further to the CIPFA guidance and also the revised National 

Local Assurance Framework guidance, as part of the review of the Local 

Assurance Framework.  The S73 Officer has a key role in this review – see above.  

Existing arrangements will also be reviewed to facilitate the referral of issues from 

the LEP to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to promote the involvement of 

the Committee in policy development by the LEP.  

135



 

18 
 

Should the creation of a new LEP be agreed, the LEP will carry out a further review 

of scrutiny arrangements collaboratively through the cross LEP working group, with 

the aim of adopting a consistent approach to facilitate future changes.  

Key milestones 

 

Please indicate any key milestones the LEP is required to meet to address the 

above recommendation: 

See further above re key milestones for the review of the Local Assurance 

Framework.  

Any consequential amendments to Overview and Scrutiny arrangements may be 

approved by the Head of Legal and Governance under her delegated authority, or 

otherwise referred to the Combined Authority for approval at its meeting in 

February 2019.  

Key risks and/or issues  

Please indicate any risks or issues that may prevent the LEP meeting the 

recommendation above. The LEP should also outline how it is mitigating these 

risks.  

No significant risks or issues arise.  

 

 

Mayoral combined authorities  

Recommendations:  

 

Government will consolidate its engagement with mayoral combined 
authorities and their Local Enterprise Partnerships with a collaborative 
approach to agreeing a Local Industrial Strategy. 
 
To help ensure that Local Enterprise Partnerships have a distinctive role from the 
mayoral combined authorities, we will support Local Enterprise Partnerships 
and mayoral combined authorities to develop and publish agreements – 
brought together in a single document with relevant financial assurance 
frameworks – which set out their respective roles and responsibilities in a 
way that recognises the variation between places, while providing sufficient clarity 
on accountability for public funding.  
 
 

Information required in implementation plan:  
 

136



 

19 
 

For LEPs in mayoral combined authorities, LEPs and the relevant combined 
authority should discuss the distinct role of the LEP and their future working 
arrangements.   
 
If appropriate, you should outline your LEP’s plans to review these arrangements 
and plans to develop a published agreement of roles and responsibilities. The LEP 
should provide an update on any discussions to date. This should be consolidated 
in the LEP’s Local Assurance Framework by the 28 February 2019. 
 

LEP response  
 
Please outline the LEP’s response to the recommendations. The response should 
consider the information required, outlined above: 

Not applicable; West Yorkshire Combined Authority is not a Mayoral Combined 

Authority.    

Key milestones 

 

Please indicate any key milestones the LEP is required to meet to address the 

above recommendation: 

Not applicable 

Key risks and/or issues  

Please indicate any risks or issues that may prevent the LEP meeting the 

recommendation above. The LEP should also outline how it is mitigating these 

risks.  

Not applicable 

 

137



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP)

Date:  22 November 2018

Subject:  Preparing for Brexit

Director: Alan Reiss, Director of Policy, Strategy and Communications

Author(s): Patrick Bowes

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 To provide an update on the latest economic and business intelligence for the 
Board and to consider the key messages from this as the UK prepares to 
leave the European Union.

1.2 To update the LEP Board on ongoing work to prepare and support the city 
regions businesses and communities ahead of the UK's withdrawal from the 
EU, whilst focusing on key areas of opportunity to support the city region’s 
growth ambitions. 

2 Information

2.1 This report presents recent developments in the global, national and local 
economies. The report is now produced on a regular, quarterly basis. As such 
the latest available version will be presented to the Board for each of its 
meetings. When no new report is available from the previous meeting, a brief 
update will be provided to the Board covering any recent major developments.

2.2 The version presented here is the November 2018 Economic Update. 

2.3 The economic report now includes dedicated commentary on the extent to 
which current local and national economic data offers insights on the health of 
the LCR and wider economy as the UK moves towards its formal exit from the 
European Union.

2.4 A contextual assessment is also presented in the covering paper (which 
accompanies the economic report) on progress to date in the design and 
development of our support offer to the city region’s businesses and 
communities as the UK prepares to withdraw from the EU.

Main national and international headlines

2.5 The main national and international headlines include:

139

Agenda Item 13



 The IMF has recently revised down its forecasts for global growth to 3.7% 
for both this year and next – down 0.2% from its forecasts in April. 
Recently announced tariffs and trade measures are the key reason for this 
downward revision, which keep growth projections in line with 2017. 

 The IMF forecast growth in the UK to slow from 1.7% in 2017 to 1.4% and 
1.5% in 2018 and 2019 respectively. Poor weather in Q1 is a factor in this, 
though anticipated higher barriers to trade post-Brexit are also a factor in 
the medium term despite the IMF assuming that UK-EU trade remains 
tariff-free.

 UK GDP increased by 0.7% in the three months to August. This is 
substantially higher than the 0.1% growth in March-May. Warm weather 
was an important factor in this. The service sector expanded by 0.5%, 
though this was outpaced by growth of 0.7% in production and 2.9% in 
construction. 

 UK productivity increased by 0.5% in Q2 2018, following a QonQ fall in Q1. 
Productivity growth remains below the pre-recession trend.

 Inflation fell to 2.4% in September, down from 2.7% in August whilst 
average earnings increased by 3.1% in the three months to August, the 
highest annual growth rate since 2008. Real pay has increased by 0.7% in 
the past three months, with wage growth outpacing inflation for five 
consecutive months.

 Total employment in the UK was largely unchanged in the three months to 
August, according to ONS. The employment rate dipped to 75.5% from a 
record high of 75.7%.

 Unemployment also fell by 47,000 to 1.36 million, an unemployment rate of 
4%.

Leeds City Region economic headlines 

2.6 For Leeds City Region, the key headlines include:

 The value of goods exports from Yorkshire & Humber increased at a faster 
rate than any other English region between Q1 2018 and Q2 2018. The 
region’s goods exports increased by 3.4% in Q2, compared to a 2.2% fall 
nationally, according to HMRC data. The region has seen the joint fastest 
growth in goods export of any English region since the EU referendum in 
June 2016. 

 New ONS analysis suggests Yorkshire & Humber exported services worth 
£7.78bn in 2016, an increase of 8.1% on 2015. This growth rate is third 
lowest among UK regions, and falls between North West (-0.9%) and North 
East (+14.3) at a northern level. 

 Business activity continued to expand across Yorkshire and Humber 
through September according to the Natwest Regional PMI, albeit at a 
reduced pace. 

140



 Yorkshire businesses reported increased domestic and international 
demand in the PMI survey, and remain optimistic that output will continue 
to increase over the next year. As such, headcounts continue to expand.

 Total employment in Leeds City Region increased by 4,000 (0.3%) 
between Q1 and Q2 2018, taking the employment rate to a new record 
high of 73.7%. Employment increased faster than in the UK as a whole 
where it increased by 0.1%. 

 Unemployment in the City Region fell by 3,100 (4.5%) in Q2 2018. There 
are now 65,200 people unemployed, the lowest level since 2005. The 
unemployment rate is 4.4%, also its lowest since 2005. 

Brexit commentary and assessment

2.7 There are signs that UK businesses are beginning to become increasingly 
alive to the uncertainty of Brexit negotiations and the perceived higher risk of a 
“no deal” outcome. A CBI survey suggested 1 in 5 businesses had already 
begun to implement contingency plans, with increasing numbers of companies 
planning to follow suit if no certainty emerges before the end of 2018. 
Similarly, the Chambers of Commerce have reported lower levels of 
investment in their national survey for Q3.

2.8 At City Region level, the labour market remains relatively strong with 
employment increasing and unemployment decreasing. However, it is notable 
that some of the sectors that have seen strong employment growth of late are 
among those with reliance on EU workers which may pose a challenge to 
these industries in future, most notably logistics and hospitality sectors.

2.9 The region’s goods exporters continue to see the benefit of sterling’s fall and 
have seen export activity expand strongly in the past two years. This may be a 
factor in the continuing levels of confidence among the region’s businesses, 
who remain more optimistic than those in most other regions. The apparent 
fall in new business starts does however suggest a degree of hesitancy in 
some quarters.

2.10 That same hesitancy is evident in the housing market, where sales volumes 
point to a slowdown despite rising prices. Many households, like businesses, 
appear to be waiting for clarity and confidence in future arrangements before 
making significant investment decisions. This pattern may be more evident in 
the consumer sector as it enters the critical Christmas trading period. 

Supporting our businesses, people and communities as the UK 
transitions to a new trading model

2.11 Since 2016 the Combined Authority and LEP have continued to develop the 
products and services we provide to business to help strengthen our support 
offer so that it remains relevant to the needs of our businesses in the current 
climate. We have also been working to maximise the drawdown of European 
Structural funds to help enhance the services we provide in those areas that 

141



will provide most benefit to our businesses and our citizens (such as skills 
development and upskilling of the labour force).

2.12 Our progress to date includes:
Support to businesses – using our business support schemes to provide 
greater resilience

 The LEP/Combined Authority is developing an extension to the current 
LEP Growth Service to specifically focus on business resilience and future-
proofing. This will involve expanding the current SME Growth Manager 
resource to provide more tailored and intensive support for a targeted 
cohort of strategically-important SMEs. These will be identified by the 
LEP/Combined Authority and its Local Authority partners with the criteria 
for identification including size, sector, and position within supply chains, 
exposure to international trade and exposure to changes in the regulatory 
environment.

 We will continue to closely review the range and scope of the Brexit “No 
Deal” information notices produced by the government, recognising the 
current status of the UK’s negotiations with European Commission. At this 
point in time we feel it would be premature to office specific advice and 
guidance through the Growth Service on the local implications of these 
notices and we would encourage businesses in short term to consider any 
industry specific guidance that may be relevant to them (from trade or 
business representative groups).

Skills – product development to support upskilling and meet the needs 
of businesses specifically impacted by Brexit

 Advice for businesses on their training needs is available through the LCR 
Skills Service, with subsidy available for training required.

 Skills Service advisors can (and are) supporting businesses to develop a 
plan to upskill their existing staff to meet new requirements and to find 
appropriate training, with training subsidies available.

 Where individuals want to re-train in order to access new employment 
opportunities, tailored support will be available through the [re]boot 
programme (DWP as the managing authority has confirmed “In-Principle” 
approval of £3 Million for programme).

Investor development – ensuring we have the capacity to respond the 
needs of key local businesses

 In May 2018 the LEP/Combined Authority Trade and Investment team in 
partnership with the Department or International Trade established an 
investor development team. The team was set up to initiate strategic 
conversations with specific foreign owned companies that currently do not 
have an established relationship with Government.

142



 The team in its current structure will target active relationships with circa 
100-120 key LCR companies (managing the relationships with these 
companies as we transition out of EU will also provide invaluable 
intelligence on business issues and sentiment).

 The investor development team currently has secured funding until March 
2019. Subject to further funding and dependent on the source and volume 
of funds the investor development team can engage with a variety of 
businesses to secure business intelligence and business support areas 
related to Brexit.  

Trade – maximising domestic and international trade opportunities in a 
new and emerging environment

 The LEP International Trade Plan (2016-2021) sets out the principles and 
practical arrangements for collaboration with trade delivery partners across 
the City Region. The plan’s ambition is to increase the number of SME 
exporters in Leeds City Region and to drive up the value of exports across 
Leeds City Region. Clearly the current global trade tensions between the 
US and its major trading partners was not envisaged when the original 
trade plan was developed so further work be undertaken by the Combined 
Authority to consider the specific policy implications for the plan (this work 
is captured in the Annex A assessment).

 Leeds City Region LEP is leading Northern work designed to drive up local 
domestic purchases from large UK and international OEM’s (Own 
Equipment Manufacturer) and Tier 1 companies through the NP11 
consortium.

Inward investment – driving investment from key global markets

 The city region is working hard to build investor confidence to help drive 
investment after the UK' s formal departure from the EU as evidenced by 
the December outbound mission to China (Hangzhou, Qinqdao and Hong 
Kong) led by Cllr. Blake (alongside key business and universities from 
LCR). The mission showcased the strengths of Leeds City Region with key 
intermediaries, potential investors and government organisations. The 
mission met with over 100 businesses and government contacts.   

 The most recent EY Attractiveness Survey showed that Leeds remained in 
the top 3 cities in England underlining the attractiveness of the LCR inward 
investment package more generally and helping to drive an 18% increase 
in Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) from the previous year. FDI results into 
Yorkshire & Humber overall have remained consistent in the past two 
years but it is now becoming widely regarded that the ‘innovation 
ecosystem’ is becoming a more predominant factor influencing the location 
of FDI.

143



Maximising funding to support our Growth Ambitions post Brexit

2.13 At its 11th October meeting the Combined Authority endorsed the 
recommendation that the Leeds City Region should seek to ensure that the 
totality of the funds we need to secure from the UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
(UKSPF) to support our growth ambitions should encompass (at least) what 
we receive from European Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF) and LGF 
(Local Growth Fund) – which is up to £200 million annually.

2.14 Equally work is ongoing to ensure that Leeds City Region maximises the 
drawdown of its remaining ESIF allocation (currently estimated at just under 
£100 million) – focusing additional calls for projects and working with the 
Managing Authority to streamline the business appraisal process for 
applicants.

2.15 Responding to MHCLG enquiries on local preparations for Brexit we have 
clearly set out that we will be seeking more flexibility on our Growth Deal 
funding in order to deploy it at short notice if required (depending on the exact 
nature of the UK’s transition from its EU membership) – where the focus of 
Growth Deal Funding may need to respond to the imperative to safeguard 
companies and support existing investments and more support may be 
needed on skills and training.  It is our view that in this situation much greater 
flexibility in the deployment of Growth Deal monies will be needed.

Conclusions, implications and next steps

2.16 The assessment presented in this paper sets out clearly the progress 
achieved to date in preparing our businesses and communities for the UK’s 
future trading relationship with the EU and highlights the ongoing work in 
developing our planning to ensure our packages of support remain relevant 
depending on the specific nature of the UK’s departure from the EU.

2.17 The Research & Intelligence Team will continue to monitor the impact of Brexit 
on the City Region economy and its businesses. The Quarterly Economic 
Survey with the Chambers of Commerce has now been re-established and will 
report results for Q4 2018 in early 2019. This will provide further insight on the 
views of City Region businesses on Brexit. The annual Leeds City Region 
Business Survey will build on this in early 2019.

3 Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

144



5 External Consultees

5.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

6 Recommendations

6.1 The LEP Board is asked to note the analysis presented in the economic 
update and dashboard and consider how this relates to the work of the LEP 
and its strategy, and to note the planned approach to surveys to ensure timely 
and relevant intelligence.

6.2 That the LEP Board notes the progress made in developing our support to 
businesses as the UK prepares to leave the EU. 

7 Background Documents

7.1 None

8 Appendices

Appendix 1 – Leeds City Region Economic Update Report – November 2018
Appendix 2 – Leeds City Region Economic Dashboard – November 2018

145



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

ECONOMIC AND BREXIT MONITOR: 
LEEDS CITY REGION, NOVEMBER 2018 

Key points at glance 
This report presents the latest assessment of the Leeds City Region economy. It sets out recent national and 
international developments along with trends and forecasts for global growth. It considers in more detail the 
latest developments in Leeds City Region and the implications for the economy as the UK approaches its exit 
from the European Union. 
 
National and international headlines 
• The IMF has recently revised down its forecasts for global growth to 3.7% for both this year and next – 

down 0.2% from its forecasts in April. Recently announced tariffs and trade measures are key reason for 
this downward revision, which keep growth projections in line with 2017.  

• The IMF forecast growth in the UK to slow from 1.7% in 2017 to 1.4% and 1.5% in 2018 and 2019 
respectively.  

• UK GDP increased by 0.7% in the three months to August. This is substantially higher than the 0.1% 
growth in March-May. Warm weather was an important factor in this.  

• UK productivity increased by 0.5% in Q2 2018, following a Q on Q fall in Q1. Productivity growth remains 
below the pre-recession trend. 

• Inflation fell to 2.4% in September, down from 2.7% in August whilst average earnings increased by 
3.1% in the three months to August, the highest annual growth rate since 2008. Real pay has increased by 
0.7% in the past three months, with wage growth outpacing inflation for five consecutive months. 

• Total employment in the UK was largely unchanged in the three months to August, according to ONS. 
The employment rate dipped to 75.5% from a record high of 75.7%. Unemployment also fell. 

 
Key City Region and local developments 
• The value of goods exports from Yorkshire & Humber increased at a faster rate than any other 

English region between Q1 2018 and Q2 2018. The region’s goods exports increased by 3.4% in Q2, 
compared to a 2.2% fall nationally, according to HMRC data. The region has seen the joint fastest growth in 
goods export of any English region since the EU referendum in June 2016.  

• New ONS analysis suggests Yorkshire & Humber exported services worth £7.78bn in 2016, an 
increase of 8.1% on 2015. This growth rate is third lowest among UK regions, and falls between North West 
(-0.9%) and North East (+14.3) at a northern level.  

• Business activity continued to expand across Yorkshire and Humber through September according to 
the Natwest Regional PMI, albeit at a reduced pace.  

• Yorkshire businesses reported increased domestic and international demand in the PMI survey, and 
remain optimistic that output will continue to increase over the next year.  

• Total employment in Leeds City Region increased by 4,000 (0.3%) between Q1 and Q2 2018, taking 
the employment rate to a new record high of 73.7%. Employment increased faster than in the UK as a 
whole where it increased by 0.1%.  

• Unemployment in the City Region fell by 3,100 (4.5%) in Q2 2018. There are now 65,200 people 
unemployed, the lowest level since 2005. The unemployment rate is 4.4%, also its lowest since 2005.  

 
Brexit implications and conclusions  
• There are signs that UK businesses are beginning to become increasingly alive to the uncertainty of Brexit 

negotiations and the perceived higher risk of a “no deal” outcome.  
• At City Region level, the labour market remains relatively strong with employment increasing and 

unemployment decreasing. However, it is notable that some of the sectors that have seen strong 
employment growth of late are among those with reliance on EU workers which may pose a challenge to 
these industries in future, most notably logistics and hospitality sectors. 

• The region’s goods exporters continue to see the benefit of sterling’s fall and have seen export activity 
expand strongly in the past two years. This may be a factor in the continuing levels of confidence among 
the region’s businesses, who remain more optimistic than those in most other regions. The apparent fall in 
new business starts does however suggest a degree of hesitancy in some quarters. 

• That same hesitancy is evident in the housing market, where sales volumes point to a slowdown despite 
rising prices. Many households, like businesses, appear to be waiting for clarity and confidence in future 
arrangements before making significant investment decisions.  

 
These issues are explored in greater detail in the remainder of this document. 

147

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 1



 
 

 
 

 
 

ECONOMIC AND BREXIT MONITOR: 
LEEDS CITY REGION, NOVEMBER 2018 

Introduction 
• This report presents the latest assessment of the Leeds City Region economy. It sets out recent global and 

national developments before considering in more detail the latest data for Leeds City Region and the 
implications for the economy as the UK approaches its exit from the European Union.  

• New data available includes updated global economic forecasts from the IMF, whilst new official UK data is 
available on monthly GDP and the labour market up to August 2018. There is also new official data on 
trade, inflation and retail activity and survey data on business sentiment.  

• For Leeds City Region, labour market for Q2 2018 and regional goods exports data from HMRC for the 
same period are also presented. Banksearch on the number of new business bank accounts and CoStar 
data on the commercial property market are available for Q3 2018.  

Global economic and political developments 
• A range of geopolitical and trade tensions have 

heightened concerns about the global economy of late, 
with a mixed outlook for near term prospects.  

• US GDP increased by 0.9% in Q3 2018, a slight 
slowdown from Q2 but still a measure of robust growth.  

• The Eurozone economy grew by just 0.2% in Q3, a 
slowdown from 0.4% in Q2.  

• The Chinese economy grew by 6.5% in Q3, a 
slowdown from 6.7% in Q2. Growth is expected to 
continue to slow as tariffs begin to take effect. Growth 
in the next-largest emerging market, India, remains 
strong, driven by domestic demand.  

• The price of oil has surpassed $80 per barrel for the 
first time since 2015 in October. A range of issues are limiting supply, whilst diplomatic tensions with Iran 
and Saudi Arabia are also pushing up prices. 

• The IMF has recently revised down its forecasts for global growth to 3.7% for both this year and next – 
down 0.2% from its forecasts in April. Recently announced tariffs and trade measures are key reason for 
this downward revision, which keep growth projections in line with 2017.  

• The IMF forecast growth in the UK to slow from 1.7% in 2017 to 1.4% and 1.5% in 2018 and 2019 
respectively. Poor weather in Q1 is a factor in this, though anticipated higher barriers to trade post-Brexit 
are also a factor in the medium term despite the IMF assuming that UK-EU trade remains tariff-free. 

• UK public finances have performed better than expected so far this year, with public sector borrowing falling 
to its lowest level in 16 years to £19.9bn in the first half of the financial year. 

• In recognition of the UK’s low unemployment and improved financial position, the IMF suggest that some 
“modest tightening” of monetary policy may be warranted, for example through higher interest rates. 
However, the Fund also urged UK policy makers to remain flexible “in response to changing conditions 
associated with the Brexit negotiations”. 

• There are signs that UK businesses are beginning to become increasingly alive to the uncertainty of Brexit 
negotiations and the perceived higher risk of a “no deal” outcome. A CBI survey suggested 1 in 5 
businesses had already begun to implement contingency plans, with increasing numbers of companies 
planning follow suit if no certainty emerges before the end of 2018. Similarly, the Chambers of Commerce 
have reported lower levels of investment in their national survey for Q3.  

• These trends are supported by statements made by major UK companies in recent weeks. The automotive 
industry continues to express concerns over the Brexit process, with Honda saying Brexit could increase 
costs by 10% and some manufacturers planning partial or temporary shutdowns to mitigate the risks of a 
no-deal Brexit and in response to falling sales, with new car sales down 20% in September. Meanwhile 
pharmaceutical company AstraZeneca has said it is stockpiling medicines in preparation, but is maintaining 
its freeze on new investment in UK manufacturing.  

Global economy summary:  Whilst the US economy continues to grow solidly, apparently as yet unaffected 
by tariffs imposed as part of a growing trade war, the picture is less positive in Europe. Concerns over a trade 
war are one of a number of concerns here, with Brexit and a slowing economy combined with budget 
challenges in Italy also posing challenges.  

148



 
  

UK economic dashboard 
Indicator Latest position Chart Trend 
Economic 
headlines UK GDP increased by 0.7% in the three 

months to August. This is substantially higher 
than the 0.1% growth in March-May. Warm 
weather was an important factor in this. The 
service sector expanded by 0.5%, though this 
was outpaced by growth of 0.7% in production 
and 2.9% in construction.  
 
UK productivity increased by 0.5% in Q2 2018, 
following a QonQ fall in Q1. Productivity growth 
remains below the pre-recession trend.  

 

Confidence 
and 
sentiment 

Expansion continued across the 
manufacturing, services and construction 
sectors in October. The pace of growth slowed 
in the two former sectors, but quickened in 
construction. 
 
Domestic and overseas demand softened for 
manufacturers. Business optimism was 
dampened across all three sectors, with 
companies in all saying Brexit uncertainty was 
hindering demand, particularly in consumer 
sectors.   

 

Labour 
market Total employment in the UK was largely 

unchanged in the three months to August, 
according to ONS. 289,000 more people are in 
work than a year ago. The employment rate 
dipped to 75.5% from a record high of 75.7%. 
 
Unemployment fell by 47,000 to 1.36 million, 
an unemployment rate of 4%. There was 
however a 100k increase in economic inactivity 
(neither in work nor seeking work) to 8.75m.  

 

 

Trade and 
exports Retail sales increased by 1.2% in the three 

months to September, though this was largely 
down to strong summer performance, with 
sales volumes down 0.8% between August and 
September.  
 
The UK’s trade deficit narrowed by £4.7bn to 
£2.8bn in the three months to August. Imports 
increased by £2.5bn, but this was outpaced by 
export growth of £7.2bn.   

 

 

Inflation 
and wages 

Inflation fell to 2.4% in September, down from 
2.7% in August. Transport costs were the main 
driver of price increases, rising by 5.5%, whilst 
energy costs also increased. 
 
Average earnings increased by 3.1% in the 
three months to August, the highest annual 
growth rate since 2008. Real pay has 
increased by 0.7% in the past three months, 
with wage growth outpacing inflation for five 
consecutive months.   

 

Brexit implications: At a headline level the UK economy remains relatively healthy. However, there are signs 
that the effects of a strong summer helped by good weather are still being felt and more recent data suggests a 
slowdown as the UK has headed into the autumn. Perhaps not coincidentally, surveys suggest that there is 
increasing recognition among businesses of the risks posed by Brexit uncertainty, with more businesses 
starting to enact their contingency plans in the event of a “no deal” scenario. 

149



 
  

Leeds City Region – Business Performance and Trade 
 

• The value of goods exports from Yorkshire & Humber increased at a faster rate than any other English 
region between Q1 2018 and Q2 2018. The region’s goods exports increased by 3.4% in Q2, compared to 
a 2.2% fall nationally, according to HMRC data.  

• Yorkshire & Humber has seen the joint fastest growth in goods export of any English region since the EU 
referendum in June 2016. Along with East Midlands, exports are 21.5% higher than Q2 2016. 

• The European Union accounted for 60% of goods exports from Yorkshire & Humber in Q1 2018, higher 
than the 58% averaged across 2017. North America and Asia/Oceania accounted for 12.6% each.  

• New ONS analysis suggests Yorkshire & Humber exported services worth £7.78bn in 2016, up 8.1% on 
2015. The region has seen lower growth in service exports than other English regions in the past five years.   

• Financial services accounts for a third of the region’s services exports, a higher share than any other 
region. Another third is shared almost equally between manufacturing, professional services and transport.  

• Yorkshire & Humber accounts for around 3% of UK services exports and 5% of goods exports. This in part 
reflects the dominance of London in service exports, though in both cases the region has a lower share of 
exports than its share of the UK economy would suggest (7%). 

            
 

• Business activity continued to expand across Yorkshire and Humber through September according to the 
Natwest Regional PMI, albeit at a reduced pace. The region’s PMI dipped from 56.1 to 55.2 from August to 
September (a reading over 50 indicates growth), though it remains the 3rd highest among English regions. 

• Yorkshire businesses reported increased domestic and international demand in the PMI survey, and remain 
optimistic that output will continue to increase over the next year. As such, headcounts continue to expand.  

 

       
• 3,800 new business bank accounts were opened in Leeds City Region in Q3 2018 according to 

BankSearch, down from over 4,000 in Q2 and from 4,100 in Q3 2017. Over the first three quarters of 2018, 
the number of new business accounts opened is down 6.7% in Leeds City Region and 9.7% nationally.  

• Barnsley saw the number of new account openings increase by 9.6% between Q2 and Q3, with Bradford 
up 1%. All other districts were either flat or saw declines.  

Brexit implications: The region’s goods exporters continue to see the benefit of sterling’s fall and 
have seen export activity expand strongly in the past two years. This may be a factor in the 
continuing levels of confidence among the region’s businesses, who remain more optimistic than 
those in most other regions. The apparent fall in new business starts does however suggest a degree 
of hesitancy in some quarters. 

 

150



 
 

   

Leeds City Region – Labour Market 
• Total employment in Leeds City Region increased by 4,000 (0.3%) between Q1 and Q2 2018, according to 

the ONS Annual Population Survey. There are now 1.42 million residents in work. Employment increased 
fast than in the UK as a whole where it increased by 0.1%.  

• Leeds (+0.8%) and Kirklees (+1.6%) both saw total employment increase by over 3,000 last quarter, though 
this was partially offset by 4 districts seeing declines of between 500 and 1,800, though it should be noted 
that data can fluctuate between quarters. Harrogate (+2.2%) saw the biggest increase in percentage terms.   

• Employment growth in the City Region was on a par with Greater Manchester, Sheffield City Region and 
Greater Birmingham last quarter. West of England and Liverpool City Region saw stronger growth, though 
D2N2 and North East LEP areas saw small declines.  

       
• The employment rate for Leeds City Region has increased to 73.7%, up from 73.5% in Q1 to a new record 

high. The City Region’s employment rate remains the third highest among core city LEPs, but behind the 
UK rate of 74.9%. The employment rate has increased to above 77% in York, Calderdale and Leeds. 

• The proportion of people aged 16-24 who are in employment increased to 54.7% in Q2, the first time it has 
surpassed 54% since 2009.    

• Unemployment in the City Region fell by 3,100 (4.5%) in Q2 2018. There are now 65,200 people 
unemployed, the lowest level since 2005. The unemployment rate is 4.4%, also its lowest since 2005. Only 
Bradford and Craven saw very small increases in unemployment this quarter, and in the former’s case the 
unemployment rate is halved from 9.2% in June 2016 to 4.6% in June 2018. 

• Other data recently published by ONS looks at the growth in the number of workers in a given area (as 
opposed to the residence-based employment measures above). This shows that the number of workers in 
Leeds City Region increased by 28,500 between 2016 and 2017, an increase of 2.1%. Employment 
increased by 1.1% across the UK over the same period.  

      
• Employment growth in 2017 was faster in Leeds City Region than in D2N2 and the Liverpool and Sheffield 

City Regions, but below that of other core city LEPs. Logistics, hospitality, and financial & professional 
services have contributed to employment growth in Leeds City Region of late.  

• Most districts of Leeds City Region saw the number of workers increase in 2017, though the picture was flat 
in Barnsley and Craven and Harrogate saw a 2.9% decrease in the number of workers.  

Brexit implications:  At City Region level, the labour market remains relatively strong with 
employment increasing and unemployment decreasing. Some of the sectors that have seen 
strong employment growth of late are among those with reliance on EU workers which may pose a 
challenge to these industries in future.   

151



 
 

Leeds City Region – Housing, Property and Infrastructure 
 

• House prices increased by 3.7% in Yorkshire & Humber in the year to August 2018. This is faster than 
regions in the south and north of England, but slower than the Midlands. London is the only area to see 
prices fall over the past year.  

• Sales volumes are down 10.5% nationally and by 8.2% in Yorkshire & Humber in the first half of 2018 
compared to the same period last year.  

• The average property sold for £164,000 in Yorkshire & Humber in August. Northern regions remain 
substantially more affordable on average than other parts of England. There remains substantial variation 
across the region however, with average prices 35% higher in North Yorkshire than in South Yorkshire. 
 

         
       
• Within the City Region, whilst all districts saw average prices increase over the past year this ranged from 

7.4% in Barnsley to just 0.2% in Craven.  
• Whilst prices increased in all districts, sales volumes fell in all areas. The number of transactions fell most 

sharply in Wakefield, down 17%. Craven saw the softest decline in sales volumes, down 3.4%. 
Transactions were down 10.7% across West Yorkshire as a whole.  
 

           

• Average rents for West Yorkshire office space remain steady at £13.60 per square foot in Q3 2018, 
according to CoStar. Office rents have been little changed over the past year in most parts of West 
Yorkshire. Birmingham, Bristol and Manchester have seen office rents grow more sharply in the past year.  

• The vacancy rate has fallen over the past year, from 7.9% in Q3 2017 in 6.2% in Q3 2018. The city core in 
Leeds has seen the fastest fall in vacancy rate, from 17.1% to 12.8% in the past 12 months.  

• In the broader West Yorkshire market, a combination of robust occupier demand and several office-to-
residential conversions caused office vacancy to fall sharply during recent quarters, reaching an all-time low 
near 6% in Q3. This is the 2nd lowest vacancy rate among major UK markets. CoStar expect the Leeds 
office market fundamentals to improve further once Channel 4 moves to the city.  

• There is increasing pressure on industrial space in West Yorkshire, with vacancy rates falling 9% in 2013 to 
3% in Q3 2018. The vacancy rate is just 1.6% in Bradford. As such, rental prices are increasing, up by an 
average of 1.6% over the past year though this is lower than the 6-7% growth seen in 2017. 

Brexit implications:   House prices in the region continue to rise, though a fall in volumes is 
indicative of a slower market. Many households, like businesses, appear to be waiting for clarity 
and confidence in future arrangements before making significant investment decisions. Whilst 
vacancy rates for commercial property suggest robust demand, relatively low rental growth may 
be indicative of fragile confidence.  

 

152



 
 

 

Conclusions and outlook 
 

• The global outlook has become more divergent and uncertain in recent months. Europe and China are 
being affected by a range of factors though the increasing threat of a trade war with the US is central to 
this. Other factors, such as the increasing nervousness around Brexit for many in Europe and rising oil 
prices and geopolitical risks more broadly have been behind major falls in stock markets in recent months.  

 
• The US has so far bucked this trend and continues to report strong economic performance. This was 

expected to a large degree given recent tax cuts, and it remains to be seen if this is sustained in the 
medium term particularly if trade relations with China and the EU continue to deteriorate.  

 
• These increasing tensions could be a factor in an apparent slowdown in the UK. Whilst headline economic 

data points to a strong summer driven by good weather, more recent intelligence from both surveys and 
harder data suggests that the picture has become more subdued through the autumn.  

 
• Brexit does however to be increasingly central to businesses’ thinking. It is notable that the issue was cited 

as weighing on sentiment across all sectors of the economy in October, regardless of performance. This 
suggests that businesses are becoming more conscious of the fact that their time to prepare and respond 
to any changes ahead of the March deadline is increasingly limited. 

 
• Anecdotal evidence from conversations with businesses in Leeds City Region supports the findings 

reported here that many businesses have either already begun to enact their Brexit contingency plans or 
plan to do so by the end of 2018. For some, their business cycle is such that Brexit is now an operational 
issue and as such the response is already underway.  

 
• Many City Region businesses cite uncertainty over import/export arrangements as a key concern which 

could impact on their operation as they don’t have the capacity to stockpile or adapt to longer lead times. 
This is a critical issue for manufacturers, but also for sectors which have seen strong employment growth in 
Leeds City Region of late such as logistics. The sector has both a strategic reliance on the efficient 
movement of goods across borders and a high demand for EU migrant workers. As such future changes in 
this area will be critical to the sector.  

 
• A lack of availability of workers is also a primary concern for businesses and some have suggested this is 

already having an impact, with recruitment becoming more challenging in recent months. This is likely to 
affect both high skilled roles and those sectors who are more reliant on lower skilled workers from the EU. 
The hospitality sector is one of these, and has also seen strong growth in Leeds City Region of late. With 
data suggesting weak consumer activity, this sector will be closely watched through the critical Christmas 
period.  

 
• That said, for some businesses, particularly those for whom the US and Asia are already key import/export 

markets, Brexit is less of a concern and new trading relationships may prove beneficial in the longer term, 
though these importers continue to experience challenges from higher material costs.  

 
• It is also clear from the data that our region has capitalised on the fall in sterling to accelerate export 

activity, with the value of exports growing faster here than in any other region since the EU referendum. 
Yorkshire & Humber has outperformed the UK on this measure of late and this is likely a key reason behind 
the region’s businesses being consistently more optimistic than their counterparts elsewhere in the UK.  

 
• The anecdotal evidence supports the wider data in that a tighter labour market is increasing demand for 

workers and helping to push up wages. This does not however appear to be feeding through into increased 
consumer activity, with many surveys and data sources suggesting that activity in this area has slowed of 
late. This is evident in slower retail sales and declining volumes in the housing market.  

 
• Again, Brexit is likely to be a key factor here, as it is in the evident fall in new business starts and relatively 

low growth in commercial property prices. With the Article 50 deadline fast approaching, households and 
businesses alike delaying major investment decisions until there is greater clarity and confidence.  

 
This briefing has been produced by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority Research & Intelligence team. Any 
comments or queries can be addressed to research@westyorks-ca.gov.uk. 

153

mailto:research@westyorks-ca.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Leeds City Region Economic & Brexit Dashboard – November 2018
National and international Leeds City Region

Indicator Latest position Chart Trend Indicator Latest position Chart Trend
Economic 
headlines

A range of geopolitical and trade tensions have 
heightened concerns about the global economy 
of late, with a mixed outlook for near term 
prospects. 

GDP increased by 0.7% in the three months to 
August. This is substantially higher than the 
0.1% growth in March-May. Warm weather was 
an important factor in this. UK productivity 
increased by 0.5% in Q2 2018, following a QonQ 
fall in Q1. Productivity growth remains below the 
pre-recession trend.

Economic 
headlines  

Business activity continued to expand across 
Yorkshire and Humber through September 
according to the Natwest Regional PMI, albeit at 
a reduced pace. The region’s PMI dipped from 
56.1 to 55.2 from August to September (a 
reading over 50 indicates growth), though it 
remains the 3rd highest among English regions.

Yorkshire businesses reported increased 
domestic and international demand in the PMI 
survey, and remain optimistic that output will 
continue to increase over the next year. 

Business 
performance 
& confidence

Expansion continued across the manufacturing, 
services and construction sectors in October. 
The pace of growth slowed in the two former 
sectors, but quickened in construction.

Domestic and overseas demand softened for 
manufacturers. Business optimism was 
dampened across all three sectors, with 
companies in all saying Brexit uncertainty was 
hindering demand, particularly in consumer 
sectors. 

Business 
performance 
& confidence

3,800 new business bank accounts were opened 
in Leeds City Region in Q3 2018 according to 
BankSearch, down from over 4,000 in Q2 and 
from 4,100 in Q3 2017. Over the first three 
quarters of 2018, the number of new business 
accounts opened is down 6.7% in Leeds City 
Region and 9.7% nationally. 
Barnsley saw the number of new account 
openings increase by 9.6% between Q2 and Q3, 
with Bradford up 1%. All other districts were 
either flat or saw declines.

Trade and 
exports Total employment in the UK was largely 

unchanged in the three months to August, 
according to ONS. 289,000 more people are in 
work than a year ago. The employment rate 
dipped to 75.5% from a record high of 75.7%.

Unemployment fell by 47,000 to 1.36 million, an 
unemployment rate of 4%. There was however a 
100k increase in economic inactivity (neither in 
work nor seeking work) to 8.75m. 

Trade and 
exports

The value of goods exports from Yorkshire & 
Humber increased at a faster rate than any other 
English region between Q1 2018 and Q2 2018. 
The region’s goods exports increased by 3.4% in 
Q2, compared to a 2.2% fall nationally, according 
to HMRC data. 

Yorkshire & Humber has seen the joint fastest 
growth in goods export of any English region 
since the EU referendum in June 2016. 
However, it has seen lower growth in service 
exports than other English regions in the past 
five years.  

Labour 
market Retail sales increased by 1.2% in the three 

months to September, though this was largely 
down to strong summer performance, with sales 
volumes down 0.8% between August and 
September. 

The UK’s trade deficit narrowed by £4.7bn to 
£2.8bn in the three months to August. Imports 
increased by £2.5bn, but this was outpaced by 
export growth of £7.2bn.  

Labour 
market Total employment in Leeds City Region 

increased by 4,000 (0.3%) between Q1 and Q2 
2018, according to the ONS Annual Population 
Survey. Leeds (+0.8%) and Kirklees (+1.6%) 
both saw total employment increase by over 
3,000 last quarter.

The employment rate for Leeds City Region has 
increased to 73.7%, up from 73.5% in Q1 to a 
new record high. The unemployment rate is 
4.4%, also its lowest since 2005. 

Forecasts/
prospects Inflation fell to 2.4% in September, down from 

2.7% in August. Transport costs were the main 
driver of price increases, rising by 5.5%, whilst 
energy costs also increased.

Average earnings increased by 3.1% in the three 
months to August, the highest annual growth 
rate since 2008. Real pay has increased by 
0.7% in the past three months, with wage growth 
outpacing inflation for five consecutive months. 

Housing and 
property

House prices increased by 3.7% in Yorkshire & 
Humber in the year to August 2018. This is faster 
than regions in the south and north of England, 
but slower than the Midlands. Within the City 
Region, price growth ranged from 7.4% in 
Barnsley to just 0.2% in Craven. 

Office rents have been little changed over the 
past year in most parts of West Yorkshire. There 
is increasing pressure on industrial space in 
West Yorkshire, with vacancy rates falling 9% in 
2013 to 3% in Q3 2018. 

Summary UK economic and labour market headlines remain relatively strong, though there are signs that a strong summer has given way to a more subdued autumn with Brexit increasingly on the minds of businesses. Many surveys suggest businesses in 
Yorkshire & Humber are among the most optimistic of any in the country. The region’s strong export performance since the Brexit referendum and the associated fall in the pound is likely a factor in this. Nonetheless, there is an increasing recognition of 
the risks posed by Brexit uncertainity, with more businesses starting to enact their contingency plans in the event of a “no deal” scenario. The Leeds City Region labour market remains strong, but the slowing pace of activity in commercial and residential 
property markets may suggest both people and businesses are cautious about making significant investments in an uncertain environment. 

155

A
genda Item

 13
A

ppendix 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP Board)

Date:  22 November 2018

Subject:  Governance arrangements for the Leeds City Region Enterprise 
Zone Programme

Director(s): Kate Thompson, Enterprise Zone SRO

Author(s): Jessica McNeill

1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To outline the proposed changes to the structure of governance arrangements 
for the Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone programme.

2. Background

2.1 The Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone programme includes two Enterprise 
Zone (EZ) designations, comprising ten sites as follows: 

a) Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone Phase One - Leeds, including
Newmarket Lane, Thornes Farm, Logic Leeds and Gateway 45/Temple 
Green

b) Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone Phase Two - multi-site
 Gain Lane (Bradford)
 Parry Lane (Bradford)
 Staithgate Lane (Bradford)
 Clifton Business Park (Calderdale)
 Lindley Moor East (Kirklees) 
 Lindley Moor West (Kirklees)
 Moor Park, Mirfield (Kirklees)
 Langthwaite Business Park Extension (Wakefield)
 South Kirkby Business Park (Wakefield)

2.2 The EZ programme supports the Leeds City Region’s Strategic Economic Plan 
(SEP) vision for ‘‘the acceleration of development and delivery of high quality 
employment floorspace in the advanced and innovative manufacturing and 
complementary sectors’.  It supports the principle of ‘good growth’ by 
supporting delivery of innovation, good jobs/incomes and improving the quality 
of places. Each site within the EZ is also identified as a Spatial Priority Area.

2.3 The Phase One site is in delivery with a range of units built and occupiers in 
place. There is a known requirement for enhanced power supply/distribution 

157

Agenda Item 14



infrastructure which is currently progressing through the Full Business Case 
stage of the Combined Authority’s Assurance process.  Gateway 45 has also 
been identified by Government as the site of the new HS2 rolling stock depot.

2.4 Some high level pre-feasibility, market demand analysis and business case 
development has been completed for the Phase Two EZ sites. This includes 
the City Region EZ Feasibility and Investment Framework (November 2016) 
which provides a review of all ten EZ sites and the Clifton Business Park EZ 
Outline Masterplan and Feasibility Study which provides detailed, site-specific 
analysis on this particular site. Further pre-feasibility studies are currently 
underway on a number of other sites. Collectively these outline the business 
case for Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and broader public sector 
investment to unlock growth within EZ locations, enhance and accelerate 
future EZ business rate receipts and secure delivery of wider economic 
outputs that support SEP aspirations. 

Governance

2.5 As set out in the City Region’s Enterprise Zone’ Strategy and Implementation 
Plan 2017, the Combined Authority established the Strategic Oversight Board 
(SOB) in 2016.  The SOB was responsible for establishing a shared vision for 
the Enterprise Zones but did not have decision making capacity.

2.6 The guidance and advice provided by the SOB to date has steered the EZ 
programme forward (with particular focus on Phase Two) and seen good 
progress being made on the feasibility elements of the sites.  This has 
included the identification of gap funding requirements and a successful ‘Call 
for Projects’ bid through the Growth Deal call in 2017/18 which has secured a 
total programme budget of £48million to ensure deliverability of the sites by 
March 2021.  The collaboration of partners and Combined Authority officers 
has established strong working relationships which will be maintained as the 
programme continues.

2.7 The Combined Authority has identified the need to prioritise the accelerated 
delivery of the EZ programme.  This has seen dedicated resource recently 
appointed into key roles to work within the Delivery Directorate, including a 
Development Manager and Project Manager and a Senior Responsible Officer 
with two days a week dedicated to the role. These roles will work in 
partnership with City Region partners, stakeholders and partner councils to 
support and manage the successful delivery of the programme by unlocking, 
enabling and accelerating site development to encourage business and job 
growth. 

2.8 Whilst welcoming the contribution of the SOB over the last 24 months, in 
recognition of the programme now reaching the delivery phase a review of 
governance arrangements has been undertaken to ensure that the objectives 
and outputs identified are realised and that partner councils working with the 
Combined Authority have a governance structure able to make strategic and 
operational decisions.  This is a core requirement of the Memorandum of 

158



Understanding for the M62 Corridor Enterprise Zone (Phase Two) signed by 
the Combined Authority, partner councils and central government in 2016.

2.9 Disciplined and well executed governance arrangements ensure there is 
clarity and clear assurance processes which support the day-to-day delivery of 
the programme as well as providing strategic oversight.  Proposals have been 
identified to ensure all partners are fully engaged, aware of each other’s roles 
and responsibilities, clear on areas of accountability and lines of reporting and 
decision making are followed.  It is therefore recommended that:

a) There will be regular informal project focus meetings between the 
Combined Authority dedicated officer team and partner councils, 
together with a formal project board meeting.  

b) In addition an internal Combined Authority programme board will be
chaired by the Senior Responsible Officer.  A representative from the 
Cities and Local Growth Unit will be invited to sit on the Programme 
Board to ensure reporting and updates on progress are provided, as 
designated within the Memorandum of Understanding. This will allow 
for the Combined Authority to seek regular guidance and discussion on 
national issues and performance reporting on the wider Enterprise 
Zone programme network.  

c) To ensure key updates on progress are reported in a timely manner to
business and political members with an interest and commitment to 
support, champion and promote the EZ programme, periodic updates 
will be provided to the LEP Board who ‘own’ the vision and strategy for 
the regional EZ programme.

2.10 Partners have been fully engaged in the discussions and development of 
these new governance arrangements and will continue to be involved 
throughout as key members of the Project Board and provided with full 
updates of all Programme Board meetings.

2.11 The proposed governance structure for the Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone 
Programme was presented to the Strategic Oversight Board meeting on 4 
October 2018.  Proposals were supported and recommendations for 
implementation were accepted in full.

2.12 The proposals were presented to the Place Panel at its meeting on 24th 
October 2018 and recommendations for implementation were accepted in full 
with a note that there should be regular updates to LEP Board at a programme 
level.

3. Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.

4. Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

159



5. Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

6. External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

7. Recommendations

7.1 That the Strategic Oversight Board will no longer convene.

7.2 That the changes to EZ governance arrangements as outlined within the 
report are introduced informally with immediate effect with updates provided to 
the relevant Combined Authority panels/committees as follows with the 
intention of formalising the arrangements:  

Combined Authority – 13 December 2018  

7.3 Notification of the changes agreed and implemented are reported to 
Government’s Cities and Local Growth Unit in line with the obligations stated 
within the Memorandum of Understanding.

8. Background Documents 

None

9. Appendices

Appendix 1 – Enterprise Zone Programme Board, Terms of Reference

160



Appendix 1

Leeds City Region Enterprise Zones
Programme Board  

  TERMS OF REFERENCE

Issue Date Author Comments

1.0 13/09/2018 JB Initial draft for comments

1.1 25/09/2018 KT SRO comments incorporated

1.0 THE ROLE OF THE PROGRAMME BOARD

1.1 The role of the Programme Board is:

i) To provide focus and direction for the delivery of the Leeds City Region 
Enterprise Zones Programme to agree objectives and priorities, and 
oversee development and delivery of constituent projects from concept 
stage through funding of infrastructure and/or required works to inward 
investment and occupation of sites.

ii) To constructively challenge the delivery of the programme to ensure that 
all processes and procedures are rigorous, transparent, comply with 
appropriate regulations, deliver forecasted benefits and achieve 
optimum value for money.

iii) To ensure the programme is focussed on delivery of economic growth, 
making a strong contribution to achieving the objectives of the Leeds 
City Region Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) and emerging Local 
Inclusive Industrial Strategy. 

iv) To report to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and Local 
Enterprise Partnership Board.

v) To champion the programme internally within the Combined Authority 
and with partner Council’s and externally with the business community.

2.0 TERMS OF REFERENCE

2.1 The Programme Board shall:

161

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



i) Provide strategic direction and management to the programme, 
setting tolerances for the constituent projects within programme 
tolerances.

ii) Ensure that the necessary monitoring of progress, cost and quality 
criteria is undertaken in an effective manner

iii) Ensure that adequate resources are allocated to the programme and 
engage accordingly with the Project Board 

iv) Agree the programme costs and timescales including the timeframes 
for submissions for approval to West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s 
Portfolio Management Office 

v) Ensure that all commercial, technical and operational arrangements 
are in place to successfully implement the programme and that the 
relevant stakeholders respond to and support the project teams in the 
delivery of the constituent projects

vi) Monitor financial reports within the programme budget profile
vii) Monitor delivery of outcomes within the programme forecast profile.
viii) Approve the policy and strategy for promoting and publicising the 

programme and constituent projects
ix) Oversee a co-ordinated marketing and communications strategy for 

the programme.
x) To work with partner councils and internal Combined Authority 

departments to provide updates on projected business rate income 
and outcomes of investment activity.

xi) Ensure adherence to the Memorandum of Understanding between 
the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government, West Yorkshire Combined Authority for the LEP and 
relevant local authorities.

3.0 MEMBERSHIP

3.1 Regular membership of the Programme Board shall comprise:

Name Organisation Role

Kate Thompson Combined 
Authority

senior responsible officer (chair)

Jessica McNeill Combined 
Authority 

programme manager

Robin Culshaw Combined 
Authority 

legal 

Jonathan Sheard Combined 
Authority 

finance

Andy Malthouse Combined 
Authority 

procurement 

162



Michael Long Combined 
Authority 

policy & strategy 

Ken Brockbank Combined 
Authority 

inward investment

Helen Knox Combined 
Authority 

communications & marketing

Stakeholder Engagement 

Ryan Kaye BEIS Central Government liaison

3.2

3.3

Membership of the Board will be reviewed as the programme progresses and 
additional Members can be co-opted as appropriate to reflect changes in the 
Board’s requirements.

Members of the Project Board will be co-opted to attend the Programme Board 
as required.

4.0

4.1

DECISIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Decisions and recommendations of the Board shall only be with the agreement 
of the programme quorum and within delegated authority.

4.2

4.3

Occasion may arise when urgent decisions are required from the Board, which 
do not coincide with a scheduled Programme Board meeting.  In order to avoid 
delay to the programme, the Chair (SRO), using reasonable endeavours to 
consult other Board members, shall be authorised to take decisions on behalf 
of the Board.  The Chair shall subsequently report these decisions to Board 
members as soon as reasonably practicable, and at the next scheduled 
meeting.

The Board will ensure that all decisions are subject to the necessary corporate 
approvals required under the Combined Authority’s Constitution, Scheme of 
Delegation, Contract Standing Orders and Financial Regulations.

5.0 PROGRAMME BOARD MEETINGS

5.1

5.2

5.3

The Programme Board shall generally meet every six weeks, but this may vary 
to suit operational needs.

The Programme Manager shall convene Programme Board meetings with the 
approval of the Senior Responsible Officer.

Programme Board meeting papers will be issued at least three working days 
prior to a meeting.

163



5.4 Draft actions and key decisions of Programme Board meetings shall be 
prepared by the Programme Manager and distributed to all members including 
the SRO within two weeks of the meeting.

6.0 ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT

6.1 Administrative support to the Programme Board will be provided West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority.

164



Report to: Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP Board)

Date:  22 November 2018

Subject:  LEP and Combined Authority business planning and budget 
2019/20

Director 
and author: Angela Taylor, Director, Resources

1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To advise the LEP Board of the work underway to produce the 2019/20 
business plan and budget for the LEP and Combined Authority.

2. Information

2.1 The Combined Authority is producing a business plan and budget for 2019/20 
which will be presented to the Combined Authority meeting of 14 February 
2019 for approval.  In line with the approach taken in previous years detailed 
work is being overseen by a member working group which includes amongst 
its members the LEP Chair, and includes input and consultation with the LEP 
Board, Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Governance and Audit 
Committee.

2.2 The capital and revenue budgets are prepared on a joint basis for the 
Combined Authority and LEP and therefore include all income and expenditure 
for which the Combined Authority is the accountable body.  Similarly the 
corporate plan for 2019/20 will set out the key objectives and actions to deliver 
against the shared priorities of productivity, inclusive growth and transport and 
how success against these will be measured.  As part of the Strengthening 
LEPs review there is also now a requirement to produce a specific LEP action 
plan for 2019/20.  Guidance on the content of this action plan is still awaited 
from government and it is expected that such a document will be produced in 
parallel with the Combined Authority’s corporate plan, drawing on much of the 
same information.

2.3 The corporate plan will be a higher level summary drawn from the detailed 
directorate business plans which will set out clear prioritised objectives 
matched to the resources available.  There is also a focus on cost reduction 
and income generation/commercialisation opportunities in a bid to help 
manage known cost increases including pay and other inflation.

165

Agenda Item 15



2.4 The budget strategy agreed by the Combined Authority in February 2018 
focussed on achieving a balanced budget by 2020/21.  It sought to continue to 
deliver the current level of services over that period by using an element of 
reserves in both 2018/19 and 2019/20 whilst work was undertaken to reduce 
expenditure and maximise any opportunities to increase income.

2.5 The largest income line in the revenue budget for 2018/19 is the transport levy 
of £94 million which is paid by the five West Yorkshire authorities and funds a 
significant proportion of the Combined Authority’s activities.  The transport levy 
is being reduced by £1 million each year, recognising the financial challenges 
facing local government.

2.6 Further revenue funding is received from government, particularly with regard 
to business and skills funding. The Board is aware of the challenges this 
brings as much of this funding is both specific to a particular purpose and 
timebound, meaning programmes can only run for as long as we are 
successful in bidding for external funding.

2.7 Whilst the Combined Authority and LEP will continue to pursue opportunities 
to secure additional funding to deliver their objectives it should be noted that 
one of the income streams that is key in establishing a viable budget is the 
business rates from the Enterprise Zones.  The LEP has an Enterprise Zone 
(EZ) in Leeds at the Aire Valley and a multisite M62 zone.  All business rates 
earned on these sites above the baseline accrue to the LEP for 25 years and 
are therefore paid across to the Combined Authority as accountable body for 
the LEP.   The Leeds EZ was established in 2013 and the M62 one in 2017 so 
income will be received up to 2038 and 2042 respectively.

2.8 The Leeds EZ has been established for some years and is due to pay over 
£1.2 million in 2018/19.  Forecasts used in budget setting in the last three 
years have shown strong growth in this income but in reality these increases 
have been slow to materialise.  Detailed scrutiny of the pipeline of future 
development is underway to enable a more robust position to be established.  
Significant growth in this income could for example provide a means by which 
to fund business and skills projects, or further trade and investment activities, 
and remove some of the dependence on short term government funding.

2.9 The M62 EZ consists of nine sites, only two of which are forecast to make any 
payments this year – Lindley Moor West and South Kirby.  Whilst collectively 
the sites are all due to make multi million pound annual contributions in due 
course they require investment and further development before they can 
become income generating.  Growth Deal funds have been secured as a 
partial contribution towards these costs and a development plan identifying 
priority sites for investment is under consideration.

2.10 The Combined Authority will be considering a draft budget at its meeting on 13 
December, ahead of setting the transport levy and agreeing the detailed 
budget at its meeting on 14 February.  An update on progress with both the 
business plan and budget will be provided to the next meeting of the LEP 
Board in January.

166



3. Financial Implications

3.1 As set out in the report.

4. Legal Implications

4.1 None arising directly from this report.

5. Staffing Implications

5.1 None arising directly from this report.

6. External Consultees

6.1 None.

7. Recommendations

7.1 That the LEP Board note the work underway on progressing the business plan 
and budget for 2019/20.

8. Background Documents

8.1 None.

9. Appendices

None.

167



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2018
	5a Business Communications Group
	Item 5a Appendix 1
	Item 5a Appendix 2

	5b Green Economy Panel
	5c Place Panel
	5d Growth Deal (Investment Committee) Update
	Item 5d - Appendix 1

	6 Local Inclusive Industrial Strategy
	Item 6 - Appendix 1
	Slide Number 1

	Item 6  - Appendix 2

	7 Energy Strategy & Delivery Plan
	Item 7 - Appendix 1
	Slide Number 1

	Item 7 - Appendix 2
	Item 7 - Appendix 3
	Item 7 - Appendix 4
	Item 7 - Appendix 5

	8 Green and Blue Infrastructure & Delivery Plan
	Item 8 - Appendix 1
	Item 8 - Appendix 2
	Item 8 - Appendix 3

	9 Digital Framework
	Item 9 - Appendix 1
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5


	10 Culture, Sport & Major Events
	11 Trade & Investment
	Item 11 - Appendix 1

	12 Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships
	Item 12 - Appendix 1

	13 Preparing for Brexit
	Item 13 - Appendix 1
	Item 13 - Appendix 2

	14 Governance Arrangements for the Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone Programme
	Item 14 - Appendix 1

	15 LEP and Combined Authority Business Planning & Budget 2019/20

